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PART I 

Item 1. Business 

Circuit City Stores, Inc. was incorporated under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia in 1949. Its corporate headquarters are 
located at 9950 Mayland Drive, Richmond, Va. Its retail operation consists of Circuit City Superstores and mall-based Circuit City 
stores. The Company has a private-label finance operation including a wholly owned credit card bank, First North American National 
Bank, that provides consumer revolving credit. 

The company's Web site address is www.circuitcity.com. The company makes available, free of charge through its Web site, its 
Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports as 
soon as practicable after electronically filing the material with or furnishing the material to the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

Proposed Acquisition. On April 13, 2004, the company commenced a tender offer to acquire all outstanding common shares of 
InterTAN, Inc., a leading consumer electronics retailer of both private-label and internationally branded products headquartered in 
Barrie, Ontario. The tender offer is conditioned upon at least a majority of the fully diluted shares being tendered. If successful, the 
tender offer will be followed by a merger in which the holders of the remaining outstanding shares of InterTAN common stock will 
receive $14 per share in cash. The transaction is contingent upon customary closing conditions, including regulatory and other 
standard approvals. The company expects the cost of this acquisition, including estimated transaction costs, will be approximately 
$300 million. 

Upon completion of the tender offer, which is expected in the second calendar quarter of 2004, InterTAN will become a subsidiary of 
the company. 

Capital Structure. From February 7, 1997, to October 1, 2002, the common stock of Circuit City Stores, Inc. consisted of two common 
stock series that were intended to reflect the performance of the company's two businesses during that period. The Circuit City Group 
common stock was intended to reflect the performance of the Circuit City consumer electronics stores and related operations and the 
shares of CarMax Group common stock reserved for the Circuit City Group or for issuance to holders of Circuit City Group common 
stock. The CarMax Group common stock was intended to reflect the performance of the CarMax auto superstores and related 
operations. 

Effective October 1, 2002, the CarMax auto superstore business was separated from the Circuit City consumer electronics business 
through a tax-free transaction in which CarMax, Inc., formerly a wholly owned subsidiary of Circuit City Stores, Inc., became an 
independent, separately traded public company. Following the separation, the Circuit City Group common stock was renamed Circuit 
City common stock. See "Discontinued Operations" for additional information. 

General. Circuit City is a leading national retailer of brand-name consumer electronics, personal computers and entertainment software. 
It sells 

o video equipment, including televisions, digital satellite systems, DVD players, video cassette recorders, camcorders and cameras; 
o audio equipment, including home and portable audio systems; 
o mobile electronics, including car audio, video and security systems; 
o home office products, including personal computers, printers, peripherals, software and facsimile machines; 
o entertainment software, including video games, DVD movies and music; and 
o other consumer electronics products, including wireless phones, corded and cordless phones and accessories. 

Merchandise lines vary by location based on store size and market characteristics. Most merchandise is supplied directly to the stores 
by regional warehouse distribution facilities. 

Through Digital Video Express, 75 percent of which was owned by the company, Circuit City developed a new digital video system for 
watching movies at home. Divx was primarily engaged in the business of licensing this technology and replicating and distributing 
specially encrypted DVDs at wholesale. Circuit City was allocated 100 percent of Divx's losses from Divx's inception. The Divx 
business was discontinued in fiscal 2000. See "Discontinued Operations" for additional information. 
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Expansion and Revitalization. At April 30, 2004, Circuit City operated 607 retail locations throughout the United States. Circuit City has 
established its presence in virtually all of the nation's top 100 markets. In fiscal 2003, the company 
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undertook an analysis of its existing store base and identified specific characteristics that help create a successful store. A key 
characteristic identified was store location, including such factors as its proximity to specific retailers, ease of access and consumer 
electronics purchasing power in the trade area. When a store's sales are not at the level the company believes the trade area can 
support and analysis indicates that the primary contributing factor to the underperformance is the location, the company will attempt 
to strategically relocate the store to a more vibrant and convenient location. Circuit City relocated 18 Superstores in fiscal 2004. In 
fiscal 2005, the company plans to open 60 to 70 Superstores, with a relatively even split between new stores and relocations. In 
February 2004, the company closed 19 underperforming Superstores. 

Recognizing the continual evolution of consumer shopping preferences, four years ago the company created new store designs 
in-step with today's consumer. Last year the company updated the new store designs. New stores have a brighter, more contemporary 
look and an open, easily navigable floor plan conducive to browsing. The company has improved product adjacencies so that 
customers can not only better compare features and benefits across product categories, but also can shop for related accessories and 
peripherals in convenient proximity. Shopping carts, baskets and cash register checkouts at the front of the store add to the 
convenience of the growing level of take-with products in the stores. Standardized fixtures accommodate more take-with selections and 
provide greater flexibility to adapt to future changes in Circuit City's product selection. 

At the same time, the company has focused on opportunities to upgrade and improve the existing store base. In fiscal 2004, the 
company refixtured 222 Superstores. The more flexible fixtures will facilitate the introduction of new products, as well as other 
assortment adjustments in store merchandise displays. 

At April 30, 2004, 134 Superstores, or 22 percent of the 602 Superstores had been fully remodeled, relocated or newly constructed since 
the beginning of fiscal 2001. 

Merchandising. Each Circuit City store location follows detailed operating procedures and merchandising programs, including 
procedures for inventory maintenance, customer relations, store administration, merchandise display, store security and the 
demonstration and sale of products. Most merchandise is supplied directly to the stores from one of Circuit City's eight automated 
distribution centers, which are strategically located around the country, and from a centrally located automated software entertainment 
distribution center. Merchandise mix and displays are controlled centrally to help ensure a high level of consistency among the stores. 
Merchandise pricing can vary by market to reflect local competitive conditions. Circuit City uses a centralized buying organization. The 
central buying staff reduces costs by purchasing in large volumes and structuring a sound basic merchandising program. Circuit City's 
merchandising strategy emphasizes a broad selection of products, including the industry's newest technologies, and a wide range of 
prices. To improve the company's competitive position, Circuit City has initiated efforts to source more product directly from overseas 
manufacturers, which enables the company to lower product acquisition costs and to increase product differentiation. During fiscal 
2004, Circuit City began to introduce its own unique merchandise brands, including Liquid Video, Verge and esa, tailored to specific 
needs within a broad consumer base. These products supplement one of the best selections of name-brand products in the consumer 
electronics industry. 

Suppliers. During fiscal 2004, Circuit City's 10 largest suppliers accounted for approximately 56 percent of merchandise purchased. 
Circuit City's major suppliers include Sony Corporation; Hewlett Packard; Panasonic; Toshiba; Samsung Electronics America, Inc.; 
Hitachi America LTD; Thomson Multimedia, Inc.; eMachines, Inc.; Canon U.S.A., Inc.; and Apex Digital, Inc. Brand-name advertised 
products are sold by all Circuit City retail locations. The company also offers exclusive, private-label merchandise brands that are 
sourced by the company directly from the manufacturers. Circuit City has no significant long-term contracts for the purchase of 
merchandise. 

Advertising. Circuit City's business relies on considerable amounts of advertising to maintain high levels of consumer awareness. 
Advertising expenditures from continuing operations were 3.3 percent of net sales and operating revenues in fiscal 2004, 3.5 percent in 
fiscal 2003 and 3.8 percent in fiscal 2002. Circuit City uses multi-page newspaper advertisements, network and cable television 
advertising, magazine advertising, direct mail and interactive media. The multi-page newspaper advertisements provide an extensive 
presentation of the range of consumer electronics products sold at Circuit City stores and generally feature products at highly 
competitive prices. Circuit City is generally one of the larger newspaper advertisers in markets that it serves. Television and magazine 
advertising focuses on promoting great values on products and new software releases as well as differentiating elements in the service 
offering such as the Web site's Express Pickup feature. 

Competition. The consumer electronics industry is highly competitive. Circuit City's competitors include large specialty, discount and 
warehouse retailers as well as local, regional and Internet-based retailers. As part of its competitive strategy, Circuit City offers 
competitive prices on the merchandise stocked in its stores and offered on its Web site. Customers who order on the Web and pick up 
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their product at the store using the Express Pickup feature automatically receive the lower of the Web price or the in-store price. 

Circuit City distinguishes its stores from those of the competition by offering a broad and, in some cases, unique merchandise 
assortment, delivering outstanding customer service and providing the convenience of a one-stop shopping solution for consumers. 
The company's merchandise assortment includes new technologies and great values and is dynamic, responding to changes in the 
industry's product trends. To keep pace with rapidly changing technologies, the company's most 
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recent store designs feature flexible displays to accommodate new product offerings. In addition to offering one of the best selections 
of name-brand products in the industry, Circuit City offers its own private-label merchandise brands. Products carrying these brand 
names are available exclusively at Circuit City. Product specialists, trained using comprehensive online training courses; convenient 
credit options; home delivery and home installation; and onsite installation centers for automotive electronics all demonstrate Circuit 
City's strong commitment to customer service. 

Customer Satisfaction. Circuit City conducts market research to improve its understanding of what its customers want and expect. 
Market research techniques used include focus groups, online surveys, telephone interviews, exit interviews and "mystery shopping," 
in which a professional mystery shopper acts as a customer to evaluate customer service performance. This feedback enables 
management to identify issues that need to be addressed, helping the company's stores and Associates remain focused on providing 
outstanding customer service. 

Employees/Training. At April 30, 2004, the company had 42,258 hourly and salaried employees. In February 2003, the company 
changed from a dual pay structure, which included both commission and hourly pay, for the sales force to a single hourly pay 
structure. Circuit City Superstores are typically staffed with 

o sales support personnel such as customer service associates, product specialists and stockpersons; 
o two or more sales managers; 
o an operations manager or assistant store director; and 
o a store director. 

None of these employees are subject to a collective bargaining agreement. Additional personnel may be employed during peak selling 
seasons. In fiscal 2004, the company outsourced the applicant screening process and reduced the time to hire a new store Associate 
by more than 50 percent and thus significantly decreased the time required to complete seasonal hiring. 

Store Associates receive periodic training delivered by customized Web-based interactive courses, supported with in-store mentoring. 
Courses include product knowledge with an emphasis on new technology, customer service and store operations. Associates also 
receive online tutoring with links to vendor Web sites for additional resources. In fiscal 2003, Circuit City adopted a certification 
program for product specialists to establish minimum proficiency levels and measure each product specialist's product knowledge and 
customer service skills. Management training programs are designed to prepare future leaders and include Web-based training, 
in-store activities, online tutoring and classroom instruction. 

Consumer Credit. The company's business is affected by consumer credit availability, which varies with a number of factors, including 
the state of the economy and the location of a particular store. In order to provide its customers with more credit options, in fiscal 1991, 
the company established FNANB, a federally chartered limited purpose credit card bank that is wholly owned by the company. 

From 1990 to June 2002, FNANB issued a private-label credit card, which was a credit card that only could be used to purchase 
merchandise and services from the company. In June 2002, in connection with the launch of a co-branded Visa(R) credit card, FNANB 
stopped issuing new private-label credit accounts; however, existing private-label accounts remained in place. The co-branded Visa 
credit card, referred to as the Circuit City Plus(TM) card, bears both the Circuit City and Visa names and is accepted not only at the 
company's stores and Web site, but also worldwide wherever Visa credit cards are accepted. FNANB's credit extension, customer 
service and collection operations are fully automated with state-of-the-art technology to maintain a high level of customer service. 

The receivables generated by FNANB's credit card program are financed through asset securitization programs. For additional 
discussion of these programs, see "Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements" on page 23 and Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements 
on pages 34 and 35 of the company's 2004 Annual Report, which is incorporated in this item by reference. 

From 1994 to June 2002, FNANB issued Visa credit cards that did not bear the Circuit City name. Those Visa credit cards and a small 
number of previously issued MasterCard(R) accounts were serviced by FNANB. In November 2003, the company completed the sale 
of its bankcard finance operation to FleetBoston Financial. The sale agreement includes a transition services agreement under which 
employees of the bankcard operation continued to service the bankcard accounts until final conversion to FleetBoston's system, 
which occurred in April 2004. Results from the company's bankcard finance operation are presented as discontinued operations. See 
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"Discontinued Operations" for additional discussion. 

On January 20, 2004, the company announced that it has agreed to sell its private-label finance operation, including both its 
private-label Circuit City credit card accounts and its co-branded Circuit City Plus Visa credit card accounts, to Bank One Corporation 
for the par value of the receivables. The sale is expected to close in the second calendar quarter of 2004. The company also has entered 
into an ongoing arrangement under which Bank One would offer private-label and co-branded credit cards to both new and existing 
customers. Bank One will compensate Circuit City for each new account opened and provide special financing terms for Circuit City 
customers. 
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FNANB is regulated and supervised by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency. OCC regulations require, among other things, 
examination by the OCC of FNANB's underwriting policies and procedures and compliance with certain capital and earnings adequacy 
requirements. In addition, FNANB is required to comply with both state and federal consumer protection laws including the Equal 
Credit Opportunity Act, Fair Credit Reporting Act, Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, Truth-in-Lending Act 
and USA PATRIOT Act. 

In connection with the announced sale of the private-label finance operation to Bank One, we plan to relinquish the FNANB national 
bank charter. As part of the statutory liquidation process, we will assume all of FNANB's remaining obligations and our equity 
investment in FNANB will be returned to us for general corporate purposes through a final liquidating dividend and distribution of the 
remaining assets of FNANB. As a result, our capital support obligations with respect to FNANB will be terminated. We expect to 
complete the liquidation process during the third quarter of fiscal 2005. 

Systems. Circuit City's in-store point-of-sale system maintains an online record of all transactions and allows management to track 
performance by region, store and individual store Associate. The information gathered by the system supports automatic 
replenishment of in-store inventory from the regional distribution centers and is incorporated into product buying decisions. The POS 
system is interfaced with FNANB's credit approval system. After completion of the sale of the private-label finance operation to Bank 
One, the POS system will continue to be interfaced with the credit approval system through Bank One. The in-store POS system also is 
seamlessly integrated with the company's e-commerce Web site. This integration provides the capability for in-store pickup of 
merchandise ordered from the Internet and allows for in-store ordering of merchandise for shipment directly to the customer's home. In 
the stores, electronic signature capture for all credit card purchases, automatic printing of manufacturers' rebates, bar-code scanning 
for product returns and repairs, automatic price tag printing for price changes and computerized home delivery scheduling enhance 
Circuit City's customer service. These enhancements eliminate time-consuming administrative tasks for store Associates and reduce 
costs through smoother store-level execution. At in-store kiosks, the POS system also allows customers to sign up for high speed 
Internet service. The POS system also is directly integrated with the registration systems of major Internet service providers, such as 
America Online, allowing in-store registration for the interactive services to be completed in approximately five minutes. In addition, 
real time service plan activations with Verizon and T-Mobile, in conjunction with mobile/wireless phone sales, have streamlined the full 
service customer experience. 

Circuit City's Customer Service Information System maintains an online history of customer purchases and enables store Associates to 
better assist customers with purchases by ensuring that new products can be integrated with existing products in the home. This 
system also facilitates product returns and repairs. 

The company also utilizes comprehensive, Web-based training systems to enhance the product knowledge of in-store Associates. 

Circuit City Direct. Circuit City's direct-to-consumer business continues to grow rapidly by leveraging the company's three channels of 
business: Web, stores and telephone. The company's Web site provides customers with 

o a wide selection of over 400,000 consumer electronic and entertainment products; 

o more than 125,000 customer ratings and reviews on products; 

o in-depth product and technology information; and 

o around-the-clock customer service via telephone, live chat and email. 

Circuit City Direct has a highly integrated multi-channel business model, allowing customers to shop freely across its channels. 

o Orders can be placed on circuitcity.com or by calling 1-800-THE-CITY. 

o Delivery options include home shipment, store pick-up at all Superstores, or home delivery for big screen televisions. 
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o The Web site can be used to check inventory status on-line as well as at any Circuit City Superstore - a time-saver for customers. 

o Products purchased on the Web site can be exchanged or returned via mail or to any store. 

Circuitcity.com's superior customer experience has been recognized by being one of only seven retailers to win the BizRate.com Circle 
of Excellence Award for three consecutive years. 

In April 2004, Circuit City Direct expanded its online presence through the acquisition of the assets of MusicNow, a leading digital 
music platform. Circuit City will integrate MusicNow's platform into circuitcity.com as well as its stores. Additionally, MusicNow will 
retain its own brand and will continue to execute on its strategy of empowering third parties to launch digital music services, including 
music download and subscription services. 
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Distribution. As of April 30, 2004, Circuit City operated seven automated regional electronics distribution centers, each designed to 
serve stores within a 500-mile range. These centers use conveyor systems and laser bar-code scanners to reduce labor requirements, 
prevent inventory damage and maintain inventory control. Circuit City also operates one smaller automated distribution center that 
primarily handles larger non-conveyable electronics products. Circuit City believes that for most merchandise the use of the 
distribution centers enables it to efficiently distribute a broad selection of merchandise to its stores, reduce inventory requirements at 
individual stores, benefit from volume purchasing and maintain accounting control. Circuit City also operates an automated centralized 
entertainment software distribution center that serves all stores and an import consolidation center that supports the company's 
distribution network. 

Service Contracts. Circuit City offers service contract coverage for most of the products purchased at Circuit City stores and on the 
company's Web site through its Cityadvantage Protection Plans. The Cityadvantage Protection Plan for Home and Car Electronics 
provides protection for televisions and certain other home and car audio and video products beyond the standard manufacturer's 
warranty, with benefits that include 

o coverage terms up to five years; 

o a nationwide service network; 

o repair or replacement service,including in-home service on certain products; and 

o coverage against power surges, which is typically excluded from manufacturers' warranty coverage. 

The Cityadvantage Protection Plan for Computer Products provides protection for certain computer products, with benefits similar to 
the Cityadvantage Protection Plan for Home and Car Electronics. The Cityadvantage Protection Plan for Small/Portable Electronics 
provides protection for certain smaller electronics products, with the additional benefit that permits customers to return their defective 
merchandise during the plan period and receive a Circuit City gift card for the original purchase price of the merchandise. 

Circuit City administers the Cityadvantage Protection Plans for Home and Car Electronics and for Small/Portable Electronics. Service is 
provided by Circuit City or its contractors. Service under the Cityadvantage Protection Plan for Computer Products is provided and 
administered by GE-Zurich Warranty Management, Inc. or its contractors. Reputable insurance companies insure the obligations under 
these plans. Affiliates of the insurance companies are the obligors except in the one state in which Circuit City is required to serve as 
obligor. 

Product Service. Circuit City offers repair service as a manufacturer-authorized service provider for most of the products purchased at 
Circuit City stores and on the company's Web site, both during and after the manufacturer's warranty period. As of April 30, 2004, 
Circuit City had five regional service facilities. To meet customer needs, merchandise that requires service is shipped from the stores to 
the nearest regional service facility. Repaired merchandise is typically returned to the store for customer pickup or in some 
circumstances is shipped directly to the customer's home. Circuit City also has a network of in-home technicians who service large 
items not conveniently carried into the store. In certain situations, Circuit City also may assist customers with shipping defective 
products directly to the manufacturer for repair during the manufacturer's warranty period. 

Seasonality. Like many retail businesses, Circuit City's sales are greater in the fourth quarter of the fiscal year than in other periods of 
the fiscal year because of holiday buying patterns. A corresponding pre-season inventory build-up during the third fiscal quarter is 
associated with this sales volume. This increased sales volume results in a lower ratio of fixed costs to sales and, typically, a higher 
ratio of net earnings to sales in the fourth fiscal quarter. Circuit City's net sales and operating revenues from continuing operations for 
the fourth fiscal quarter, which includes the holiday season, were $3.25 billion in fiscal 2004; $3.19 billion in fiscal 2003; and $3.36 billion 
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in fiscal 2002. Fourth quarter sales represented approximately 33 percent of net sales and operating revenues in fiscal 2004, 32 percent 
in fiscal 2003 and 35 percent in fiscal 2002. 

Discontinued Operations. 

(A) Bankcard Operation: On November 18, 2003, the company completed the sale of its bankcard finance operation to FleetBoston 
Financial. The sale agreement includes a transition services agreement under which the company's finance operation continued to 
service the bankcard accounts until final conversion, which occurred in April 2004. FleetBoston Financial reimbursed the company for 
operating costs incurred during the transition period. 

For fiscal 2004, the after-tax loss from the discontinued bankcard operation totaled $90.0 million. Net earnings from the discontinued 
bankcard operation were $25.6 million in fiscal 2003 and $42.9 million in fiscal 2002. 

(B) CarMax: On October 1, 2002, the CarMax auto superstore business was separated from the Circuit City consumer electronics 
business, and CarMax, Inc. became an independent, separately traded public company. Each outstanding share of CarMax Group 
common stock was redeemed in exchange for one share of CarMax, Inc. common stock. In addition, each holder of Circuit City Group 
common stock received as a tax-free distribution 0.313879 of a share of CarMax, Inc. common 
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stock for each share of Circuit City Group common stock owned as of September 16, 2002, the record date for the distribution. 
Following the separation, the Circuit City Group common stock was renamed Circuit City common stock. CarMax results are presented 
as results from discontinued operations on the consolidated statements of operations. The company recorded no gain or loss as a 
result of the separation. 

With the separation, CarMax paid a special dividend of $28.4 million to Circuit City Stores, Inc. in recognition of the company's 
continuing contingent liability on leases related to 23 CarMax locations. The discontinued CarMax operations had no impact on the net 
earnings of the company for fiscal 2004. Net earnings from the discontinued CarMax operations were $62.0 million for fiscal 2003, 
representing CarMax results for the seven months prior to the separation date. Net earnings from the discontinued CarMax operations 
were $89.5 million in fiscal 2002. CarMax results have been restated to reflect the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," as amended by SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation - Transition and Disclosure." 

(C) Divx: On June 16, 1999, Digital Video Express announced that it would cease marketing the Divx home video system and 
discontinue operations. The provision for commitments under licensing agreements was reduced $2.3 million in fiscal 2004, reducing 
accrued expenses and other current liabilities related to the former Divx operations to $5.6 million on the consolidated balance sheet at 
February 29, 2004. This reduction benefited the fiscal 2004 net loss from discontinued operations by $1.5 million. Payments of $10.5 
million were made during fiscal 2003, reducing accrued expenses and other current liabilities related to the former Divx operations to 
$8.0 million on the consolidated balance sheet at February 28, 2003. The discontinued Divx operations had no impact on the net 
earnings of the company for fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002. As of February 29, 2004, entities comprising the discontinued Divx operations 
had been dissolved. The remaining Divx liabilities have been assumed by the company and are included on the consolidated balance 
sheet. 
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Item 2. Properties 

At April 30, 2004, Circuit City's retail operations were conducted in 607 locations, including 602 Superstores and five mall-based stores. 

The following table summarizes the company's retail units as of April 30, 2004: 

                                          Mall-based 
                              Superstores  Stores         
Total 
                              ----------- ----------      
----- 
Alabama                            7          -            7 
Arizona                           11          -           11 
Arkansas                           3          -            3 
California                        83          -           83 
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Colorado                          12          -           12 
Connecticut                        7          -            7 
Delaware                           2          -            2 
Florida                           43          -           43 
Georgia                           21          1           22 
Hawaii                             1          -            1 
Idaho                              2          -            2 
Illinois                          34          -           34 
Indiana                           13          -           13 
Kansas                             4          -            4 
Kentucky                           7          -            7 
Louisiana                          9          -            9 
Maine                              2          -            2 
Maryland                          17          -           17 
Massachusetts                     16          1           17 
Michigan                          24          -           24 
Minnesota                          8          1            9 
Mississippi                        4          -            4 
Missouri                          11          -           11 
Nebraska                           1          -            1 
Nevada                             5          -            5 
New Hampshire                      5          -            5 
New Jersey                        17          -           17 
New Mexico                         1          -            1 
New York                          30          -           30 
North Carolina                    18          1           19 
Ohio                              25          -           25 
Oklahoma                           4          -            4 
Oregon                             7          -            7 
Pennsylvania                      26          -           26 
Rhode Island                       1          -            1 
South Carolina                     8          -            8 
Tennessee                         13          -           13 
Texas                             46          -           46 
Utah                               5          -            5 
Vermont                            1          -            1 
Virginia                          24          1           25 
Washington                        11          -           11 
West Virginia                      4          -            4 
Wisconsin                          8          -            8 
Wyoming                            1          -            1 
                                ---------------------------- 

                                 602          5          607 
                                 =========================== 

Of the stores open at April 30, 2004, the company owns five stores and 
leases the remaining stores. 
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Of the company's nine distribution centers, seven are leased. The company owns a 388,000-square-foot consumer electronics 
distribution center in Doswell, Va., which has been financed with Industrial Development Revenue Bonds. For information with respect 
to these bonds, see Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 35 and 36 of the company's 2004 Annual Report, which is 
incorporated in this item by reference. The company leases the import consolidation center that supports the company's distribution 
network. 

The company owns one of its five service centers. In addition, the company owns most of the land, but leases two of the three 
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buildings, for its corporate headquarters. The company leases space for all warehouse, service and office facilities except for the 
aforementioned properties. 

For information regarding the company's obligations under the leases for its retail units, distribution centers, repair centers and other 
facilities, see Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements on page 37 of the company's 2004 Annual Report, which is incorporated 
herein by reference. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

In the normal course of business, the company is involved in various legal proceedings. Based upon the company's evaluation of the 
information presently available, management believes that the ultimate resolution of any such proceedings will not have a material 
adverse effect on the company's financial position, liquidity or results of operations. 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 

No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended February 29, 2004. 

Executive Officers of the Company 

The following table identifies the executive officers of the company at April 30, 2004. The company is not aware of any family 
relationship between any executive officers of the company or any executive officer and any director of the company. The executive 
officers are generally elected annually and serve for one year or until their successors are elected. The next general election of officers 
is expected to occur in June 2004. Business experience for the past five years is provided in accordance with SEC rules. 

      Name                       Age              Office 
      ----                       ---              ------ 

W.Alan McCollough                 54          Chairman, President and 
                                              Chief Executive Officer 
                                              Executive 

John W. Froman                    50          Executive Vice President 
                                              Chief Operating Officer 

Michael E. Foss                   46          Senior Vice President 
                                              Chief Financial Officer 

Ronald E. Baime                   42          Senior Vice President 
                                              General Merchandise Manager 

Dennis J. Bowman                  50          Senior Vice President 
                                              Strategic Sourcing and 
Inventory 
                                              Planning/Replenishment 

W.Stephen Cannon                  52          Senior Vice President 
                                              General Counsel and Secretary 

George D. Clark, Jr.              42          Senior Vice President 
                                              Eastern Division President 

William C. Denney                 47          Senior Vice President 
                                              General Merchandise Manager 

Fiona P. Dias                     38          Senior Vice President 
                                              President Circuit City Direct 

Philip J. Dunn                    51          Senior Vice President, 
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                                              Treasurer and Controller 

                         Page 10 of 16 

Gary M. Mierenfeld                52          Senior Vice President 
                                              Store Development, Procurement, 
                                              Distribution and Service 

Douglas T. Moore                  47          Senior Vice President 
                                              Western Division President 

Ernest V. Speranza                58          Senior Vice President 
                                              Chief Marketing Officer 

Jeffrey S. Wells                  58          Senior Vice President 
                                              Human Resources and Training 

Mr. McCollough is Chairman of the Board and a member of the Board's executive committee. He joined the company in 1987 as general 
manager of corporate operations. He was elected assistant vice president in 1989, vice president and Central Division president in 1991, 
senior vice president - merchandising in 1994, president and chief operating officer in 1997, chief executive officer in 2000 and chairman 
of the board in 2002. 

Mr. Froman joined the company in 1986 as a store manager and general manager in training. In 1989, he was promoted to general 
manager and named assistant vice president. He was promoted to director of corporate operations in 1990 and in 1992 added the title of 
vice president. He was elected Central Division president in 1994, named senior vice president - merchandising in 1997 and was 
promoted to executive vice president in 2000. He was named chief operating officer in 2001. 

Mr. Foss joined the company in June 2003 as senior vice president and chief financial officer. Before joining the company, he was 
executive vice president of corporate/business development for TeleTech Holdings Inc., a global provider of customer management 
solutions for large companies, from 2001 to 2003; president of TeleTech Companies Group, an operating division of TeleTech 
Holdings, Inc., from 2000 to 2001; and executive vice president and chief financial officer of TeleTech Holdings and president of 
TeleTech Companies Group from 1999 to 2000. 

Mr. Baime joined the company in 2002 as vice president - general merchandise manger. He was named senior vice president in 2003. 
Before joining the company, he was vice president of music for the Musicland Group at Best Buy, a specialty retailer of consumer 
electronics, home office products, entertainment software and appliances, from 2001 to 2002 and senior vice president of e-commerce 
and vice president merchandising for Kohl's Department Stores, which operates specialty department stores nationwide, from 1997 to 
2001. 

Mr. Bowman joined the company in 1996 as vice president and chief information officer. He was elected senior vice president and chief 
information officer in 1997. He served as chief information officer from 1996 to 2004. He was named senior vice president - strategic 
sourcing and inventory planning/replenishment in 2004. 

Mr. Cannon joined the company in 1994 as senior vice president and general counsel and was named secretary in February 2003. 

Mr. Clark joined the company in 1983. He was promoted to store manager in 1987 and district manager in 1992. He was named assistant 
vice president in 1995, vice president and Central Division president in 1997, Eastern Division president in 2002 and senior vice 
president in 2003. 

Mr. Denney joined the company in 1979. He was named corporate director of advertising and marketing in 1994, assistant vice 
president in 1995, vice president - general merchandise manager in 2002 and senior vice president in 2003. 

Ms. Dias joined the company in 2000 as senior vice president - marketing. She was named president of Circuit City Direct in 2003. 
Before joining the company, she was chief marketing officer at Stick Networks, Inc., a wireless software company, during 2000 and vice 
president - marketing and development for the Frito-Lay Company, an operating division of PepsiCo, Inc. engaged in the snack food 
industry, from 1999 to 2000. 

Mr. Dunn joined the company in 1984. He was named treasurer in 1990, was promoted to vice president in 1992 and added the title of 
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controller in 1996. In 1999, he was elected senior vice president. 

Mr. Mierenfeld joined the company in 1993 as vice president - distribution. He was elected senior vice president in 1999. He was named 
senior vice president - store development procurement, distribution and service in 2003. 

Mr. Moore joined the company in 1990. He was named a regional vice president in 1995; director of corporate operations in 1997; 
assistant vice president - general manager, builder appliance sales division in 1998; assistant vice president - senior national buyer in 
1999; assistant vice president - divisional merchandising manager - imaging in 2000; assistant vice president - director of 
merchandising operations in 2002; Western Division president in 2003; and senior vice president in 2003. 
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Mr. Speranza joined the company in April 2004 as senior vice president and chief marketing officer. Before joining the company, he was 
senior vice president - marketing and advertising, international at Toys "R" Us, Inc., a worldwide retailer of toys, baby products, and 
children's apparel, from 1999 to 2003. 

Mr. Wells joined the company in 1996 as senior vice president - human resources and training. 

PART II 

Item 5. Market for the Company's Common Equity and Related Shareholder Matters 

The information appearing under the heading "Common Stock" on page 25 of the company's 2004 Annual Report is incorporated in 
this item by reference. 

As of April 30, 2004, there were 5,819 shareholders of record of common stock. 

Item 6. Selected Financial Data 

The information appearing under the heading "Selected Financial Data" on page 12 of the company's 2004 Annual Report is 
incorporated in this item by reference. 

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition 

The information appearing under the heading "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial 
Condition" on pages 13 through 25 of the company's 2004 Annual Report is incorporated in this item by reference. 

Item 7A.Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 

The information appearing under the sub-heading "Market Risk" on pages 23 and 24 of the company's 2004 Annual Report is 
incorporated in this item by reference. 

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 

The information appearing under the headings "Consolidated Statements of Operations," "Consolidated Balance Sheets," 
"Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows," "Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity," "Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements" and "Independent Auditors' Report" on pages 26 through 43 of the company's 2004 Annual Report is incorporated in this 
item by reference. 

The information appearing under the heading "Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)" on page 43 of the company's 2004 Annual Report 
is incorporated in this item by reference. 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

None. 

Item 9A.Controls and Procedures 

Under the supervision and with the participation of the company's management, including the chief executive officer and chief financial 
officer, the company has evaluated the effectiveness of its "disclosure controls and procedures," as that term is defined in Rule 
13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
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Based upon their evaluation, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that the company's disclosure controls 
and procedures are effective. There were no changes in the company's internal control over financial reporting in the quarter ended 
February 29, 2004, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the company's internal control over 
financial reporting. 

PART III 

With the exception of the information incorporated by reference from the company's Proxy Statement in Items 10, 11, 12 and 14 of Part 
III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the company's Proxy Statement dated May 7, 2004, is not to be deemed filed as a part of this 
Report. 

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Company 

The information appearing under the heading "Item One - Election of Directors" on pages 3 through 5 of the company's Proxy 
Statement dated May 7, 2004, is incorporated in this item by reference. 
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The information appearing under the heading "Certain Information Concerning the Board of Directors and Its Committees" on pages 8 
through 10 of the company's Proxy Statement dated May 7, 2004, is incorporated in this item by reference. 

The information appearing under the heading "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" on page 19 of the company's 
Proxy Statement dated May 7, 2004, is incorporated in this item by reference. 

The company's code of business conduct is available on the company's investor information homepage at 
https://investor.circuitcity.com. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

The information appearing under the heading "Executive Compensation" on pages 12 through 14 of the company's Proxy Statement 
dated May 7, 2004, is incorporated in this item by reference. 

The information appearing under the heading "Employment Agreements and Change-In-Control Arrangements" on pages 15 and 16 of 
the company's Proxy Statement dated May 7, 2004, is incorporated in this item by reference. 

The information appearing under the heading "Compensation of Directors" on page 19 of the company's Proxy Statement dated May 7, 
2004, is incorporated in this item by reference. 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 

The information appearing under the heading "Beneficial Ownership of Securities" on pages 6 and 7 of the company's Proxy Statement 
dated May 7, 2004, is incorporated in this item by reference. 

The information appearing under the heading "Equity Compensation Plans Information" on page 14 of the company's Proxy Statement 
dated May 7, 2004, is incorporated in this item by reference. 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

None. 

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

The information appearing under the heading "Item Four - Ratification of Appointment of Independent Auditors" on page 26 of the 
company's Proxy Statement dated May 7, 2004, is incorporated in this item by reference. 
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Part IV 

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K 
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(a) 1.   Financial  Statements.  The following  financial  statements  are 
         incorporated by reference into this report. 

         Consolidated  Statements of Operations for the fiscal years ended 
         February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003 and 2002. 

         Consolidated Balance Sheets at February 29, 2004 and February 28, 
         2003. 

         Consolidated  Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended 
         February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003 and 2002. 

         Consolidated  Statements of  Stockholder's  Equity for the fiscal 
         years ended February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003 and 2002. 

         Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

         Independent Auditors' Report. 

    2.   Financial Statement Schedules.  The following financial statement 
         schedules of Circuit City Stores, Inc. for the fiscal years ended 
         February 29, 2004 and  February  28, 2003 and 2002,  are filed as 
         part of this  report and should be read in  conjunction  with the 
         consolidated  financial  statements of Circuit City Stores,  Inc. 
         and the notes thereto, described in Item 15(a)(1). 

         Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves                                            S-1 

         Independent Auditors' Report on Financial Statement Schedule                                          S-2 

         Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not 
         applicable or are not required or the information  required to be 
         set forth  therein  is  included  in the  consolidated  financial 
         statements or notes thereto. 

    3.   Exhibits.  The  exhibits  listed  on the  accompanying  Index  to 
         Exhibits immediately  following the financial statement schedules 
         are filed as part of, or are incorporated by reference into, this 
         report. 

(b) Reports on Form 8-K. 

    The  company  filed a Form 8-K on  December  2, 2003,  announcing  the 
    completion of the sale of its bankcard business. 

    The Forms 8-K listed below were furnished to the SEC during the period 
    covered by this  report  pursuant to Item 12 of Form 8-K and shall not 
    be deemed "filed" for purposes of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
    as amended, or incorporated by reference into any document filed under 
    the Securities  Act of 1933, as amended,  except as shall be expressly 
    set forth by specific reference in such filing. 

    The company  furnished a Form 8-K on December 4, 2003,  announcing the 
    company's third quarter fiscal year 2004 sales. 

    The company furnished a Form 8-K on December 17, 2003,  announcing the 
    company's third quarter fiscal year 2004 results. 

    The company  furnished a Form 8-K on January 7, 2004,  announcing  the 
    company's  December  2003  sales and fiscal  year 2005  store  opening 
    plans. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report 
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

CIRCUIT CITY STORES, INC. 
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(Registrant) 

By:  /s/W. Alan McCollough 
     --------------------------- 
    W. Alan McCollough 
    Chairman, President and Chief Executive 
Officer 

By:  /s/Michael E. Foss 
     --------------------------- 
    Michael E. Foss 
    Senior Vice President and 
    Chief Financial Officer 

By:  /s/Philip J. Dunn 
     --------------------------- 
    Philip J. Dunn 
    Senior Vice President, Treasurer, 
    Controller and 
    Chief Accounting Officer 

May 10, 2004 
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of 
the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated: 

       Signature                               Title                                         Date 
       ---------                               -----                                         ---- 
Ronald M. Brill*                            Director                                     May 10, 2004 
-------------------------- 
Ronald M. Brill 

Carolyn H. Byrd*                            Director                                     May 10, 2004 
-------------------------- 
Carolyn H. Byrd 

Richard N. Cooper*                          Director                                     May 10, 2004 
-------------------------- 
Richard N. Cooper 

Barbara S. Feigin*                          Director                                     May 10, 2004 
-------------------------- 
Barbara S. Feigin 

E.V. Goings *                               Director                                     May 10, 2004 
-------------------------- 
E.V. Goings 

James F. Hardymon*                          Director                                     May 10, 2004 
-------------------------- 
James F. Hardymon 
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Alan Kane*                                  Director                                     May 10, 2004 
-------------------------- 
Alan Kane 

Allen B. King*                              Director                                     May 10, 2004 
-------------------------- 
Allen B. King 

/s/W. Alan McCollough                       Director                                     May 10, 2004 
-------------------------- 
W. Alan McCollough 

Mikael Salovaara*                           Director                                     May 10, 2004 
-------------------------- 
Mikael Salovaara 

Carolyn Y. Woo*                             Director                                     May 10, 2004 
-------------------------- 
Carolyn Y. Woo 

*By: /s/W. Alan McCollough 
W. Alan McCollough, 
Attorney-In-Fact 
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S-1 Schedule II 

CIRCUIT CITY STORES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves 
(Amounts in thousands) 

                                       Balance at           Charged           Charge-offs          
Balance at 
                                        Beginning             to                 less               
End of 
       Description                      of Year             Income            Recoveries             
Year 
       -----------                     ----------           -------           ----------           
---------- 

Year ended February 28, 2002: 
Allowance for doubtful accounts         $  2,068            $ 3,485            $ (4,893)          $    
 660 
                                        ========            =======            ========           
========= 

Year ended February 28, 2003: 
Allowance for doubtful accounts         $    660            $ 4,790           $ ( 4,375)          $   
1,075 
                                        ========            =======           =========           
========= 

Year ended February 29, 2004: 
Allowance for doubtful accounts         $  1,075            $ 3,049           $  (3,577)          $    
 547 
                                        ========            =======           =========           
========= 
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S-1 

S-2 

Independent Auditors' Report on Financial Statement Schedule 

The Board of Directors 
Circuit City Stores, Inc.: 

Under date of March 30, 2004, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of Circuit City Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries (the 
Company) as of February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity 
and cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the three-year period ended February 29, 2004, as incorporated by reference herein. In 
connection with our audits of the aforementioned consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the related Circuit City 
Stores, Inc. financial statement schedule as listed in Item 15(a)2 of this Form 10-K. This financial statement schedule is the 
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this financial statement schedule based on 
our audits. 

In our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a 
whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. 

/s/KPMG 
LLP 

Richmond, Virginia 
March 30, 2004 
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Circuit City Stores, Inc. 
Annual Report on Form 10-K 

EXHIBIT INDEX 

(3) Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws 

(a) Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company, effective February 3, 1997, as amended through October 1, 2002, 
filed as Exhibit 3(i) to the company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 30, 2002 (File No. 1-5767), are 
expressly incorporated herein by this reference. 

(b) Bylaws of the Company, as amended and restated June 17, 2003, filed as Exhibit 3(iii) to the company's Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q for the quarter ended May 31, 2003 (File No. 1-5767), are expressly incorporated herein by this reference. 

(4) Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders, Including Indentures 

(a) Third Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated as of October 1, 2002, between the company and Wells Fargo Bank 
Minnesota, N.A., as Rights Agent, filed as Exhibit 1 to the company's Form 8-A/A filed on October 1, 2002 (File No. 1-5767), is 
expressly incorporated herein by this reference. 

(10) Material Contracts 

(a) The company's 2000 Non-Employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan, filed as Appendix A to the company's Definitive Proxy 
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Statement dated May 10, 2000, for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on June 13, 2000 (File No. 1-5767), is expressly 
incorporated herein by this reference. * 

(b) Amendments effective June 15, 2001, to the company's 2000 Non-Employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit 10 to the 
company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31, 2001 (File No. 1-5767), are expressly incorporated herein by 
this reference. * 

(c) The company's Amended and Restated 1989 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan, filed as Exhibit A to the company's 
Definitive Proxy Statement dated May 9, 1997, for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on June 17, 1997 (File No. 1-5767), is 
expressly incorporated herein by this reference. * 

(d) Amendments adopted June 17, 1997, to the company's Amended and Restated 1989 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan 
filed as Exhibit 10(ii) to the company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31, 1997 (File No. 1-5767), are 
expressly incorporated herein by this reference. * 

(e) The company's 1994 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended as of January 24, 1997, filed as Annex III to the company's Definitive Proxy 
Statement dated December 24, 1996, for a Special Meeting of Shareholders held on January 24, 1997 (File No. 1-5767), is expressly 
incorporated herein by this reference. * 

(f) Amendments effective June 13, 2000, to the company's 1994 Stock Incentive Plan as amended, filed as Exhibit 10 to the company's 
Quarterly Report on form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31, 2000 (File No. 1-5767), are expressly incorporated herein by this reference. 
* 

(g) Amendment effective June 15, 1999, to the company's 1994 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, filed as Exhibit 10 to the company's 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31, 1999 (File No. 1-5767), is expressly incorporated herein by this reference. 
* 
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(h) Employment agreement between the company and W. Alan McCollough effective November 19, 2003, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the 
company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 30, 2003 (File No. 1-5767), is expressly incorporated herein 
by this reference. * 

(i) Form of employment agreement between the company and certain executive officers effective June 30, 2003, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to 
the company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 31, 2003 (File No. 1-5767), is expressly incorporated herein 
by this reference. * 

(j) Employment agreement between the company and Fiona P. Dias effective December 4, 2003, filed herewith. * 

(k) The company's 2003 Annual Performance-Based Bonus Plan, filed as Appendix C to the company's Definitive Proxy Statement 
dated May 9, 2003, for an Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on June 17, 2003 (File No. 1-5767), is expressly incorporated herein by 
this 

         reference. * 

(l)      The   company's   Non-Employee   Directors   
Deferred 
         Compensation   Plan,  filed  as  Exhibit  10  to  
the 
         company's  Quarterly  Report  on  Form  10-Q  for 
the 

quarter ended August 31, 2000 (File No. 1-5767), is expressly incorporated herein by this reference. * 

(m) Program for deferral of director compensation implemented October 1995 filed as Exhibit 10(i) to the company's Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 30, 1995 (File No. 1-5767), is expressly incorporated herein by this reference. * 

(n) Benefit Restoration Plan, effective February 28, 1999, filed as Exhibit 10(m) to the company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
fiscal year ended February 28, 1999 (File 1-5767), is expressly incorporated herein by this reference. * 
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(o) The 1984 Circuit City Stores, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan as Amended and Restated Effective October 1, 2002, filed as 
Exhibit 10(q) to the company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2003 (File No. 1-5767), is expressly 
incorporated herein by this reference. * 

(p) The company's 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, filed as Appendix B to the company's Definitive Proxy Statement dated May 9, 2003, for 
an Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on June 17, 2003 (File No. 1-5767), is expressly incorporated herein by this reference. * 

(q) Credit Agreement dated as of June 27, 2003, among the company, the Lenders party thereto, Fleet National Bank, Fleet Retail 
Finance Inc., Bank of America, N.A., Congress Financial Corporation, General Electric Capital Corporation, Bank One, NA, JPMorgan 
Chase Bank, National City Commercial Finance, Inc., The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc. and Wells Fargo Foothill, LLC, filed as 
Exhibit 10.1 to the company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 31, 2003 (File No. 1-5767), is expressly 
incorporated herein by this reference. 

(r) The Consumer Credit Card Program Agreement dated as of January 16, 2004, between Circuit City Stores, Inc. and Bank One, 
Delaware, N.A., filed herewith. 

(13) Annual Report 

Pages 12 through 43 of the company's Annual Report for the fiscal year ended February 29, 2004. 

(21) Subsidiaries of the Company 

(23) Consent of Independent Auditors 

(24) Powers of Attorney 

Page EI-2 

(31) Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications 

(i)Certification of CEO under Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

(ii)Certification of CFO under Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exhange Act of 1934 

(32) Section 1350 Certifications 

(i)Certification of CEO under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

(ii)Certification of CFO under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

*Indicates management contracts, compensatory plans or arrangements of the company required to be filed as an exhibit. 
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Exhibit 10(j) 

Circuit City Stores, Inc. 
Employment Agreement for Fiona P. Dias 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT is made, entered into, and is effective as of the 4th day of December, 2003 (the "Effective Date"), 
by and between Circuit City Stores, Inc. (the "Company") and Fiona P. Dias (the "Executive"). 

WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ the Executive as Senior Vice President of Circuit City Stores, Inc.; 

WHEREAS, the Company recognizes the Executive's intimate knowledge and experience in the business of the Company, and desires 
to secure the employment of the Executive in the role of Senior Vice President of the Company; 

WHEREAS, the Executive will develop and/or come in contact with the Company's proprietary and confidential information which is 
not readily available to the public, and which is of great importance to the Company and is treated by the Company as secret and 
confidential information; and 

WHEREAS, the Company desires to modify certain terms of Executive's employment agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Executive's continued employment and of the mutual covenants and agreements of the 
parties set forth in this Agreement, and of other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows: 

Article 1. Term of Employment 

The Company hereby agrees to employ the Executive and the Executive hereby accepts employment as Senior Vice President of the 
Company, in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth herein, for an initial period of one (1) year, commencing as of the 
Effective Date of this Agreement as indicated above (the "Initial Term"); subject, however, to earlier termination as expressly provided 
herein. 

The Initial Term shall automatically be renewed for additional periods of one (1) year each at the end of the Initial Term, and then again 
after each successive year thereafter (collectively, the "Renewal Periods," which, together with the Initial Term, constitute the "Term" 
of this Agreement). However, either party may terminate this Agreement at the end of the Initial Term, or at the end of any Renewal 
Period, by giving the other party written notice of intent not to renew, delivered at least forty-five (45) days prior to the end of the 
Initial Term or any Renewal Period. For purposes of this Agreement, an "Employment Year" shall mean any twelve (12) month period 
during the Term of this Agreement beginning on the Effective Date or on any anniversary thereof. 

Article 2. Position and Responsibilities 

During the Term of this Agreement, the Executive agrees to serve as Senior Vice President of the Company. In his/her capacity as 
Senior Vice President of the Company, the Executive shall report directly to the Executive's immediate manager and shall have the 
duties and responsibilities of Senior Vice President of the Company and such other duties and responsibilities not inconsistent with 
the performance of his/her duties as Senior Vice President of the Company. 

Article 3. Standard of Care 

During the term of this Agreement, the Executive agrees to devote substantially his/her full-time attention and energies to the 
Company's business. The Executive covenants, warrants, and represents that he/she shall: 

(a) Devote his/her full and best efforts and talents full time to the performance of his/her employment obligations and duties for the 
Company; 

(b) Exercise the highest degree of loyalty and the highest standards of conduct in the performance of his/her duties; 

(c) Comply with all rules, regulations, and policies established or issued by the Company; and 

(d) Refrain from taking advantage, for himself/herself or others, of any corporate opportunities of the Company. 

Article 4. Other Employment. 

The Executive shall not, during the term hereof, be interested directly or indirectly, in any manner, as partner, officer, director, investor, 
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stockholder, advisor, employee, or in any other capacity, in any other business similar to Company's business for the Executive's 
personal advantage or benefit or that of others. Any other employment or position which might reasonably be deemed contrary to the 
best interests of the Company is prohibited. During the term of employment hereunder, the Executive agrees to obtain the Company's 
written consent prior to entering into any other occupation, even if dissimilar to that of the Company. Such consent may be granted or 
withheld, in the Company's absolute discretion. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to prevent or limit the right of the Executive 
to invest in the capital stock or other securities of any corporation whose stock or securities are regularly traded on any public 
exchange, nor shall anything herein contained be deemed to prevent the Executive from investing in real estate for his/her own benefit 
(so long as such investment (a) is not related to or in support of any entity engaged in a business similar to that of the Company or (b) 
does not detract from the Executive's performance of his/her duties and obligations hereunder). 

Article 5. Compensation and Benefits 

As remuneration for all services to be rendered by the Executive during the Employment Period, and as consideration for complying 
with the covenants herein, the Company shall pay and provide to the Executive the following: 

5.1. Base Salary. During the Term of this Agreement, the Company shall pay the Executive a Base Salary in an amount which shall be 
established and approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors; provided, however, that such Base Salary shall 
be established at a rate of not less than $375,000 per year. This Base Salary shall be subject to all appropriate federal and state 
withholding taxes and payable in accordance with the normal payroll practices of the Company. The Base Salary shall be reviewed at 
least annually following the Effective Date of this Agreement, while the Term of this Agreement is in force, to ascertain whether, in the 
judgment of the Compensation Committee, such Base Salary should be changed. If changed, the Base Salary as stated above shall, 
likewise, be changed for all purposes of this Agreement. 

5.2. Annual Bonus. In addition to his/her Base Salary, the Executive shall be entitled to participate in the Company's short-term 
incentive program, as such program may exist from time to time during the Term of this Agreement. 

Under the Company's short-term incentive plan, the Executive has the opportunity to earn an annual bonus with respect to any fiscal 
year of the Company ("Annual Bonus"). The Annual Bonus, if earned with respect to a particular fiscal year, will generally be in an 
amount that is not less than forty percent (40%) of the Executive's Base Salary for the fiscal year with respect to which the Annual 
Bonus is being paid (the "Minimum Bonus Rate") and is commensurate with the position of Senior Vice President of the Company. 

The award and amount of any Annual Bonus shall be determined under the Company's short-term incentive plan, at the sole discretion 
of the Company's Compensation Committee. If the Minimum Bonus Rate is changed, it shall, likewise, be changed for all purposes of 
this Agreement. 

5.3. Long-Term Incentives. During the Term of this Agreement, the Executive shall be eligible to participate in the Company's long-term 
incentive plan, to the extent that the Board of Directors of the Company or the Compensation Committee, in their discretion, determines 
is appropriate. The Board of Directors will make its determination consistent with the methodology used by the Company for 
compensating its comparably situated employees. 

5.4. Retirement Benefits. During the Term of this Agreement, the Company shall provide to the Executive the opportunity for 
participation in all Company pension, insurance, fringe benefit, and executive compensation plans and programs, subject to the 
eligibility and participation requirements of such plans. 

5.5. Employee Benefits. During the Term of this Agreement, the Company shall provide the Executive all benefits, as commensurate 
with the position of Senior Vice President of the Company, but at a minimum not less than those provided by the Company to other 
comparably situated employees subject to the eligibility requirements and other provisions of such arrangements. Such benefits may 
include group term life insurance, comprehensive health and major medical insurance, dental and life insurance, and short-term and 
long-term disability. 

5.6. Perquisites. During the Term of this Agreement, the Company shall provide to the Executive, at the Company's cost, all perquisites, 
which are commensurate with the position of Senior Vice President of the Company. 

5.7. Right to Change Plans. By reason of Articles 5.5 and 5.6 herein, the Company shall not be obligated to institute, maintain, or refrain 
from changing, amending, or discontinuing any benefit plan or perquisite, so long as such changes are similarly applicable to 
comparably situated employees. 

Article 6. Expenses 

During the Term of this Agreement, the Company shall pay or reimburse the Executive for all ordinary and necessary expenses, in a 
reasonable amount, which the Executive incurs in performing his/her duties under this Agreement including, but not limited to, travel, 
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entertainment, professional dues and subscriptions, and all dues, fees, and expenses associated with membership in various 
professional, business, and civic associations and societies in which the Company finds that the Executive's participation is in the best 
interests of the Company. The payment of reimbursement of expenses shall be subject to such rules concerning documentation of 
expenses and the type or magnitude of such expenses as the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors may establish from 
time to time. 

Article 7. Employment Termination 

7.1. Termination Due to Retirement or Death. In the event the Executive's employment ends by reason of Retirement (defined as 
voluntary "Normal Retirement" under the then established definitions and rules of the Company's tax-qualified retirement plan) or the 
Executive's death during the term of this Agreement, the Executive's benefits shall be determined in accordance with the Company's 
retirement, survivor's benefits, insurance, and/or other applicable programs of the Company then in effect. In addition, all stock grants, 
except performance-based grants in the case of Retirement, will become immediately vested and may be exercised by the Executive, the 
Executive's personal representatives, distributees, legatees, or estate at any time before the expiration date of the grant. 

The Effective Date of Termination due to Retirement or death shall be (a) ninety (90) days following the date the Executive provides the 
Company with written notice that the Executive is ending employment by reason of Retirement or (b) on the Executive's date of death, 
as the case may be. Upon the Effective Date of Termination, the Company shall be obligated to pay the Executive or, if applicable, the 
Executive's estate; (a) any Base Salary or Annual Bonus that was accrued but not yet paid as of the Effective Date of Termination; plus 
(b) a pro rata share of the Annual Bonus for the Employment Year in which the Effective Date of Termination occurs (calculated by 
multiplying (i) the Base Salary in effect on the Effective Date of Termination by (ii) the Minimum Bonus Rate in effect on the Effective 
Date of Termination and by (iii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of full completed days in the Employment Year 
through the Effective Date of Termination, and the denominator of which is three hundred sixty-five (365)); and (c) all other rights and 
benefits that the Executive is vested in, pursuant to other plans and programs of the Company. 

7.2. Termination Due to Disability. The Company shall have the right to terminate the Executive's employment for disability. For the 
purposes of this Agreement, disability shall mean any physical or mental illness or injury that causes the Executive to be unable to 
substantially perform the Executive's normal duties; provided however that the Executive shall not be considered disabled until: (i) the 
Executive has been so disabled for 180 days during any period of twelve (12) consecutive months; (ii) the Executive's attending 
physician shall have furnished to the Company certification that the return of the Executive to his/her normal duties is impossible or 
improbable; or (iii) the Executive is determined to be totally disabled by the disability insurer then insuring the Executive, if any. 

The Effective Date of Termination due to Disability shall be specified, in a written notice, by the Executive's immediate manager, and 
such written notice shall be delivered to the Executive, but shall be no less than thirty (30) calendar days after the delivery of such 
written notice to the Executive. Upon the Effective Date of Termination, the Company shall be obligated to pay the Executive [or, if 
applicable, the Executive's estate]: (a) any salary that was accrued but not yet paid as of the Effective Date of Termination; (b) the 
unpaid Annual Bonus, if any, with respect to the fiscal year preceding the Effective Date of Termination (such Annual Bonus, if any, 
to be determined in the manner it would have been determined and payable at the time it would have been payable under Article 5.2 
had there been no termination of the Employment Period); (c) a pro rata share of target Annual Bonus for the fiscal year in which the 
Effective Date of Termination occurs (the calculation of which the Annual Bonus is multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is 
the number of full completed days in the bonus plan year through the Effective Date of Termination, and the denominator of which is 
three hundred sixty-five (365)); and (d) all other rights and benefits that the Executive is vested in, pursuant to other plans and 
programs of the Company. 

It is expressly understood that the Disability of the Executive for a period of one hundred eighty (180) calendar days or less in the 
aggregate during any period of twelve (12) consecutive months, in the absence of any reasonable expectation that his/her Disability 
will exist for more than such a period of time, shall not constitute a failure by him/her to perform his/her duties hereunder and shall not 
be deemed a breach or default, and the Executive shall receive full compensation for any such period of Disability or for any other 
temporary illness or incapacity during the term of this Agreement. 

If the employment of the Executive terminates because of disability, all of the Executive's outstanding stock grants, excluding restricted 
stock grants issued under a performance based plan, will become immediately vested, effective as of the date of the Executive's 
disability. Then, the Executive, the Executive's personal representatives, distributees, or legatees may exercise the Executive's grants at 
any time before the expiration date of the grant. 

7.3. Voluntary Termination by the Executive. The Executive may terminate his/her employment and this Agreement at any time by 
giving the Company at least forty-five (45) days written notice. The Company reserves the right to require the Executive not to work 
during the notice period but shall pay the Executive his/her full Base Salary, at the rate then in effect as provided in Article 5.1 herein, 
[through the notice period] or [through the last day of the Executive's employment] plus all other benefits to which the Executive has a 
vested right on the last day of employment (for purposes of this paragraph, the Executive shall not be paid any Annual Bonus with 
respect to the fiscal year in which voluntary termination under this Article 7.3 occurs). The Company thereafter shall have no further 
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obligations under this Agreement. 

7.4. Involuntary Termination by the Company Without Cause. The Company may terminate the Executive's employment, at any time, 
for any reason other than death, Disability, Retirement, or for Cause ("involuntary termination without Cause"), by providing the 
Executive with at least forty-five (45) days written notice. 

(a)               The  Company's  decision  not to renew this  Agreement  at 
the 
                  Expiration  Date of the  Initial  Term or any  Renewal  
Period 
                  shall be  deemed an  involuntary  termination  without  
cause; 
                  provided,  however,  that for purposes of this Article 
7.4(a), 
                  no variation, alteration,  modification,  cancellation, 
change 
                  or amendment made to this  Agreement  pursuant to Article 
12.3 
                  or  12.4  at a time  other  than  the  Expiration  Date of 
the 
                  Initial  Term  or any  Renewal  Period,  shall  be  deemed  
an 
                  involuntary termination without Cause. 

(b)               Upon  the  Effective  Date  of  Termination  specified  by 
the 
                  Company for  termination  by the Company  without  cause,  
the 
                  Company  shall  pay  to  the   Executive,   in  equal  
monthly 
                  installments over the following  twenty-four (24) month 
period 
                  an  amount  equal to the  product  of two (2)  times  both 
the 
                  Executive's  Base  Salary and the  Executive's  target  
Annual 
                  Bonus established for the fiscal year in which the 
Executive's 
                  Effective Date of Termination  occurs.  The Company shall 
also 
                  pay to the  Executive  the amount equal to a pro rata share 
of 
                  the  Executive's  target  Annual  Bonus for the fiscal year 
in 
                  which  the   Effective   Date  of   Termination   occurs  
(the 
                  calculation  of which  the  Annual  Bonus is  multiplied  by 
a 
                  fraction,  the  numerator  of  which  is the  number  of  
full 
                  completed  days in the bonus plan year  through the  
Effective 
                  Date of  Termination,  and the  denominator  of which is 
three 
                  hundred  sixty-five  (365)).  In addition,  the Company  
shall 
                  continue,  at the same cost to the  Executive as existed as 
of 
                  the  Effective  Date of  Termination,  all health and  
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welfare 
                  benefit plan  participation  for two (2) full years  
following 
                  the Executive's termination of employment;  provided, 
however, 
                  that the applicable  COBRA "period of coverage" under any 
plan 
                  subject to Section 4980B of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, 
                  as amended  (the  "Code"),  or Sections 601 through 609 of 
the 
                  Employee  Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) 
shall 
                  begin as of the Effective Date of Termination. 

(c)               The Company shall also provide the Executive with 
outplacement 
                  services  not to  exceed  a cost  of  fifty  thousand  
dollars 
                  ($50,000). 

(d)               Any  unvested  stock  options  or any  outstanding  
restricted 
                  stock,  excluding  restricted  stock  grants  issued  under  
a 
                  performance  based plan,  that would  become  vested (that 
is, 
                  transferable and non-forfeitable) if the Executive remained 
an 
                  employee  through the Initial Term or the then current 
Renewal 
                  Period of this  Agreement will become vested as of the date 
of 
                  the Executive's termination of employment.  The Executive 
must 
                  satisfy the tax withholding requirements. 

(e)               The  Executive  will be credited  with age and service  
credit 
                  through the end of the Initial Term or current  Renewal 
Period 
                  of this Agreement for purposes of computing benefits under 
the 
                  Company's  pension,  medical and other benefit plans,  and 
the 
                  Company  will  continue  the  Executive's  coverage  under 
the 
                  Company's benefit plans as if the Executive  remained 
employed 
                  through the end of the term of this Agreement. 
Notwithstanding 
                  the  foregoing,  if crediting  such age and service  credit 
or 
                  continued    coverage   could   adversely   affect   the   
tax 
                  qualification or tax treatment of a benefit plan, or 
otherwise 
                  have  adverse  legal  ramifications  to either the plan or 
the 
                  Company,  the  Company  may pay the  Executive a lump sum 
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cash 
                  amount that reasonably approximates the after-tax value to 
the 
                  Executive  of  such  age  and  service  credit  and  
continued 
                  coverage  through  the end of the term of this  Agreement,  
in 
                  lieu of giving such credit and continued coverage. 

     The  Company  thereafter  shall  have no  further  obligations  under  
this 

Agreement. 

7.5. Termination For Cause. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to prevent the Company from terminating the Executive's 
employment under this Agreement, without notice or liability for doing so, for "Cause." 

For purposes of this Agreement, "Cause" means: 

(a) The Executive's material breach of this Agreement, which breach is not cured within ten (10) days of receipt by the Executive of 
written notice from the Company specifying the breach; 

(b) The Executive's gross negligence in the performance of his/her material duties hereunder, intentional nonperformance or intentional 
misperformance of such duties, misconduct or refusal to abide by or comply with the directives of the Board, his/her superior officers, 
or the Company's policies and procedures, which actions continue for a period of ten 
(10) days after receipt by the Executive of written notice of the need to cure or cease; 

(c) Conviction of a felony or other crime involving moral turpitude; 

(d) The Executive engaging in illegal conduct, dishonesty or fraud with respect to the business or affairs of the Company that in the 
reasonable judgment of the Company materially and adversely affects the operations or reputation of the Company; 

(e) Failure of the Executive to disclose to the Executive's manager a conflict of interest, of which the Executive knew or, with reasonable 
diligence, would have known, in connection with any transaction entered into on behalf of the Company; or 

(f) Failure of the Executive to agree to a modification of this Agreement, pursuant to paragraph 12.3 below, when the purpose of the 
modification is to comply with applicable federal, state and/or local laws or regulations, or when such modification is designed to 
further define the restrictions of Article 8 or otherwise enhance the enforcement of Article 8 without increasing the scope of the Article 
8 restrictions. 

In the event this Agreement is terminated for Cause, the Company shall pay the Executive his/her Base Salary through the Effective 
Date of Termination for cause and the Executive shall immediately thereafter forfeit all rights and benefits (other than vested benefits) 
he would otherwise have been entitled to receive under this Agreement. The Company thereafter shall have no further obligations 
under this Agreement. 

7.6. Termination for Good Reason. At any time during the term of this Agreement, the Executive may terminate this Agreement for 
Good Reason (as defined below) by giving the Company forty-five (45) days written notice, which notice sets forth in detail the facts 
and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for such termination. However, Company shall, at its option, have thirty 
(30) days from receipt of such written notice to cure any event or circumstance that could constitute Good Reason. 

If Company chooses not to cure, the Effective Date of Termination for Good Reason shall occur upon the expiration of the forty-five 
(45) days prior notice period that is specified by the Executive in the written notice, and the Company shall pay and provide to the 
Executive the benefits set forth in this Article 7.6. 

For purposes of this Agreement, Good Reason shall mean, without the Executive's express written consent, the occurrence of any one 
(1) or more of the following: 

(a) Failing to maintain the Executive's participation in the Company's annual bonus and long-term incentive plan in a manner that is 
consistent with other similarly situated Executive employees of the Company; 
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(b) Failing to maintain the Executive's benefits under, or relative level of participation in, the Company's employee benefit or retirement 
plans, perquisites, policies, practices, or arrangements in which the Executive participates as of the Effective Date of this Agreement at 
a level consistent with other similarly situated Executive employees of the Company; 

(c) Reducing the Executive's Base Salary; 

(d) Terminating the Executive's employment otherwise than as expressly permitted by this Agreement; or 

(e) Failing to comply with and satisfy Article 10.1 by requiring any successor to the Company to assume and agree to perform the 
Company's obligations hereunder. 

Upon the Effective Date of Termination, the Executive shall be entitled to receive the same payments and benefits as he/she is entitled 
to receive following an involuntary termination of his/her employment by the Company without Cause, as specified in Article 7.4 
herein. Said payment shall commence within forty-five (45) calendar days following the Effective Date of Termination. 

The Executive's right to terminate employment for Good Reason shall not be affected by the Executive's incapacity due to physical or 
mental illness. 

Article 8. Noncompetition and Confidentiality 

8.1. Noncompetition. 

(a) During the Executive's employment and for a period of two (2) years following the last day of the Executive's employment, the 
Executive shall not directly or indirectly compete with the Company by engaging, in a competitive capacity, in any business that is 
engaged in the same or similar business of the Company in one or more Metropolitan Statistical Areas ("MSAs") in which the 
Company is doing business on the last day of the Executive's employment. A business will not be considered to be in competition with 
the Company for purposes of this paragraph 8.1(a) or paragraph 8.1(b) below if: 

(i) The business or the operating unit of the business in which the Executive is employed or with which the Executive is associated 
(collectively the "Business Unit") is not engaged in the retail sales of consumer electronics; 

(ii) If sales of the Business Unit's products or services in the retail sales and service of consumer electronics constitute less than ten 
percent (10%) of such Business Unit's sales; or 

(iii) If the sales of the Business Unit in the retail sales and service of consumer electronics do constitute more than ten percent (10%) of 
the sales of the Business Unit, but there is no geographic overlap between such Business Unit's and the Company's business 
locations. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall be deemed to prevent or limit the right of the Executive to invest in the capital 
stock or other securities of any corporation whose stock or securities are regularly traded on any public exchange, nor shall anything 
herein contained be deemed to prevent Employee from investing in real estate for his/her own benefit (as long as such investment is 
not related to or in support of any entity engaged in the same or similar business as the Company in competition with the Company in 
one or more MSA's in which the Company is doing business during the Executive's employment). 

(b) During the Executive's employment and for a period of two (2) years following the last day of the Executive's employment, the 
Executive shall not directly or indirectly compete with the Company by engaging, in a competitive capacity, in any business engaged 
in the same or similar business of the Company in one or more MSAs where, on the last day of the Executive's employment, the 
Company is engaged in real estate site selection or has taken further steps toward the commencement of operations in the future, of 
which the Executive is aware. 

(c) The Executive agrees that competition, as set forth in Article 
8.1(a) above, shall include, but not be limited to, engaging in competitive activity, as an individual, as a partner, as a joint venturer with 
any other person or entity, or as an employee, agent, or representative of any other person or entity. 

(d) It is the specific intent of the parties that the Executive shall be restricted from competing directly or indirectly with any segment of 
the Company's business in which the Executive engaged prior to the last day of his/her employment and from any segment of the 
Company's business about which the Executive acquired proprietary or confidential information during the course of his/her 
employment. 

(e) If any provision of this Article 8.1 relating to the time period, geographic area or scope of restricted activities shall be declared by a 
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court of competent jurisdiction to exceed the maximum time period, geographic area or scope of activities, as applicable, that such court 
deems reasonable and enforceable, said time period, geographic area or scope of activities shall be deemed to be, and thereafter shall 
become, the maximum time period, scope of activities or largest geographic area that such court deems reasonable and enforceable and 
this Agreement shall automatically be considered to have been amended and revised to reflect such determination. 

(f) The Executive and the Company have examined in detail this Covenant Not to Compete and agree that the restraint imposed upon 
the Executive is reasonable in light of the legitimate interests of the Company, and it is not unduly harsh upon the Executive's ability to 
earn a livelihood. 

8.2. Non-Solicitation of Employees. The Executive agrees that during the Executive's employment with the Company and for a period of 
two (2) years following the last day of the Executive's employment, the Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, solicit or induce, or 
attempt to solicit or induce, any employee of the Company to leave the Company for any reason whatsoever or hire any individual 
employed by the Company. For purposes of this Article 8.2, employee shall mean any individual employed by the Company on the last 
day of the Executive's employment or within the three-month period prior to the last day of the Executive's employment. 

8.3. Confidentiality. The Company has advised the Executive and the Executive acknowledges that it is the policy of the Company to 
maintain as secret and confidential all Protected Information (as defined below), and that Protected Information has been and will be 
developed at substantial cost and effort to the Company. The Executive agrees to hold in strict confidence and safeguard any 
information of or about the Company gained by the Executive in any manner or from any source during the Executive's employment. 
The Executive shall not, without the prior written consent of the Company, at any time, directly or indirectly, divulge, furnish, use, 
disclose or make accessible to any person, firm, corporation, association, or other entity (otherwise than as may be required in the 
regular course of the Executive's employment), either during the Executive's employment with the Company or subsequent to the last 
day of the Executive's employment, any Protected Information, or cause any such information of the Company to enter the public 
domain. 

The Executive understands and agrees that any information, data and/or trade secrets about Company or its suppliers and/or 
distributors is the property of the Company and is essential to the protection of the Company's goodwill and to the maintenance of the 
Company's competitive position and accordingly should be kept secret. For purposes of this Agreement, "Protected Information" 
means trade secrets, confidential and proprietary business information of or about the Company, and any other information of the 
Company, including, customer lists (including potential customers), sources of supply, processes, plans, materials, pricing information, 
internal memoranda, marketing plans, promotional plans, internal policies, research, purchasing, accounting and financial information, 
computer programs, hardware, software, and products and services which may be developed from time to time by the Company and its 
agents or employees, including the Executive; provided, however, that information that is in the public domain (other than as a result 
of a breach of this Agreement), approved for release by the Company or lawfully obtained from third parties who are not bound by a 
confidentiality agreement with the Company, is not Protected Information. 

Nothing contained in this Article is intended to reduce in any way protection available to the Company pursuant to the Uniform Trade 
Secrets Act as adopted in Virginia or any other state or other applicable laws which prohibit the misuse or disclosure of confidential or 
proprietary information. 

8.4. Acknowledgement of Covenants. The parties hereto acknowledge that the Executive's services are of a special, extraordinary, and 
intellectual character which gives him/her unique value, and that the business of the Company and its subsidiaries is highly 
competitive, and that violation of any of the covenants provided in this Article 8 would cause immediate, immeasurable, and irreparable 
harm, loss, and damage to the Company not adequately compensable by a monetary award. The Executive acknowledges that the time, 
scope of activities and geographical area restrained by the provisions of this Article 8 are reasonable and do not impose a greater 
restraint than is necessary to protect the goodwill of the Company's business. The Executive further acknowledges that he/she and the 
Company have negotiated and bargained for the terms of this Agreement and that the Executive has received adequate consideration 
for entering into this Agreement. In the event of any such breach or threatened breach by the Executive of any one or more of such 
covenants, the Company shall be entitled to such equitable and injunctive relief as may be available to restrain the Executive from 
violating the provisions hereof. Nothing herein shall be construed as prohibiting the Company from pursuing any other remedies 
available at law or in equity for such breach or threatened breach, including the recovery of damages and the immediate termination of 
the employment of the Executive hereunder for cause. 

Article 9. Change in Control 

9.1. Change in Control. This Article 9 shall not become effective, and the Company shall have no obligation hereunder, if the 
employment of the Executive with the Company shall terminate prior to a Change in Control (as defined in Article 9.2 below) of the 
Company. 

9.2. Definition of Change in Control. Change in Control of the Company means, and shall be deemed to have occurred, upon the first to 
occur of any of the following events: 
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(a) The acquisition by any individual, entity, or group (a "Person"), including a "person" within the meaning of Section 
13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), but excluding an Affiliate (as defined 
below) of the Company, of beneficial ownership within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act, of thirty-five 
percent (35%) or more of either: 
(i) the then outstanding shares of common stock of the Circuit City Group (the "Outstanding Common Stock"); or (ii) the combined 
voting power of the then outstanding securities of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors (the 
"Outstanding Voting Securities"); excluding, however, the following: (A) any acquisition directly from the Company (excluding an 
acquisition resulting from the exercise of an option, conversion right, or exchange privilege unless the security being so exercised, 
converted or exchanged was acquired directly from the Company); (B) any acquisition by the Company; (C) any acquisition by an 
employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any corporation controlled by the Company; or 
(D) any acquisition by any corporation pursuant to a transaction which complies with clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) of subsection (c) of this 
Article 9.2; 

(b) Individuals who, as of the Effective Date, constitute the Board of Directors (the "Incumbent Board") cease for any reason to 
constitute at least a majority of such Board; provided that any individual who becomes a director of the Company subsequent to the 
Effective Date, whose election, or nomination for election by the Company's stockholders, was approved by the vote of at least a 
majority of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board shall be deemed a member of the Incumbent Board; and provided 
further, that any individual who was initially elected as a director of the Company as a result of an actual or threatened election 
contest, as such terms are used in Rule 14a-11 of Regulation 14A promulgated under the Exchange Act, or any other actual or 
threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of any Person other than the Board shall not be deemed a member of the 
Incumbent Board; 

(c) The consummation of a reorganization, merger or consolidation of the Company or sale or other disposition of all or substantially all 
of the assets of the Company (a "Corporate Transaction"); excluding, however, a Corporate Transaction pursuant to which: (i) all or 
substantially all of the individuals or entities who are the beneficial owners, respectively, of the Outstanding Common Stock and the 
Outstanding Voting Securities immediately prior to such Corporate Transaction will beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 
sixty percent (60%) of, respectively, the outstanding shares of common stock, and the combined voting power of the outstanding 
securities of such corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, as the case may be, of the corporation resulting 
from such Corporate Transaction (including, without limitation, a corporation, which as a result of such transaction owns the Company 
or all or substantially all of the Company's assets either directly or indirectly) in substantially the same proportions relative to each 
other as their ownership, immediately prior to such Corporate Transaction, of the Outstanding Common Stock and the Outstanding 
Voting Securities, as the case may be; (ii) no Person (other than: 
the Company; any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any corporation controlled by 
the Company; the corporation resulting from such Corporate Transaction; and any Person which beneficially owned, immediately prior 
to such Corporate Transaction, directly or indirectly, twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the Outstanding Common Stock or the 
Outstanding Voting Securities, as the case may be) will beneficially own, directly or indirectly, twenty-five percent (25%)or more of, 
respectively, the outstanding shares of common stock of the corporation resulting from such Corporate Transaction or the combined 
voting power of the outstanding securities of such corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors; and (iii) 
individuals who were members of the Incumbent Board will constitute at least a majority of the members of the board of directors of the 
corporation resulting from such Corporate Transaction; or 

(d) The consummation of a plan of complete liquidation, dissolution, or sale of substantially all the assets of the Company. 

For purposes of this Article 9, "Affiliate" shall mean with reference to a specified Person, any Person that directly or indirectly through 
one (1) or more intermediaries controls or is controlled by or is under common control with the specified Person. For purposes of this 
definition, "control" (including, with correlative meaning, the terms "controlled by" and "under common control with"), as used in 
respect to any Person, shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of management 
and policies of such Person, whether through ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise. 

9.3. Change-in-Control Severance Benefits. If at any time during the Term of this Agreement there is a Change in Control of the 
Company and the Executive's employment is terminated for any reason other than death, Disability, Retirement, Voluntary Termination 
other than Good Reason or Cause within the two (2) year period following the Change in Control or the Executive voluntarily 
terminates for any reason in the thirteenth month following a Change in Control of the Company, the Company shall provide to the 
Executive the following: 

(a) Base Salary and all other benefits due him/her as if he/she had remained an employee pursuant to Article 5 through the remainder of 
the month in which the termination occurs, less applicable withholding taxes and other authorized payroll deductions; 

(b) The amount equal to a pro rata share of target Annual Bonus for the fiscal year in which the Effective Date of Termination occurs 
(the calculation of which the Annual Bonus is multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of full completed days in 
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the bonus plan year through the Effective Date of Termination, and the denominator of which is three hundred sixty-five (365)); 

(c) A lump-sum severance allowance in an amount that is equal to the product of three (3) times both the Executive's Base Salary at the 
rate in effect immediately prior to the termination and the Executive's target Annual Bonus established for the fiscal year in which the 
Executive's termination of employment occurs; 

(d) Continuation at the same cost to the Executive as existed as of the Effective Date of Termination of Agreement of all health, welfare, 
and benefit plan participation for three (3) full years following employment termination; 

(e) Provision of outplacement services for the Executive not to exceed a cost of fifty thousand dollars ($50,000); 

(f) A lump-sum payment equal to the three (3) year costs of perquisites outlined in Article 5.6 above; and 

(g) Any unvested stock options or any outstanding restricted stock, excluding restricted stock grants issued under a performance 
based plan, that would become vested (that is, transferable and non-forfeitable) if the Executive remained an employee through the 
Initial Term or the then current Renewal Period of this Agreement will become vested as of the date of the Executive's termination of 
employment. The Executive must satisfy the tax withholding requirements. 

9.4. Excise Tax Equalization Payment. In the event that the Executive becomes entitled to severance benefits under this Agreement or 
any other agreement with or plan of the Company (in the aggregate, the "Total Payments"), if any of the Total Payments will [be 
subject to the tax (the "Excise Tax") imposed by Section 4999 of the Code] or any similar excise tax that may hereafter be imposed), the 
Company shall pay to the Executive in cash an additional amount (the "Gross-Up Payment"), such that the net amount retained by the 
Executive after deduction of any Excise Tax upon the Total Payments and any federal, state, and local income tax and Excise Tax upon 
the Gross-Up Payment provided for by this Article 9.4 (including FICA and FUTA), shall be equal to the Total Payments. The 
Company shall make such payment to the Executive as soon as practicable following the Effective Date of Termination, but in no event 
beyond thirty (30) days from such date. 

For purposes of determining the amount of the Gross-Up Payment, the Executive shall be deemed to pay federal income taxes at the 
highest marginal rate of federal income taxation in the calendar year in which the Gross-Up Payment is to be made, and state and local 
income taxes at the highest marginal rate of taxation in the state and locality of the Executive's residence on the Effective Date of 
Termination, net of the maximum reduction in federal income taxes which could be obtained from deduction of such state and local 
taxes. 

The Company's Compensation Committee shall determine, based upon the advice of the Company's independent certified public 
accountants, whether any payments or benefits hereunder are subject to the Excise Tax. 

9.5. Subsequent Recalculation. In the event the Internal Revenue Service adjusts the computation of the Company under Article 9.4 
herein so that the Executive did not receive the greatest net benefit, the Company shall reimburse the Executive for the full amount 
necessary to make the Executive whole, plus a market rate of interest, as determined by the Compensation Committee. 

Article 10. Assignment 

10.1. Assignment by Company, This Agreement may and shall be assigned or transferred to, and shall be binding upon and shall inure 
to the benefit of, any successor of the Company, and any such successor shall be deemed substituted for all purposes of the 
"Company" under the terms of this Agreement. As used in this Agreement, the term "successor" shall mean any person, firm, 
corporation, or business entity which, at any time, whether by merger, purchase, or otherwise, acquires all or substantially all of the 
assets or the business of the Company. In addition, the obligations of the Executive under Articles 8 and 12 of this Agreement shall 
continue after the termination of the Executive's employment and shall be binding on the Executive's heirs, executors, legal 
representatives and assigns. 

Failure of the Company to obtain the agreement of any successor to be bound by the terms of this Agreement prior to the 
effectiveness of any such succession shall be a breach of this Agreement, and shall immediately entitle the Executive to compensation 
from the Company in the same amount and on the same terms as the Executive would be entitled in the event of a Termination of 
Employment for Good Reason as provided by Article 7.6. Except as provided herein, the Company may not otherwise assign this 
Agreement. 

10.2. Assignment by Executive. The services to be provided by the Executive to the Company hereunder are personal to the Executive, 
and the Executive's duties may not be assigned by the Executive; provided, however, that this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of 
and be enforceable by the Executive's personal or legal representatives, executors, and administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, 
devisees, and legatees. If the Executive dies while any amounts payable to the Executive hereunder remain outstanding, all such 
amounts, unless otherwise provided herein, shall be paid in accordance with the terms of this Agreement to the Executive's devisee, 
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legatee, or other designee or, in the absence of such designee, to the Executive's estate. 

Article 11. Dispute Resolution and Notice 

11.1. Issue Resolution. Except for actions initiated by the Company to enjoin a breach by, and/or recover damages from the Executive 
related to violation of any of the restrictive covenants in Article 8 of this Agreement, which Company may bring in an appropriate 
court of law or equity, any disagreement between the Executive and the Company concerning anything covered by this Agreement or 
concerning other terms or conditions of the Executive's employment or the termination of the Executive's employment will be settled by 
final and binding arbitration pursuant to the Company's Associate Issue Resolution Program. The Dispute Resolution Agreement and 
the Dispute Resolution Rules and Procedures are incorporated herein by reference as if set forth in full in this Agreement. The decision 
of the arbitrator will be final and binding on both the Executive and the Company and may be enforced in a court of appropriate 
jurisdiction. 

11.2. Notice. Any notices, requests, demands, or other communications provided for by this Agreement shall be sufficient if in writing, 
and if sent by registered or certified mail to the Executive at the last address he/she has filed in writing with the Company or, in the 
case of the Company, at its principal offices. 

Article 12. Miscellaneous 

12.1. Entire Agreement. This Agreement supersedes any prior agreements or understandings, oral or written, between the parties 
hereto, with respect to the subject matter hereof, and constitutes the entire agreement of the parties with respect thereto. Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing sentence, this Agreement completely supersedes any and all prior employment agreements 
entered into by and between the Company, and the Executive, and all amendments thereto, in their entirety. 

12.2. Return of Materials. Upon the termination of the Executive's employment with the Company, however such termination is 
effected, the Executive shall promptly deliver to Company all property, records, materials, documents, and copies of documents 
concerning the Executive's business and/or its customers (hereinafter collectively "Company Materials") which the Executive has in 
his/her possession or under his/her control at the time of termination of his/her employment. The Executive further agrees not to take 
or extract any portion of Company Materials in written, computer, electronic or any other reproducible form without the prior written 
consent of the Executive's immediate manager. 

12.3. Modification. This Agreement shall not be varied, altered, modified, canceled, changed, or in any way amended except by mutual 
agreement of the parties in a written instrument executed by the parties hereto or their legal representatives. 

12.4. Severability. It is the intention of the parties that the provisions of the restrictive covenants herein shall be enforceable to the 
fullest extent permissible under the applicable law. If any clause or provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid, or 
unenforceable under present or future laws effective during the term hereof, then the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected 
thereby, and in lieu of each clause or provision of this Agreement which is illegal, invalid or unenforceable, there shall be added, as a 
part of this Agreement, a clause or provision as similar in terms to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable clause or provision as may be 
possible and as may be legal, valid, and enforceable. 

12.5. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one (1) or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, 
but all of which together will constitute one and the same Agreement. 

12.6. Tax Withholding. The Company may withhold from any benefits payable under this Agreement all federal, state, city, or other 
taxes as may be required pursuant to any law or governmental regulation or ruling. 

12.7. Restrictive Covenants of the Essence. The restrictive covenants of the Executive set forth herein are of the essence of this 
Agreement; they shall be construed as independent of any other provision in this Agreement; and the existence of any claim or cause 
of action of the Executive against the Company, whether predicated on this Agreement or not, shall not constitute a defense to the 
enforcement by the Company of the restrictive covenants contained herein. The Company shall at all times maintain the right to seek 
enforcement of these provisions whether or not the Company has previously refrained from seeking enforcement of any such 
provision as to the Executive or any other individual who has signed an agreement with similar provisions. 

12.8 Beneficiaries. The Executive may designate one (1) or more persons or entities as the primary and/or contingent beneficiaries of 
any amounts to be received under this Agreement. Such designation must be in the form of a signed writing acceptable to the 
Executive's immediate manager. The Executive may make or change such designation at any time. 

12.9. Payment Obligation Absolute. The Company's obligation to make the payments and the arrangement provided for herein shall be 
absolute and unconditional, and shall not be affected by any circumstances, including, without limitation, any offset, counterclaim, 
recoupment, defense, or other right which the Company may have against the Executive or anyone else. All amounts payable by the 
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Company hereunder shall be paid without notice or demand. Each and every payment made hereunder by the Company shall be final, 
and the Company shall not seek to recover all or any part of such payment from the Executive or from whomsoever may be entitled 
thereto, for any reasons whatsoever. 

The Executive shall not be obligated to seek other employment in mitigation of the amounts payable or arrangements made under any 
provision of this Agreement, and the obtaining of any such other employment shall in no event effect any reduction of the Company's 
obligations to make the payments and arrangements required to be made under this Agreement; provided, however, that continued 
health, welfare, and benefit plan participation pursuant to Article 
7.4 or Article 9.3 herein shall be discontinued in the event the Executive becomes eligible to receive substantially similar benefits from a 
successor employer. 

12.10. Contractual Rights to Benefits. This Agreement establishes and vests in the Executive a contractual right to the benefits to 
which he is entitled hereunder. However, nothing herein contained shall require or be deemed to require, or prohibit or be deemed to 
prohibit, the Company to segregate, earmark, or otherwise set aside any funds or other assets, in trust or otherwise, to provide for any 
payments to be made or required hereunder. 

Article 13. Governing Law 

To the extent not preempted by federal law, the provisions of this Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the 
laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, without reference to Virginia's choice of law statutes or decisions. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive and the Company have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date. 

CIRCUIT CITY STORES, INC. 

By: /s/W. Alan McCollough 
    --------------------- 
    W. Alan McCollough 
    Chairman, President and Chief Executive 
Officer 

EXECUTIVE: 

/s/Fiona P. Dias 
-----------------

Fiona P. Dias 

ATTEST: 
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CONSUMER CREDIT CARD PROGRAM AGREEMENT 

This Consumer Credit Card Program Agreement ("Agreement") is dated as of January 16, 2004, effective as of the Effective Date, by 
and between Circuit City Stores, Inc. ("Company"), a Virginia corporation, with its principal place of business at 9950 Mayland Drive, 
Richmond, Virginia, and Bank One, Delaware, N.A. ("Bank"), a national banking association with its principal place of business at 
Three Christina Centre, 201 N. Walnut St., Wilmington, Delaware. 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, Bank is in the business of establishing and managing programs to offer payment products and extend revolving credit to 
qualified consumers for the purchase of goods and/or services from merchants; and 

WHEREAS, Bank and Company are among the parties to the Purchase and Sale Agreement, pursuant to which Bank will purchase from 
Company Bank the Accounts related to Company's U.S. consumer private label credit card business and U.S. consumer co-branded 
general purpose bankcard business and other related assets; and 

WHEREAS, Company and the other Authorized Entities are in the business of selling Company Goods and/or Services and serving 
customers; and 

WHEREAS, Company and Bank have agreed to establish a consumer private label credit card program pursuant to which Bank shall 
offer payment products and extend credit to Cardholders for purchases of Company Goods and/or Services from Company and other 
Authorized Entities, which program shall include both new Accounts created on and after the Closing Date and existing Accounts 
purchased by Bank pursuant to the Purchase and Sale Agreement, all as more fully described herein; and 

WHEREAS, Company and Bank have agreed to establish a co-branded consumer general purpose bankcard program pursuant to 
which Bank shall offer payment products and extend credit to Cardholders for purchases of goods and/or services from various 
merchants, including the Company and other Authorized Entities, and for cash advances, which program shall include both new 
Accounts created on and after the Closing Date and existing Accounts purchased by Bank pursuant to the Purchase and Sale 
Agreement, and a portion of which program shall include co-branded credit card products with a consumer reward program as part of 
the value proposition, all as more fully described herein; and 

WHEREAS, Company desires to establish a Program which will support sales of Company Goods and/or Services by Company and 
other Authorized Entities, increase sales revenues at Company and other Authorized Entities, increase and enhance Company's and 
such other Authorized Entities' customer bases, and enhance Company's and such other Authorized Entities' goodwill in their 
respective customer bases, including the existing base of customers 
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whose private label or co-branded Accounts are being purchased by Bank pursuant to the Purchase and Sale Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, Bank desires to offer payment products and extend credit pursuant to Private Label Accounts and Co-Branded Bankcard 
Accounts and expand the use of Private Label Accounts and Co-Branded Bankcard Accounts, and to have the opportunity to propose 
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other types of payment products which, if agreed upon by Bank and Company, may be offered by Bank in connection with the 
Program; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms and conditions stated herein, and for good and valuable consideration, the receipt 
and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

1.1. Certain Defined Terms. Unless otherwise specifically stated, capitalized terms used in this Agreement and the attached Exhibits, 
shall have the meanings ascribed to them in Exhibit 1.1. 

1.2.Usage. Unless the context indicates otherwise, when used in the singular, the term "party" shall mean Bank, on the one hand, and 
Company, on the other hand. 

1.3.Conventions. Unless the context indicates otherwise, the use of: (a) the word "including", "includes" and other variation of such 
shall be deemed to be equivalent to "including, but not limited to"; (b) the word "amended" shall mean "amended, modified, restated or 
supplemented, from time to time;" and (c) the words "approval" or "approve" or "consent" shall mean that a party shall not 
unreasonably withhold the same, unless the provision in question makes reference to the party in question having "sole discretion" in 
connection with its giving of such approval or consent. 

1.4.Interpretation. All references to the "Agreement" shall be deemed to be a reference to this Agreement and each of the Exhibits 
hereto. In the event there are inconsistencies between this Agreement and the Exhibits, this Agreement governs. 

ARTICLE II 
ESTABLISHMENT AND PROMOTION OF THE PROGRAM 

2.1.Commencement of Program and Establishment of Accounts. 

(a) Commencing on the Closing Date, Company and Bank shall establish the Program, including both the Private Label Program and 
Co-Branded Bankcard Program, for the 
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purpose of making open-end, revolving credit available, with the possible addition, upon mutual agreement of the parties, of other 
payment products including closed-end credit products to existing and new qualified customers and prospective customers of 
Company and other Authorized Entities to finance purchases of Company Goods and/or Services from the Company and other 
Authorized Entities, Ancillary Products, purchases under Incidental Marketing Programs, purchases from other merchants and Balance 
Build Programs (in the case of the Co-Branded Bankcard Accounts or Rewards Accounts), pursuant to the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement. 

(b) Bank shall operate the Program in accordance with this Agreement, including the Performance Standards set forth in Exhibit 2.1(b), 
and shall, to the extent permissible under Applicable Law in a commercially reasonable manner, emphasize the Company's (or 
Authorized Entity's, as the case may be) role, while de-emphasizing Bank's role (and the role of Bank's Affiliates and sub-contractors 
acting on Bank's behalf) as issuer. 

(c) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, for each consumer who has an address within the fifty (50) states of the 
United States and the District of Columbia, (the "United States" or "U.S."), and who applies for a Private Label Account, Co-Branded 
Bankcard Account or Rewards Account after the Closing Date (i) in person at a retail Company Location within the United States, (ii) 
by mailing to Bank a Credit Card Application, (iii) via the Internet or Company website in the same manner as the program that was 
previously tested by Company Bank, to be available at Closing so long as required systems development by Company has been 
completed, (iv) by telephone in the manner to be mutually agreed to by the parties, (v) by any direct mail offerings, (vi) through an 
APO or FPO address for those members of the U.S. and state military residing outside the U.S., or (vii) through any other application 
method mutually agreed to by the parties, and in each case who qualifies for credit as determined by Bank under the Private Label 
Program or the Co-Branded Bankcard Program, as the case may be, Bank shall open a new Private Label Account, Co-Branded 
Bankcard Account or Rewards Account, as the case may be, assign to each an appropriate credit limit as determined by Bank, issue to 
such applicant a Credit Card, activate such applicant's Credit Card, and grant credit to such Cardholder for Purchases and, in the case 
of a Cardholder of a Co-Branded Bankcard Account or Rewards Account, purchases from other merchants who honor the Credit Card 
and cash advances. 

(d) Services. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Bank shall perform all of the services necessary to establish, 
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operate and actively market the Program in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement at its own expense (except as 
otherwise expressly set forth herein), in accordance with the Program resource requirements set forth in Exhibit 2.1(d) ("Services"), 
including: 

i. Establish, operate and market (A) the Private Label Program and (B) the Co-Branded Bankcard Program; 

ii. Actively solicit, accept, and review Credit Card Applications from, or on behalf of, prospective Cardholders; 
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iii. Determine the creditworthiness of prospective Cardholders in accordance with the Credit Criteria; 

iv. Establish Accounts for all approved applicants with credit limits to be set by Bank; 

v. Provide all required disclosures, terms and conditions to Cardholders, including Credit Card Agreements; 

vi. Produce and issue Credit Cards to approved applicants; 

vii. Provide authorizations to Company and other Authorized Entities for Purchases under the Program, in accordance with the 
Operating Procedures; 

viii. Extend credit on Accounts to Cardholders for Purchases and, in the case of Co-Branded Bankcard Accounts and Rewards 
Accounts, for cash advances; 

ix. Support the marketing efforts in this Agreement with respect to Accounts; 

x. Generate and deliver Billing Statements to Cardholders; 

xi. Process and apply Cardholder payments in a timely manner to the applicable Accounts; 

xii. Manage all collection, charge-off, recovery and bankruptcy processes arising from defaulted Accounts; 

xiii. Respond to all Cardholder service and billing inquiries and disputes; 

xiv. Settle with Company for any amounts due hereunder in accordance with Article IV; 

xv. Operate the Program and service all Cardholders in accordance with this Agreement ; 

xvi. Offer Ancillary Products and Balance-Building Programs to Cardholders, consistent with this Agreement or in the manner and 
timing provided for in the Marketing Plan or otherwise agreed upon by the Management Committee; 

xvii. Assist Company and Authorized Entities in connection with recovery of sales taxes on Written-Off Accounts as provided in 
Exhibit 
2.6(g); 

xviii. Provide live operator service to Cardholders and store personnel through dedicated and distinct toll free numbers, with live 
operator assistance to be available during all hours that Company or Authorized Entity retail stores are open for business; and 
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xix. Provide authorizations, VRU and Internet services on a 24x7, 365/366-day basis beginning on the Closing Date. 

(e) Compliance with Applicable Law. Bank shall perform its Services under this Agreement in compliance with Applicable Law. Bank 
shall inform Company of any changes to Applicable Law to the extent such changes in Applicable Law require a change by Company 
or any other Authorized Entity in its activities in connection with the Program. Among other things, Bank will inform Company of any 
requirements of Applicable Law which may be imposed on Company in connection with the offer of Ancillary Products, or any 
Incidental Marketing Program provided by Bank as mutually agreed upon by Company and Bank pursuant to 
Section 3.7 in connection with Accounts. 

(f) Performance Standards. Bank will perform the Services in accordance with this Agreement, including the Performance Standards set 
forth in Exhibit 2.1(b). Bank shall, among other things: 
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i. Operate on a 24x7, 365/366 day basis Company-branded customer service centers with sufficient staff, specifically trained and 
knowledgeable in the Program, whose primary responsibility it is to answer calls from Company customers and stores; provided, 
however, Bank may utilize such staff for backup and overflow support to other Bank customer service staff in such a manner as to not 
adversely affect such service to the Program. If performance standards are not met or cardholder survey results are not satisfactory, 
Bank agrees to work through the Management Committee to re-evaluate the staffing model and address any training needs to improve 
performance; 

ii. Utilize teams of shared and dedicated store support, risk management, systems development, finance, analytical support, human 
resources and marketing personnel for the management and operation of the Program as listed in Exhibit 2.1(d); 

iii. Obtain the approval of Company for standardized communications and marketing related communications with Company customers, 
including statement messages and statement inserts, customer service scripts, automated voice response unit scripts and promotional 
materials for use in the Program, excluding collections and delinquency communications (which, shall be made available to Company 
prior to first use but, subject to the proviso below, need not be approved by Company); provided however, that Company shall 
immediately notify Bank of any communications that Company determines in its commercially reasonable discretion impugn the 
integrity or reputation of the Company, or are deceptive or misleading in nature, and upon receipt of such notice Bank shall 
immediately cease or refrain from such communications; and, 

iv. Conduct, no less often than quarterly, Cardholder satisfaction surveys and provide the results to Company, consult with Company 
regarding the surveys and make adjustments to the survey at Company's reasonable request, permit Company reasonable access to 
audit survey results and, at Company's request and expense, have an independent third party conduct test surveys to validate the 
accuracy of Bank's internal Cardholder satisfaction surveys, providing results to Company and Bank. 
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2.2.Certain Obligations of Company Under the Program. 

(a) During the Term of this Agreement, Company shall, at its expense (unless otherwise specified herein) and shall cause the other 
Authorized Entities to, at their expense (unless otherwise specified herein), in accordance with the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement perform in-store services in a manner which is substantially equivalent to that provided immediately prior to the Effective 
Date. Beginning on the Closing Date, Company shall perform such services and shall cause the other Authorized Entities to perform 
such services, including the following activities: 

i. Accept Credit Cards in order that Cardholders may make Purchases on their Accounts; 

ii. Promote, accept and forward to Bank in accordance with the Operating Procedures, Credit Card Applications; 

iii. Obtain authorizations for Purchases; 

iv. Accept In-Store Payments from Cardholders; 

v. Comply with the Operating Procedures; and 

vi. Honor all issued and unredeemed Rewards through their expiration date. 

(b) Company shall provide, at its expense, and cause the other Authorized Entities, at their expense, to provide to Cardholders forms of 
Charge Slips and/or copies thereof, and forms of Credit Slips with respect to sales of Company Goods and/or Services and credits 
given with respect thereto. In addition, Company shall keep (and shall cause each other Authorized Entity to keep), at no expense to 
Bank, signatures on completed instant Credit Card Applications and provide copies of applicable signatures to Bank at its request in 
connection with customer service inquiries in accordance with the Operating Procedures. 

(c) For transactions in connection with the Program, Company shall (and shall cause each other Authorized Entity to) communicate 
electronically with Bank at the point of sale in the same manner Company communicated with the Company Bank prior to the Effective 
Date, with such changes as may be mutually agreed upon by the Company and the Bank. 

(d) Company shall actively promote the Program by including the following: (i) providing training to its employees regarding the 
Program; and 
(ii) providing Program materials to customers that are the most recent Program materials provided by Bank to Company Locations. 
Company shall include as part of the overall performance evaluations of store directors, their promotion of the Program and their 
Account production under the Program. 
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(e) Company agrees to maintain the functionality, as it existed prior to the Effective Date, at the point-of-sale to enable promotional 
offers to be provided to Cardholders, with such changes in functionality as may be mutually agreed upon by the Company and the 
Bank. 
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(f) Company agrees, to the extent necessary, to test any mutually agreed upon functionality before implementation of such 
functionality. 

(g) [Intentionally Omitted] 

(h) Company agrees to assist Bank in the manner described in Exhibit 
2.6(g) in connection with recovery of sales tax refunds for Written-Off Accounts. 

(i) Compliance with Applicable Law. Company shall perform its obligations under this Agreement in compliance with Applicable Law 
affecting the Company's business. Company shall inform Bank of any changes to such Applicable Law of which Company has 
knowledge that, Company reasonably believes will require a change by Bank in its activities in connection with the Program. 

2.3.Promotion of Program. 

(a) Bank and Company mutually agree to market actively the Program in accordance with the mutually agreed marketing plan 
("Marketing Plan"). 

(b) Company shall display conspicuously and make available at Company Locations, in the manner mutually agreed upon, Credit Card 
Applications and other promotional signage provided by Bank, to be used in connection with and promotion of the Program. Any 
in-store signage and in-store promotional materials, as well as any outbound telemarketing scripts, must be approved by Company 
prior to usage. Company shall review such materials and any merchandise used to encourage individuals to apply for or use Credit 
Cards and shall respond to Bank's requests for approval on a timely basis. In the event Company does not respond to Bank's written 
request for approval within five (5) business days following Company's receipt of such request, Company's approval shall be deemed 
granted and Bank may proceed to use such materials and merchandise. Any approval by Company of any materials that contain billing 
or credit terms is not intended to be and will not be construed to be an approval of such terms. Bank shall be responsible for any 
Truth-in-Lending or similar state credit disclosure verbiage provided by Bank to Company or any other Authorized Entity for use in 
advertising copy, and such verbiage shall be used without modification and in the manner specified by Bank. Bank shall provide such 
verbiage, and instructions for use, in the form of a copy specification manual developed by the Bank and administered by the 
Management Committee as it may be modified from time to time. Bank further reserves the right to communicate strictly legal 
information to Cardholders which it normally sends to its other cardholders and which does not utilize Company's name or logo, or 
contain any marketing material or relate to any change in terms of any Accounts (other than changes required by Applicable Law), 
without the prior approval of Company (but Bank shall provide samples of such communications for Company's review prior to first 
use thereof). 

Company, shall have the right to directly solicit applications for Credit Cards from Company customers without the direct participation 
of Bank. Any marketing materials developed by Company for that purpose must be approved, with respect to legal requirements, in 
writing by Bank prior to distribution by Company; however, any Credit Card Applications used for the Program must be supplied to 
Company by Bank. In the event Bank does not respond to 
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Company's written request for approval within five (5) business days following Bank's receipt of such request, Bank's approval shall be 
deemed granted and Company may proceed to use such materials. Advertising copy need not be approved by Bank so long as the 
Truth-in-Lending or similar state credit disclosure verbiage provided by Bank as set forth above is used without modification and in 
the manner specified by Bank in the specification manual referred to above and the intended timing for the release of such advertising 
copy makes it impracticable to obtain Bank's prior approval as set forth above (but Company shall provide such advertising copy for 
Bank's review prior to the use of such advertising copy). Company shall bear the expense of in-store signage; Bank shall pay for the 
expense of Cardholder terms and conditions and related disclosures; and Company and Bank shall split equally the cost of production 
of printed "take one" applications used in Company and Authorized Entity stores. 

(c) The design of any Credit Cards used will be mutually agreed upon by Company and Bank and subject to Applicable Law. Company 
shall have the right to approve the use of its Company Marks on Credit Card(s). In the event of any change in Company Marks, 
Company shall bear and promptly reimburse Bank for any additional expenses incurred by Bank in connection with the use of the 
altered Company Marks in connection with a mass re-issuance of Credit Cards mutually agreed upon by Bank and by Company. 
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(d) The Program is intended to serve as Company's primary source of co-branded and private label revolving credit for non-commercial 
customers of Company and of any Authorized Entities designated as such by Company. Subject to Company's rights pursuant to 
Section 2.3(e) below, during the Term Company will not promote any other Company co-branded or Company private label revolving 
credit or charge card to its non-commercial customers resident in the U.S., and will cause any Authorized Entities designated by 
Company to participate in the Program as provided in Exhibit 1.1 to not promote any other Company co-branded or Company private 
label revolving credit or charge card to their non-commercial customers resident in the U.S. Notwithstanding the immediately preceding 
sentence, Company, and any Authorized Entities, may themselves offer, and/or may arrange for third parties to offer, secondary forms 
of credit, including credit or charge card or cardless revolving credit or charge accounts, and/or closed end form of credit, which may 
involve Company's name and/or brand for the purpose of satisfying various legal requirements (but any plastics that may be issued 
will not bear Company's name or the Company Marks on the face thereof), to any customer or prospective customer who has been 
declined by Bank for credit under the Program or whose request for credit under the Program cannot be processed due to unavailability 
of Bank's authorization or application approval process attributable to some failure by Bank or Bank's process, or who has been 
approved by Bank for credit under the Program in an amount insufficient to accommodate any purchase of Company Goods and/or 
Services such customer or prospective customer desires to make, whether upon establishment of an Account or thereafter. At 
Company's request Bank will permit appropriate modifications to be made in Applications for Accounts received by Company or 
Authorized Entities at store locations or via the Internet, to enable such Applications for Accounts to be processed as requests for 
Bank's Accounts and as applications for secondary forms of credit. At applicant's request (which will be preprinted in the Bank's 
applications) Bank will forward to such third party sources of secondary financing (and to Company or Authorized Entity if they are 
sources) the applicant's application information and any credit scores and credit reports used in connection with Bank's credit 
evaluation to be used by such third party (or Company or Authorized Entity) solely for use and evaluation of such 
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secondary offer of credit. Bank will cooperate with Company or such Authorized Entity and any such third party source of secondary 
financing to make any necessary arrangements with the consumer reporting agencies to permit the foregoing to occur in an automated 
manner without further action on the part of applicant or Company or Authorized Entity or third party and without the completion of an 
additional application or the securing of an additional credit report, and with the transfers of data by Bank to occur within the 
timeframe set forth as the performance standard for application processing set forth in Exhibit 2.1(b). The details regarding the 
implementation of modifications requested by Company as aforesaid will be determined by the Management Committee, with such 
implementation to be complete by no later than the earlier of (i) six (6) months following the Closing Date or (ii) the date on which Bank 
materially and adversely changes its Credit Criteria with respect to the Program from the credit criteria used by Company Bank prior to 
the Effective Date hereof. (For purposes of the foregoing, "adversely" refers to changes which have the effect of making credit less 
available, or available to fewer Persons, than it otherwise would be.) Commencing immediately following the date of execution of this 
Agreement, Bank may begin interacting and coordinating efforts and working with Company's systems team to implement these 
arrangements, and Bank and Company hereby agree to cooperate and act in good faith to implement such arrangements within the 
aforementioned deadline. Incremental costs reasonably incurred by Bank in connection with making such modifications in forms 
and/or procedures to accommodate any such forms of secondary credit as may be requested by Company as aforesaid, will be 
reimbursed by Company, provided Bank advises Company of the approximate amount of such incremental costs before incurring them. 
Nothing herein will be considered to limit Company's or Authorized Entities' right to enter into a relationship for a corporate T&E or 
expense related card product for employee business use. With regard to any Company division or Affiliate or other Person which 
Company designates to participate in the Program as provided in the definition of "Authorized Entity" in Exhibit 1.1, but whose 
participation requires Bank's approval pursuant to such definition, or whose participation on the basis requested by Company requires 
Bank's approval of a differentiation proposed by Company pursuant to Section 3.1(b), if Bank fails to send Company written notice 
approving such participation (and approving such differentiation, as applicable) within 30 days following Bank's receipt of Company's 
notification of such designation, the exclusivity provisions above in this subsection (d), the provisions of subsection (g) below, and 
the provisions of Section 9.2(a)(2) below, shall have no application whatsoever to such division, Affiliate or other Person. 

(e) Notwithstanding subsection (d) above, in addition to any other rights and remedies of Company hereunder, Company at its option 
may provide, or arrange for third parties to provide, any form of customer credit or payments program, including co-branded and/or 
private label programs, as Company's and/or Authorized Entities' primary source of customer credit without regard to the exclusivity 
provisions of subsection (d) above ("Alternate Primary Program"), under the circumstances and in the locations and for the periods 
described in Exhibit 2.3(e), and the parties hereto shall have the obligations with respect to such Alternate Primary Program as set forth 
in Exhibit 2.3(e). 

(f) Manufacturer Sponsored Programs: Neither subsection (d) above nor any other provision hereof will be construed to prohibit 
Company and any Authorized Entities from making available, and promoting, special credit programs offered by particular 
manufacturers for use in connection with purchase of products of such manufacturer and/or related services, 
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whether such programs involve manufacturer-cobranded and/or private label credit cards, cardless revolving or charge account credit, 
closed end credit, or otherwise; provided, however, that Company agrees that manufacturer sponsored programs shall comply with 
Exhibit 2.3(f). 

(g) Additional Payment Products: Before entering into an agreement during the Term hereof with any third party (other than a third 
party providing secondary financing or providing an Alternate Primary Program or providing a manufacturer sponsored program) to 
allow such third party to provide any payment products, other than Company gift cards, intended to finance purchases only of 
Company Goods and/or Services, such as debit cards, charge cards, or stored value cards, and before commencing any formal request 
for proposal/information procedure by which any third parties are invited to submit proposals or information relating to their provision 
of such payment products, Company will give Bank at least three (3) weeks prior notice to afford Bank the opportunity, should Bank so 
desire, to provide any information which Bank may wish to provide regarding any proposal by Bank to be selected by Company as the 
provider for such payment products. Company agrees to consider any such proposal if furnished by Bank, but will be under no 
obligation to choose Bank to provide such payment products. To the extent Bank and Company do enter into a mutual written 
agreement concerning the provision by Bank of any such payment products, Company shall be entitled to receive such compensation 
relating thereto as may be provided for in such written agreement. 

2.4.Marketing Plans. 

(a) The initial Marketing Plan will be developed, and mutually agreed upon, by the Company and the Bank, and will commence on the 
Closing Date and conclude at the end of the Company's Fiscal Year ending February 28, 2005. Preliminary Marketing Plans for 
subsequent Fiscal Years shall be consistent with the terms of this Agreement and shall be agreed to by Company and Bank no later 
than forty-five (45) days prior to the commencement of each such Fiscal Year ("Marketing Plan Date"). The Management Committee 
will review Marketing Plans at least quarterly, and more often as may be deemed necessary by the parties. If the Management 
Committee cannot agree upon a Marketing Plan by such Marketing Plan Date, then, until the dispute or disagreement is resolved, the 
Management Committee and the parties will implement those portions of the Marketing Plan on which the Management Committee has 
agreed. 

(b) The Marketing Plan for each Fiscal Year shall include an analysis provided by Bank of the private label and co-branded bankcard 
programs of the competitors of Company. Such analysis shall include a comparison of cardholder pricing and terms, card features such 
as rebate/point programs or loyalty programs, exclusive cardholder offerings, different product offerings such as preferred shopper 
cards, and supporting creative materials, such as cardholder applications and marketing materials. Such analysis also shall include a 
comparison of Internet credit card functionality, including application, approval and authorization and other factors that would support 
a comprehensive comparison of the Company Program. 
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2.5.Program Marketing. 

(a) Company shall provide, and cause any Authorized Entity who is offering credit under the Program to provide, Bank with all 
customer lists, maintained as such by Company (or such Authorized Entity) and current to within 90 days of the date provided by 
Company, of names, and, to the extent Company (or such Authorized Entity) has them, U.S. residential addresses, and residential 
telephone numbers of Company (or such Authorized Entity) in-store customers, via magnetic tape, cartridge, or other media which is 
mutually agreed upon (the "Lists"). If Company (or such Authorized Entity), in its sole discretion, elects to commence selling Company 
Goods and/or Services via catalog or elects to change its Internet privacy policy to permit their inclusion, Company (or such 
Authorized Entity) will include in the Lists, as applicable, and provided the Management Committee shall first agree upon the nature of 
the use to be made thereof (i) the Company's (or such Authorized Entity's) customer lists, maintained as such by Company (or such 
Authorized Entity), of e-mail addresses of Company (or such Authorized Entity) Internet customers and, to the extent Company (or 
such Authorized Entity) has them, names and U.S. shipping addresses of such customers, and (ii) Company's (or such Authorized 
Entity's) customer lists, maintained as such by Company (or such Authorized Entity) of names, and, to the extent Company (or such 
Authorized Entity) has them, of U.S. shipping addresses of Company (or such Authorized Entity) catalog customers. Company shall 
use its best efforts to provide (and to cause such Authorized Entity to provide) as complete and accurate a List as possible. The List 
shall consist of Company (or such Authorized Entity) customers who are not shown in Company's (or such Authorized Entity's) 
records as having notified Company (or such Authorized Entity) of their election to exercise their rights under privacy opt-out and 
"do-not-solicit" and "do-not-call" provisions (provided, however, that Company does not undertake to determine (or to cause such 
Authorized Entity to determine) whether a Company (or such Authorized Entity) customer has notified any governmental authority or 
other third party, or has caused his or her name, address or telephone number to be listed in a registry or listing maintained by any 
governmental authority or other third party, as the means of exercising any such rights, and, without limitation as to Bank's other 
obligations hereunder to comply with Applicable Law, Bank shall be responsible for making such determination and for making any 
necessary deletions from such Lists). Company shall provide (and shall cause such Authorized Entity to provide) Bank with updated 
Lists upon Bank's request up to four (4) times per year. Company agrees that, except as required by Applicable Law, Company shall 
not modify or otherwise amend its privacy policy (or permit such Authorized Entity to modify or otherwise amend its privacy policy) to 
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prohibit Company (or such Authorized Entity) from providing the Lists to Bank or Bank's designated agents as set forth in this 
Agreement or to otherwise restrict the sharing of information pursuant to Section 3.6. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, 
Company (and such Authorized Entity) shall not be required to provide the portion of any such List which Company (or such 
Authorized Entity) determines, reasonably and in good faith, would violate Applicable Law. 

(b) Pursuant to the Marketing Plan, Bank shall, at its own expense (other than as set forth in Section 2.3(b) with respect to "take one" 
applications and in-store signage), design, develop and produce such marketing, promotion and solicitation materials as it deems 
appropriate, if approved by Company (or to which the Company fails to object) using the same 
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five day review/approval procedure described in Section 2.3(b), to promote the Program among Company customers, and Company 
shall endorse and reasonably assist Bank with the administration of such promotional and solicitation activities. Promotion of the 
Program shall include direct mail, telemarketing and such other then current marketing channels as set forth in the Marketing Plan. The 
Management Committee will schedule and direct the solicitation of Company customers. Bank commits to direct mail to the Target 
Cardholders during each Program Year and, if Bank meets or exceeds the Target Rate from such mailings, to effect reasonable increases 
in the number of such direct mailings, so long as Bank meets or exceeds the Target Rate. 

(c) Pursuant to the Marketing Plan, Company may conduct and document e-mail marketing campaigns ("E-mail Services") in 
accordance with all Applicable Law, regulations, and specifications approved by the Management Committee. 

2.6.Program Compensation. 

(a) New Accounts. Company shall be entitled to the amounts provided for in Exhibit 2.6(a), determined as set forth therein. 

(b) Incidental Marketing Program. Company shall be entitled to the amounts, if any, mutually agreed upon by Company and Bank, in 
connection with any Incidental Marketing Program provided by Bank as mutually agreed upon by Company and Bank pursuant to 
Section 3.7(a). 

(c) Promotional Financing Program. Bank agrees to provide promotional sales plans on the terms set forth in Exhibit 2.6(c), (the 
"Promotional Sales Plans"). The frequency and volume of such Promotional Sales Plans shall be determined by Company. Company 
shall pay Bank fees for Promotional Sales Plans determined in accordance with Exhibit 2.6(c) ("Credit Promotion Fees"), and Bank shall 
pay Company incentives for non-promotional sales plans and select Promotional Sales Plans, determined in accordance with Exhibit 
2.6(c) ("Sales Participation Fees"). 

(d) Rewards Program. For Rewards Account product only, Bank will offer Cardholder rewards points redeemable or rewardable at the 
rates set forth in Exhibit 2.6(d). Bank will administer the Rewards program, fund the reward redemption and keep any breakage from 
unredeemed points. Bank will have Rewards Accounts available to prospective Cardholders at Company Locations by September 2004. 
Commencing immediately following the date of execution of this Agreement, Bank may begin interacting and coordinating efforts and 
working with Company's systems team to establish the Rewards program, and Bank and Company hereby 
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agree to cooperate and act in good faith to establish the Rewards program within the aforementioned deadline. 

(e) Interchange. The Bank shall not assess any interchange (as defined by applicable credit card association) on any Company or 
Authorized Entity sales, including the Company's or Authorized Entities' physical stores and Internet sites, generated from 
Co-Branded Bankcard Accounts, Rewards Accounts and Private Label Accounts, and Bank shall directly process Company or 
Authorized Entity sales charged to Co-Branded Bankcard Accounts, Rewards Accounts and Private Label Accounts, such that 
Company and Authorized Entities incur no merchant acquirer/processor or similar fees. Bank shall be responsible for paying any 
interchange purported to be assessed on any Company or Authorized Entity sales by any card association, card association member, 
or other person and, to the extent Company or any Authorized Entity are required to pay any such assessments, Bank shall promptly 
reimburse Company and any such Authorized Entity the amounts so paid. Company and Authorized Entity shall be responsible for 
any costs, fees or assessments (other than interchange) imposed by any card association, card association member, or other person 
for processing the transaction, except for merchant acquirer/processor or similar fees incurred due to Bank's failure to directly process 
Company or Authorized Entity sales charged to Co-Branded Bankcard Accounts or Rewards Accounts or Private Label Accounts. 
Bank's obligations under this Section 2.6(e) shall be subject to Company's obligation to promptly provide and update on an ongoing 
basis a complete list of valid Card Acceptor Ids, as defined in Section 3.8. 

(f) Net Yield. Net Yield for the Bank will be calculated for all Private Label and Co-Branded Bankcard Accounts and Rewards Accounts 
in the manner described in Exhibit 2.6(f), and depending on the Net Yield so calculated, the parties will make such payments and effect 
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such other Program adjustments as are provided for in Exhibit 2.6(f). 

(g) Recovered Sales Taxes on Written-Off Accounts. Sales taxes reflected in Written-Off Account balances that are recovered from 
taxing authorities will be shared between Bank, on the one hand, and Company or applicable Authorized Entity on the other hand, on 
the basis described in Exhibit 2.6(g). 
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2.7.Transition. Consistent with the Transaction Agreements, commencing on the Closing Date, Bank shall provide all staff and other 
resources necessary to provide the Services. On and after the Closing Date, all Account Documentation, as appropriate, and other 
such forms applicable to Accounts established on and after the date hereof, shall clearly disclose that Bank is the creditor. On and 
after the date of any notice of change in terms provided Cardholders of purchased Accounts pursuant to the Purchase and Sale 
Agreement, all Account Documentation used with respect to those Accounts shall clearly disclose that Bank is the creditor of the 
Cardholders and that Bank is extending credit directly to the Cardholders, and, except as otherwise agreed upon by the Management 
Committee, shall conform in all respects to the requirements hereof applicable to Accounts established on and after the Closing Date. 
The Parties acknowledge that Company has removed, and has caused each other Authorized Entity to remove, existing applications 
and other Account Documentation indicating that Company Bank is establishing new Accounts opened on and after the Closing Date, 
but that there may yet remain outstanding some solicitations or applications previously distributed on which requests for Accounts 
may be received on and after the Closing Date. If an application indicating that Company or Company Bank is making the credit 
extension is received, then a notice stating that Bank is establishing the Account and extending the credit will be sent with the Credit 
Card to the applicant for whom the Account is opened. 

ARTICLE III 
ADMINISTRATION OF PROGRAM 

3.1. Preparation of Documents. 

(a) In General. The form and content of all Account Documentation, other than the legal portions (which Bank shall prepare and 
Company shall review) of Credit Card Applications, Credit Card Agreements and other legal documents related to Accounts, shall be 
mutually agreed upon by Bank and Company; provided, however, that Bank shall be responsible for ensuring that Account 
Documentation complies with Applicable Law. Consistent with the Operating Procedures, Bank agrees to provide to Company and 
Authorized Entities (at Company's expense to the extent specified in Section 2.3(b)) the then current Account Documentation in 
sufficient quantities to enable Company and the Authorized Entities to maintain their participation in the Program, and Bank shall 
deliver such Account Documentation to such Company Locations as requested by Company. 

(b) Company's Option to Differentiate Account Documentation for Certain Authorized Entities. If any additional Authorized Entities 
are designated who trade under trade names or marks other than the Company Marks, Bank may, in its discretion, permit Credit Card 
Applications and other Account Documentation used to solicit Cardholders from among customers or prospective customers of such 
Authorized Entities, and to establish and maintain such Cardholders' Accounts, to utilize such other trade names or marks as may be 
designated by Company, in lieu of the Company Marks utilized in the forms of Account Documentation provided for in Section 3.1(a), 
in connection with such solicitations and Accounts, whether Co-Branded Bankcard Accounts or Rewards Accounts or Private Label 
Accounts, which Accounts may, in the case of Private Label Accounts, permit purchases of goods and services not only 
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from the designated Authorized Entity, but also from Company and/or one or more other Authorized Entities, to the extent specified by 
Company in its notice to Bank designating such additional Authorized Entities. Any reasonable incremental out-of-pocket costs 
incurred by the Bank in connection with such differentiation in Account Documentation and, in the case of Private Label Accounts, 
permitted purchases, will be reimbursed by Company. 

3.2. Personnel, Features and Technology. 

(a) In order to establish and operate a competitive Program, Bank shall at its own expense use commercially reasonable efforts to: (i) 
provide a team of key management personnel (including the personnel set forth on Exhibit 
2.1(d)) to operate the Program in accordance with this Agreement with the levels of competence, experience and expertise at least equal 
in the aggregate to those provided by Bank to Bank's other major private label credit card and co-branded bankcard programs; (ii) make 
available features and employ technology in support of the Program at the same time that Bank makes such features available to and 
employs such technology for Bank's other private label credit card and co-branded bankcard programs, except where unable to do so 
because of the proprietary rights of others, doing so is commercially unreasonable or Company is unable to test such technology 
before, or to employ such technology upon, its implementation; and (iii) make available features and employ technology in support of 
the Program that in aggregate are on par with the Competition Programs as provided in Exhibit 3.2(a). This shall not apply to any 
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software comparable to that described in the Gateway Software Licensing Agreement (as such term is defined in the Purchase and Sale 
Agreement) that Bank develops for or with a Competition Program. 

(b) Company shall at its own expense use commercially reasonable efforts to: (i) provide a team of key management personnel 
(including the Program Coordinator provided pursuant to Section 3.14) to operate the Program in accordance with this Agreement with 
sufficient levels of competence, experience and expertise in Company's business; and (ii) make available system resources to implement 
mutually agreed changes to the point of sale, gateway and other systems maintained by Company and necessary to the Program. 

3.3. Credit Terms and Credit Criteria; Association Affiliation. Bank shall have the sole right to establish and change Credit Criteria, 
subject to the provisions of Article VIII and Exhibit 2.3(e). Bank shall have the sole right to establish and change Credit Terms, subject 
to the provisions of this Section 
3.3, Article VIII and Exhibit 2.3(e). (This Section 3.3 does not apply to Promotional Sales Plan terms referred to in Exhibit 2.6(c), which 
are governed by Section 2.6(c) and said Exhibit.) 

(a) Nothing contained in this Agreement shall limit Bank's ability to alter or modify the Credit Terms in order to comply with Applicable 
Law. Nothing in this Agreement shall limit Bank's ability to engage in Risk-Based Repricing. 

(b) The initial Credit Terms are provided in Exhibit 3.3(b). Bank shall provide written notice of any intended changes in Credit Terms to 
Company as soon as practicable, but in no event less than thirty (30) days prior to the earlier of (i) the date on which 
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Bank first mails or otherwise transmits notice notifying any existing Cardholders of the changes in Credit Terms, or (ii) the date on 
which the Bank first mails or otherwise transmits any solicitation or marketing material to any prospective Cardholders whose new 
Accounts will be subject to the changed Credit Terms, or (iii) the date on which Bank first uses the changed Credit Terms as the initial 
terms applicable to new Accounts opened at Company or Authorized Entity store locations or via the Internet. 

(c) The initial card association to be affiliated with the Co-Branded Bankcard Program shall be Visa. No change in such association 
affiliation shall be made without the prior written approval of Company. Bank may negotiate with credit card associations to obtain 
additional funds and incentive payments directly related to and specified for the Program which funds and incentives do not include 
any fees, discounts or other forms of compensation, incentives or benefits Bank receives as a member or partner of the credit card 
association in the ordinary course of business ("Association Incentives"). Any Association Incentives received by Bank shall be 
made available to the Program through a marketing fund disbursed as the Management Committee may determine. 

3.4.Credit Losses. As between Bank and Company, all credit losses, including fraud, credit, deceased, bankruptcy, or unauthorized 
transactions on Accounts, shall be borne solely by Bank without recourse to Company; except for 
(a) credit losses incurred in respect of transactions charged back pursuant to 
Section 7.1 hereof, and (b) credit losses incurred after Accounts are purchased by Company (or its designee) in accordance with 
Section 9.2. 

3.5.Accounts. 

(a) Ownership of Accounts. Bank shall be the sole and exclusive owner of all Accounts and shall be entitled to receive all payments 
made by Cardholders on Accounts. Purchases under the Program shall constitute extensions of credit directly from Bank to 
Cardholders. Company will not, at any time, have any rights in any of the Accounts established under the Program or in any 
Indebtedness owing at any time thereunder unless Company subsequently purchases such Accounts or Indebtedness from Bank. 

(b) Record Retention. Upon commencement of the Initial Term, Bank, consistent with its policies and practices, and policies and 
practices required of federally chartered banks, shall retain proper records, files, and books of account in which true and correct entries 
shall be made of all transactions relating to the Accounts and the Program. 

3.6.Ownership and Use of Company Customer Information and Bank Portfolio Information; Privacy 

(a) Ownership. Company (or the applicable Authorized Entity) shall have ownership rights in all Company Customer Information, and 
shall have sole ownership rights in the Lists, and in all other Company Customer Information that does not also constitute Bank 
Portfolio Information. Bank shall have ownership rights in all Bank Portfolio Information other than 
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the Lists, and shall have sole ownership rights in all other Bank Portfolio Information that does not also constitute Company Customer 
Information. 
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(b) Use and Disclosure. 

(i) Except as otherwise provided in this Section 3.6(b)(i), Bank's right to use and disclose Bank Portfolio Information, Company 
Customer Information or any other information it receives, creates or maintains in connection with the Program, shall be limited to the 
creation, ownership, and collection of the Accounts, the marketing, administration, and operation of the Program and the provision of 
the Services in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Except for the marketing of the Program and providing 
Ancillary Products, Bank shall not use any Bank Portfolio Information to market any financial products or services (including any 
Incidental Marketing Programs) or other products or services to Cardholders without the prior written agreement of Company. The 
information use and transmission limitations set forth in this Section 3.6(b)(i) and in Section 3.6(b)(iv) shall survive termination of this 
Agreement, and, except to the extent otherwise specified in Section 9.3 with respect to the portion of Bank Portfolio Information that 
relates to any Accounts which Bank shall have the right to liquidate pursuant to the provisions in that Section, which Bank shall be 
free to use and disclose only as necessary in order to exercise Bank's rights under Section 9.3 and 9.6 in accordance with the 
provisions thereof, Bank will not use or disclose Bank Portfolio Information or Company Customer Information following termination of 
this Agreement. 

(ii) Except for Company's exclusivity obligations in Section 
2.3(d) and its non-compete obligations in Section 9.3(b), and except as otherwise provided in Section 3.6(b)(iii) with respect to 
information referred to therein, nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to limit Company's right to use and disclose Company 
Customer Information for any purpose, either during or after the Term hereof. 

(iii) Subject to Applicable Law, Company (or Authorized Entity) shall have the right, both during and after the Term hereof, to use and 
disclose personally identifiable Cardholder information which Company (or Authorized Entity) obtains from Bank in connection with 
the Program or retains from Credit Card Applications (A) for the purpose of promoting Company Goods and/or Services, (B) in 
connection with a purchase by Company (or its designee) of the Portfolio Assets or Private Label Portfolio Assets pursuant to Section 
9.2, (C) (subject to the non-compete obligations set forth in Section 9.3(b)) in connection with establishing, promoting and maintaining 
a successor program, (D) in connection with the conduct of any secondary financing program of the kind referred to in Section 2.3(d), 
(E) in connection with the marketing, administration, and operation of the Program and the performance of Company's obligations in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, or (F) as otherwise permitted under Applicable Law. However, in 
connection with Company's (or the Applicable Authorized Entity's) use for the purpose referred to in (A) above of such personally 
identifiable Cardholder information obtained from Bank or retained from Credit Card Applications, Company (or the Applicable 
Authorized Entity) shall not use any such information about Cardholder transactions in a manner that indicates to the recipient of 
Company's (or Authorized Entity's) marketing materials that his or her transactional activity other than at Company Locations has been 
used to trigger the marketing activities referred to in (A) above (for example, Company shall not use such information to send a 
marketing solicitation 
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congratulating a Cardholder on his or her purchase of a television (purchased other than at Company Locations) and inquiring whether 
he or she now wishes to purchase a video cassette recorder from Company). 

(iv) Any transmission or use of any Company Customer Information or of Bank Portfolio Information by or on behalf of either party to 
any third Person shall be subject to confidentiality commitments which shall be similar in substance to the confidentiality provisions 
contained in this Agreement. To the extent that Bank has caused any Bank Portfolio Information to be enhanced by a third-party data 
provider, such as Axciom, the use thereof by Company may subject Company to a license fee charged by such data provider, and 
Company shall pay any such fee provided that Bank shall have notified Company of the amount of such fee before providing 
Company with the applicable enhanced information. Bank shall ensure that the use of Bank Portfolio Information and Company 
Customer Information and other information relating to Cardholders and Accounts by any affiliated or unaffiliated third-party to whom 
Bank provides such information shall be limited to those purposes specified in Section 
3.6(b)(i). Neither Bank nor any third-party engaged by Bank or otherwise working on Bank's behalf shall sell, transfer or otherwise 
provide any Bank Portfolio Information or Company Customer Information or other information relating to Cardholders or Accounts to 
any other person, or permit any other person to use, directly or indirectly, such information for any purpose other than those purposes 
specified in Section 3.6(b)(i). 

(c) Cardholder Consent. Subject to Applicable Law and Section 3.6(d), Bank shall design the Credit Card Applications and privacy 
notices to be used in connection with the Program in order to maximize the extent to which information from Credit Card Applications, 
and other Bank Portfolio Information, may lawfully be shared with Company (or the applicable Authorized Entity) and its Affiliates 
(which measures shall include using consent verbiage in Credit Card Applications and, to the extent necessary, in Credit Card 
Agreements). However, Bank may revise such Credit Card Applications, Credit Card Agreements or privacy notices to restrict the 
extent of such lawful sharing or use or disclosure of the shared information (but Bank shall make no such revisions that would restrict 
or encumber the sharing required to implement and maintain the arrangements for secondary financing programs referred to in Section 
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2.3(d) hereof). The privacy policy ("Bank Privacy Policy") may provide for an "opt-out" from third party sharing (or an "opt-in" to third 
party sharing, if required by Applicable Law for particular jurisdictions). In the event Bank does make any such revisions, Bank will, to 
the extent commercially practicable, provide advance notice to the Management Committee, and will discuss the rationale for such 
revisions and any steps proposed by Bank to minimize any adverse impact of such revisions on Company and Authorized Entities. In 
addition, at request of Company Bank will provide necessary resources to conduct analyses and other data related inquiries on 
Masterfile data not more than 4 times per Program Year and subject to the reasonable and customary fees for such service. 

(d) Information Access. Subject to Applicable Law, Bank shall provide to Company monthly: (i) with respect to each Cardholder who 
has not "opted out," a copy of each item in the Bank's Masterfile; and (ii) with respect to each Cardholder who has "opted out," a copy 
of each such item, except for any item which individually identifies the Cardholder or permits the inference of the Cardholder's identity; 
provided that, for purposes of this Section 3.6(d), if Bank, in its commercially reasonable discretion, determines that compliance with 
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Applicable Law for particular jurisdictions makes it necessary to do so, Bank may elect to treat Cardholders resident in such 
jurisdictions who have not "opted in" as deemed to have "opted out." 

(e) Bank will issue its Bank Privacy Policy to Cardholders of the Accounts acquired by Bank pursuant to the Purchase and Sale 
Agreement, by the time required under Applicable Law, but in any event within sixty days following the Closing Date. 

(f) Information Safeguards. Without limitation as to its other obligations of confidentiality set forth elsewhere herein or in any other 
confidentiality agreement to which it may be subject, each party will establish and maintain appropriate administrative, technical and 
physical safeguards to protect the security, confidentiality and integrity of the Company Customer Information and the Bank Portfolio 
Information, and Company shall comply with Bank's Partner Information Security Standards as described in attached Exhibit 
3.6(f), to the extent not in conflict with the other provisions hereof. Each party, upon reasonable notice from the other party, shall 
permit such other party to audit its operations to verify compliance with this Section 3.6(f). 

(g) Compliance with Law. The parties intend that the sharing of personally identifiable information about their (and Authorized 
Entities') customers shall comply with Applicable Law, including any applicable provisions of the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act (15 
USC 1681 et seq) and Title V, Subtitle A of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Financial Modernization Act of 1999 (15 USC 6801 et seq), and the 
regulations thereunder. The parties agree to cooperate in determining the extent to which information relating to customers, 
Cardholders and Accounts may be shared and shall cooperate and use commercially reasonable efforts to address changes in 
Applicable Law, in order to retain and facilitate each party's (and Authorized Entities') ownership rights in, continued access to, and 
the economic value of such information. 

(h) Relation to Other Bank Programs. Bank represents that, to the best of its Knowledge (as defined in the Purchase and Sale 
Agreement) as of the date hereof, in connection with Bank's other co-branded bankcard programs and private label card programs, in 
the aggregate: Bank provides no more information to the merchant or other co-brand party than it provides hereunder; and permits no 
more extensive use of such information than is permitted to Company and Authorized Entities hereunder. 

(i) Nothing in this Section 3.6, or any other provision of this Agreement (other than the exclusivity provisions of Section 2.3(d) and the 
restriction set forth in Section 9.3(b)), shall be construed to limit in any way Company's (or any Authorized Entity's) rights in, or use of, 
either before or after termination of this Agreement, any information obtained by Company (or any Authorized Entity) other than from 
Bank or from Credit Card Applications, regardless of whether or not such information is identical to information Company (or such 
Authorized Entity) obtained from Bank or from Credit Card Applications in connection with the Program. 
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3.7.Incidental Marketing Programs; Cross Marketing to Other Cardmembers. 

(a) Incidental Marketing Programs. Company shall retain all approval rights, in its sole discretion, over any Incidental Marketing 
Programs Bank may propose to offer to Cardholders or to Company Customers. 

(b) Cross Marketing to Other Cardmembers. From time to time, at Bank's discretion, Company may market its products and services to 
Other Cardmembers in accordance with the following: 

(i) Bank, in its sole discretion, shall select the Other Cardmembers to receive Company's offers for Company's products and services. 

(ii) All cross marketing campaigns by Company to Other Cardmembers shall be at Company's sole expense. All offers to Other 
Cardmembers made in such campaigns shall be unique and compelling and shall be no less favorable than those offered by Company 
to non-Bank customers. Bank and Company shall agree on the marketing fee Company pays to Bank for products and services sold for 
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each cross marketing campaign. Company shall track sales volume by channel and campaign and provide Bank with such reporting as 
Bank requests. For each promotion, Company shall provide Bank with reports detailing the number of products or services sold within 
thirty (30) days after such promotion and Bank shall evaluate such promotion and determine if Company may continue to offer 
promotions to Other Cardmembers. 

(iii) Subject to reasonable space, weight, size, content and scheduling restrictions, and upon Bank's prior review and approval, up to 
two 
(2) times each year during the Term of the Program, Company may include promotional inserts for Company offers created and paid for 
by Company in billing statements mailed to Other Cardmembers. Bank will pay the normal cost of mailing statements with Company 
inserts, excluding the cost of preparing, producing and shipping the actual insert which shall be the sole responsibility of Company. In 
addition, if the Company inserts increase the postal expense incurred by Bank to mail statements with such inserts, then Bank shall not 
insert such materials without Company's consent, if Bank intends to charge Company for such cost overage, and Company agrees, 
upon providing such consent, to promptly reimburse Bank for such incremental postage expense. 

(iv) Bank will evaluate proposals from Company for offers of Company products and services to Other Cardmembers through Bank's 
online channel including inclusion in: (1) welcome mail, (2) e-mail newsletter, and (3) website. In the event that Bank offers Company 
products and services pursuant to this section, Company shall provide Bank reporting based on click-throughs, sales volume and 
revenue earned by Bank. 

(v) In addition, no more than two times per year, Company may request that Bank provide lists of a certain portion of Other 
Cardmembers for the purpose of mailing promotional offers provided by the Company. The lists shall be provided to a third party mail 
house on Bank's list of approved vendor mail houses, who shall mail such offers on behalf of Company. 
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3.8.Rewards Program Administration. Company shall provide to Bank Card Acceptor Ids of all sources of Company customer 
transactions. Company shall: 

i. Provide such Card Acceptor Ids in accordance with Bank's specifications; ii. Notify Bank at least thirty (30) days in advance of new 
or modified Card Acceptor Ids being utilized by Company; and iii. Validate all Card Acceptor Ids no less than on a quarterly basis and 
advise Bank of all changes, additions or deletions to such Card Acceptor Ids; 

Company is responsible for any costs associated with correcting Accounts where errors have occurred as a result of incorrect and/or 
outdated Card Acceptor Ids. 

3.9.Other In-Store Credit Activities. 

(a) Credit Support. Company shall provide in-store credit activities, which include acceptance of In-Store Payments and other credit 
support, as more specifically set forth in the Operating Procedures. 

(b) In-Store Payments. Company may accept In-Store Payments in US dollars from Cardholders on their Accounts in accordance with 
the Operating Procedures. All In-Store Payments shall be deemed to be held in trust by Company for the benefit of Bank until such 
payments are actually received by Bank or netted by Bank against Charge Transaction Data submitted to Bank in accordance with the 
Settlement Procedures in Article IV. 

3.10.Training. 

(a) Company, at its expense, shall develop orientation materials to introduce Bank employees to Company, to train Bank employees, 
and to keep them current on the direction, products, merchandising and marketing programs of Company's various businesses and 
Bank, at its expense, shall make its employees and the materials available for training with respect to Company's and Authorized 
Entities' businesses. Bank, at its expense, shall develop and administer all other training to its employees to enhance their ability to 
perform the services contemplated under this Agreement. 

(b) Bank, at its expense, shall develop and produce materials for training associates of Company and the Authorized Entities on the 
Program. Company, at its expense, shall use such materials to train its associates and the associates of Authorized Entities to promote 
the Program, accept Credit Card Applications, and obtain authorizations for Purchases under the Program. Bank also shall assist 
Company and other Authorized Entities with training of employees of Company and other Authorized Entities in credit-related issues 
by providing field marketing employees (as outlined in Exhibit 2.1(d)), among whose principal duties as field marketing managers will be 
to assist with training to the extent provided in this Agreement with respect to the Program, and in such other fashion as may be 
mutually agreed to by the parties. 
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3.11.Systems Changes and Quality Control. 

(a) The parties shall keep one another informed prior to and during the process of making material changes to their respective systems 
or processes relating to the Program. Prior to making any such material changes, each party shall test such changes to ensure that 
such changes do not adversely impact the Cardholders, the other party, or the Program. Upon the discovery of any such adverse 
effect on the Cardholders, other party or the Program, the party implementing such changes shall immediately take all commercially 
reasonable steps to remedy the adverse effect as soon as practicable. 

(b) Without the other party's prior written approval, a party shall not make any changes to its systems or processes relating to the 
Program that would require the other party to make changes to its systems or processes, except if required by a change in Applicable 
Law. In the case of a change required by a change in Applicable Law, the parties shall take commercially reasonable steps to minimize 
the disruption of any such change to the parties. Parties shall bear their own costs incurred in connection with any such changes. 

(c) Delivery of Information. On and after the date hereof, each party, at its expense, shall be responsible for all delivery of electronic 
information to the other party. Each party shall bear the risk and cost of delivery of materials it ships to the other party by other 
methods. Risk of delivery lies with the sender until receipt by the other party. During the Term of this Agreement, Company shall 
comply with Bank's data exchange technical specifications and standards, including file transfer, protocols and standards, file formats 
and layouts, and encryption/decryption software requirements, as in effect at, and disclosed by Bank to Company prior to, the Closing 
Date under the Purchase and Sale Agreement, with such further changes as shall be requested by Bank and agreed upon by Company 
from time to time during the Term of this Agreement. 

3.12.Inserts and Other Statement Communications. Subject to the Marketing Plan and to content and schedule restrictions set forth on 
Exhibit 3.12 and Bank's prior review, Company shall have the right, except as provided below, to include Company's or Authorized 
Entities' product and service advertisements in Billing Statements sent, or provided electronically, to Cardholders, whether as a 
statement insert, statement message, envelope message, internet link or other form, provided that such advertisements conform to the 
requirements for such Billing Statement inserts or other messages initially as set forth in Exhibit 
3.12, including the timing for delivery to specified locations. Company's inserts and other statement communications shall have priority 
over all others except those involving only legal disclosure required to be made to Cardholders. Company will prioritize inserts and 
Bank shall include all such inserts in order of priority until excess postage is required. Bank shall not be required to include inserts that 
cause excess postage. The parties acknowledge that a 1 page statement would permit 4 inserts without causing excess postage and 
that 1 page is approximately equal to 2 inserts. Company will be solely responsible for the costs of producing and delivering to Bank or 
its designee such inserts. The inclusion of statement messages will be at no cost to Company as long as Bank's or its designee's 
requirements are met by Company. Bank may include billing messages, inserts or other messages to promote the use of Accounts and 
Balance-Building Programs and Ancillary Products as approved in the Marketing Plan. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in 
this 
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Agreement, any insert or message or return postage envelope required by Applicable Law shall take precedence over other inserts and 
messages. Bank agrees to cooperate with Company in scheduling, to the extent practicable, any legally required notices to avoid 
adversely impacting Company's planned insert and statement related marketing and customer communication efforts. Bank shall 
immediately notify Company of any inserts and statement messages that Bank determines in its commercially reasonable discretion 
impugn the integrity or reputation of the Bank, or are deceptive or misleading in nature, or that market a financial product or service 
(other than Company or Authorized Entity gift cards) that competes with another Bank financial product or service which Bank is 
already providing to Bank customers at the time Company first notifies Bank regarding Company's decision to use statement inserts or 
statement messages to market such product or service to Cardholders, and upon receipt of such notice Company shall immediately 
cease or refrain from using such inserts and statement messages. 

3.13.Operating Procedures. The Operating Procedures are set forth in Exhibit 3.13. 

3.14.Program Governance. 

(a) Bank and Company each shall assign, on a full time basis, an employee knowledgeable about the Program and the Transaction 
Agreements to serve as its liaison to the other party with regard to the day-to-day operation of the Program. Bank's employee shall be 
referred to as the "Bank Program Coordinator" and Company's employee shall be referred to as the "Company Program Coordinator." 
Each party agrees that it will seek the input of the other party before it makes its Program Coordinator appointment, including any 
future appointments to replace a Program Coordinator. 

(b) The parties agree to participate and cooperate fully in the governance structure in accordance with Exhibit 3.14(b). 
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3.15.Balance-Building Programs. Bank may offer such Balance-Building Programs as are approved in the Marketing Plan or otherwise 
approved by the Management Committee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Bank may, at its discretion, offer over-limit capability on 
Co-Branded Rewards Accounts of up to 120% of any Cardholder's credit limit to permit access to credit for the purchase of Company 
Goods and/or Services. 

3.16.Reports. 

(a) Bank shall make available to Company such standard and customized reports relating to the Cardholders, the Accounts and the 
Program as Company may reasonably request from time to time and as listed in Exhibit 3.16. Bank will not charge for customized reports 
similar to the types of reports that Bank provides to its management or other customers at no cost. If a customized report requested by 
Company involves additional resources and costs, Bank will inform Company, which shall have the option at its expense, to have Bank 
develop and produce such report. 
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(b) Bank shall deliver to Company on a quarterly (Program Year quarters) basis Net-Yield reports relating to the Program as a whole, 
and separately as to the Private Label and the Co-branded Bankcard Accounts and Rewards Accounts segments of the Program. 

(c) Bank shall deliver to Company on a monthly basis reports on the satisfaction of the Performance Standards as set forth in Exhibit 
2.1(b). 

(d) Bank shall deliver a daily report with each settlement showing calculation of the settlement amount pursuant to Exhibit 4.2. 

3.17 Postage. Except to the extent expressly set forth in Section 3.12 with respect to certain increased postage, Bank One will bear all 
costs of all postage incurred in connection with the Program, including postage associated with returned "take one" applications. 

ARTICLE IV 
SETTLEMENT 

4.1.Transmission. Company shall electronically transmit all Charge Transaction Data from Company to Bank in the format detailed in 
the Operating Procedures and pursuant to Section 3.11. 

4.2.Calculation and Timing of Payment. Bank shall calculate a net settlement amount in accordance with Exhibit 4.2 and will pay to 
Company such amount on a daily basis. Bank will transfer funds via Automated Clearing House ("ACH") or wire transfer to an account 
designated in writing by Company to Bank. If Charge Transaction Data is received by Bank's processing center before noon Eastern 
time on a Business Day, Bank will initiate such ACH or wire transfer by 3pm Eastern time on the next Business Day. In the event that 
the Charge Transaction Data is received after noon Eastern time on a Business Day, then Bank will initiate such transfer no later than 
3pm Eastern time on the second Business Day thereafter. If Bank is unable to calculate the net settlement amount in time to initiate 
such transfer by the required time, then Bank will estimate the net settlement amount based on historical comparisons and will initiate 
the transfer by the required time, notifying Company that it is based on an estimate, and will calculate the correct net settlement 
amount, and will transfer any difference due the Company, within five (5) days thereafter. 

4.3.Direct Settlement. Bank will authorize and settle all amounts directly with Company and bypass all bankcard associations. Each 
party shall bear its own costs associated with such direct settlement. 

4.4.Company Payment Terms. Any amount(s) payable by Company to Bank under this Agreement will be due, unless specifically 
provided for elsewhere in this Agreement, when invoiced by the Bank, and shall be paid in immediately available funds within twenty 
(20) days after the date of receipt of the invoice from Bank. 
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4.5. Offset. In the event Company or any Authorized Entity, on the one hand, or Bank, on the other hand (the "Payor"), is in default in 
paying such other party (the "Recipient"), as applicable, any amount due under this Agreement, the Recipient may effect such 
payment by means of set-off, unless Recipient has been notified, or otherwise has knowledge, that the amount to be paid to the 
Recipient is disputed in good faith by the Payor. 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS OF COMPANY 

5.1.General Representations, Warranties, and Covenants. To induce Bank to enter into this Agreement and to establish and administer 

   2004.  EDGAR Online, Inc.



this Program, Company makes to Bank the representations, warranties, and covenants set forth in this Article V, which shall be deemed 
made effective as of the Closing Date and 
(except for the representations and warranties in (c)(ii), (g) and (h)(ii) below, and the representation and warranty in (b) below to the 
extent it would prohibit Company from changing its state of incorporation) continuing and ongoing thereafter during the Term: 

(a) Compliance with Law. Company shall comply, and shall cause each of the other Authorized Entities to comply, with Applicable Law 
referred to in 
Section 2.2(i) in all material respects relating to its activities in connection with the Program. 

(b) Corporate Existence. Company is a corporation, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the state of 
Virginia and is authorized to conduct business under such laws as now conducted, and is duly authorized, qualified or licensed to do 
business as a foreign corporation and is in good standing in each jurisdiction where the ownership or operation of its assets requires 
such authorization, qualification or licensing and shall maintain such status and authority during the term of this Agreement. 

(c) Corporate Power, Authorization and Performance. Company has full corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this 
Agreement and each other Transaction Agreement to which it is a party, and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder. 
Company further represents and warrants that (i) this Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary corporate and stockholder 
action and has been duly executed and delivered by Company and is the valid and binding obligation of Company, enforceable against 
Company in accordance with its terms and (ii) does not require any filing or registration with or the consent or approval of any 
governmental body, agency, authority, or any other person which has not been made or obtained. 

(d) Accounts. Company shall not, and shall not permit any other Authorized Entity to, represent itself as the owner of Accounts or 
Indebtedness owned by Bank hereunder; provided that Company will not be considered to be in breach of this covenant with regard 
to purchased Accounts until the receipt of new Account Documentation from Bank. 

(e) Disaster Recovery. Company and each of its Affiliates which is an Authorized Entity has and shall maintain a contingency and 
disaster recovery plan for the restoration of services affecting the Program and, to the extent practicable, will provide Bank with prior 
written notification of any modification of such plans. Company shall provide Bank 

25 

with the opportunity to review applicable portions of such plans, upon the reasonable request of Bank. 

(f) No Default. No default has occurred which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice or both, and the failure to cure, would 
constitute an Event of Default by Company as defined in Section 8.1. 

(g) No Pending Litigation. There are no civil, criminal or administrative actions, suits, claims, hearings, investigations or proceedings 
pending (including any counterclaims) or, to Company's knowledge, threatened against Company or any Authorized Entity that would 
materially and adversely effect the ability of Company to perform its obligations under this Agreement or any other Transaction 
Agreement. 

(h) Noncontravention. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and any other Transaction Agreement and the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will not (i) violate the charter or by-laws or any 
equivalent organizational document of Company, or (ii) violate any applicable material law, rule, regulation, judgment, injunction, order 
or decree to which Company is subject, or (iii) violate any material contract, instrument or document to which Company is a party or 
(iv) constitute a default under any existing material contract, instrument or document to which Company is a party. 

(i) Notice of Adverse Conditions. Company agrees to notify Bank, subject to any confidentiality and other applicable legal 
requirements, promptly after it is notified, and in any case no later than fifteen (15) days thereafter, of any order by any court or 
regulatory body or any agreement with a court or regulatory body materially and adversely affecting its ability to perform its 
obligations hereunder, or in connection with the Program or engage in any activities, contemplated in connection with the Program or 
under this Agreement or is notified of any activity that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Program 
or would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Bank. Company also agrees, subject to any confidentiality 
requirements, to provide advance warning of any discussions with any court or regulatory body that would reasonably be expected to 
adversely and materially affect any of the activities contemplated under this Agreement. Company further represents that it has not 
suffered any event that has or could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse change in, or material adverse effect upon its 
business, operations, properties, assets, liabilities, reputation or condition (financial or otherwise) or a material impairment of its ability 
to perform its obligations under this Agreement. 

(j) Records. Company shall keep, and shall cause each of the other Authorized Entities to keep, adequate records and books of account 
with respect to all of its business activities relating to the Program, in which proper entries, reflecting all of Company's or the other 
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Authorized Entities' (as applicable) financial transactions, are made in accordance with applicable accounting procedures. 

(k) [Reserved] 

(l) Account Covenants. Until the expiration or termination of the Program, Company covenants to do the following with respect to the 
Accounts: 
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(i) Company shall respond to, and cooperate with, Bank promptly in connection with the resolution of disputes with Cardholders; 

(ii) Company shall maintain a policy for the exchange and return of goods and adjustments for services rendered or not rendered that is 
in accordance with all Applicable Law and shall promptly deliver a Credit Slip to the Cardholder and include credit for such return or 
adjustment in the Charge Transaction Data in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Operating Procedures in the event 
the return/exchange has been authorized in accordance with Company's policies; and 

(iii) Company shall comply with all its warranties, if any, with respect to goods and services sold under an Account. 

(m) Taxes. Company shall, and shall cause each of the other Authorized Entities to, pay, collect and remit, when due, any sales taxes 
relating to the sale of Company Goods and/or Services. 

(n) Divestiture. Provided Company is legally and contractually permitted to do so, promptly following its execution Company shall 
advise Bank of any signed commitment or letter of intent regarding the sale, exchange, contribution or other transfer of any Company 
Locations which if consummated would give rise to a Divestiture and, in any event, promptly advise Bank of the consummation or 
occurrence of any Divestiture. In connection with any Divestiture, at Bank's request, Company shall use reasonable efforts to initiate 
communications between Bank and any acquirer of Company Locations in a transaction constituting a Divestiture to afford Bank the 
opportunity to offer to enter into a private label credit card agreement with such acquirer. 

(o) Solvency. Company is Solvent. 

5.2 Presentment Warranties. Company represents and warrants to Bank with respect to each Account and the related Charge Slips and 
Charge Transaction Data (and the following shall be deemed restated, renewed and reaffirmed each time Bank receives Charge 
Transaction Data from Company or Authorized Entity relative to an Account): 

(a) That the Charge Slip represents a bona fide sale by Company or Authorized Entity of the Company Goods and/or Services 
described in such Charge Slip, that the Charge Slip has not been included in any Charge Transaction Data previously transmitted to 
Bank, and that Company or Authorized Entity has delivered all the goods and fully performed all the services listed on such Charge 
Slip (except to the extent that any of following will be subsequently delivered or performed, including : (i) goods purchased through a 
not in store transaction, and (ii) goods retained by Company or Authorized Entity for repair and warranty services), or (iii) goods or 
services to be delivered or performed subsequent to time of sale, including services performed pursuant to an extended warranty; 

(b) That Company or Authorized Entity has shipped all the goods listed on such Charge Slip which were purchased through a not in 
store transaction; 
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(c) That (except in the case of not-in-store transactions) the Charge Slip is signed and that the signature on the Charge Slip is similar to 
the signature on the Credit Card or the signature on another item of valid identification examined by Company or Authorized Entity; 

(d) That the Charge Slip is not illegible, inaccurate or incomplete and has not been materially altered after being signed by the 
Cardholder; 

(e) That the transaction did not involve a cash advance or goods or services not listed on the Charge Slip and only goods and services 
sold by Company or Authorized Entity are the subject of the transaction; 

(f) That the transaction was conducted by Company in accordance with the Operating Procedures; 

(g) That the Account number of the Cardholder has been accurately printed or electronically captured on the corresponding Charge 
Slip retained by the Company; 

(h) That, except only as set forth in Exhibit 5.2(h), Company has not nor will it directly or indirectly, take or grant or purport to take or 
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grant any right or security interest in such Charge Slip or any related Credit Slip to or from any third party (other than to Bank); 

(i) That the transactions giving rise to the Charge Transaction Data were conducted by Company in accordance with all Applicable 
Law that pertains to the sales of goods and/or services by Company as provided in Section 2.2(i). 

ARTICLE VI 
REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS OF BANK 

6.1. General Representations, Warranties, and Covenants. To induce Company to enter into this Agreement and participate in the 
Program Bank makes to Company the representations, warranties, and covenants set forth in this Article VI, which shall be deemed 
made effective as of the Closing Date and (except for the representations and warranties in (d)(ii), (g) and (h)(ii) below) continuing and 
ongoing thereafter during the Term: 

(a) Account Information. Upon Company's reasonable request, Bank shall provide to Company, to the extent available to Bank and in 
accordance with Applicable Law, information indicating, for each Account, the terms and conditions applicable to such Account under 
the Credit Card Agreement governing such Account, including the law applicable to such Account. 

(b) Compliance with Law. Bank shall comply and shall cause each of its Affiliates as subcontractors providing any Services, with 
Applicable Law in all material respects relating to its activities in connection with the Program. 

(c) Corporate Existence. Bank is a nationally chartered bank, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of 
the United States and is authorized to 
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conduct business under such laws as now conducted. Bank shall maintain such status and authority during the term of this 
Agreement. 

(d) Corporate Power and Authorization. Bank represents and warrants that it has full power and authority to execute and deliver this 
Agreement and each other Transaction Agreement to which it is party, and to perform its obligations hereunder. Bank further 
represents and warrants (i) that this Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary corporate and stockholder action and has 
been duly executed and delivered by Bank and is the valid and binding obligation of Bank, enforceable against Bank in accordance 
with its terms and (ii) does not require any filing or registration with or the consent or approval of any governmental body, agency, 
authority, or any other person which has not been made or obtained. 

(e) Disaster Recovery. Bank represents, warrants and covenants that it and each of its Affiliates or subcontractor to the extent such 
Affiliate or subcontractor is performing services in connection with the Program has and shall maintain a contingency and disaster 
recovery plan to restore services affecting the Program and, to the extent practicable, will provide Company with prior written 
notification of any modification of such plans. Bank shall provide Company with the opportunity to review applicable portions of such 
plan, upon the reasonable request of Company. 

(f) No Default. Bank represents and warrants that no default has occurred which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice or 
both, and the failure cure, would constitute an Event of Default as defined in Section 8.1. 

(g) No Pending Litigation. Bank represents and warrants that there are no, civil, criminal or administrative actions, suits, claims, 
hearings, investigations or proceedings pending (including any counterclaims) or, to Bank's knowledge, threatened against Bank that 
would materially and adversely effect the ability of Bank to perform its obligations under this Agreement, or any other Transaction 
Agreement. 

(h) Noncontravention. Bank represents and warrants that the execution, delivery and performance by Bank of this Agreement and any 
other Transaction Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will not (i) 
violate the charter or by-laws or any equivalent organizational document of Bank, or (ii) violate any applicable material law, rule, 
regulation, judgment, injunction, order or decree to which Bank is subject, or (iii) violate any agreement with GE Capital or any of its 
Affiliates, or violate any other material contract, instrument or document to which Bank is a party, or (iv) constitute a default under any 
agreement with GE Capital or any of its Affiliates, or constitute a default under any other existing material contract, instrument or 
document to which Bank is a party. 

(i) Notice of Adverse Conditions. Bank agrees to notify Company, and subject to any confidentiality and other applicable legal 
requirements, promptly after Bank is notified, and in any case no later than fifteen (15) days thereafter, of any order by any court or 
regulatory body or any agreement with a court or regulatory body materially and adversely affecting the ability of Bank to furnish the 
Services, or engage in any activities, contemplated in connection with the Program or under this Agreement or is notified of any 
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activity that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Program or would reasonably be expected to have a 
material adverse effect on Company or any other Authorized Entity. Bank also agrees, subject to confidentiality requirements, to 
provide advance warning of any discussions with any court or regulatory body that would reasonably be expected to adversely 
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and materially affect any of the activities contemplated under this Agreement. Bank further represents that Bank has not suffered any 
event that has or could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse change in, or material adverse effect upon its business, 
operations, properties, assets, liabilities, reputation or condition (financial or otherwise) or a material impairment of Bank's ability to 
perform its obligations under this Agreement. 

(j) Records. Bank shall keep adequate records and books of account with respect to all of its business activities relating to the Program, 
in which proper entries, reflecting all of Bank's financial transactions with respect to the Program, are made in accordance with 
applicable accounting procedures. 

(k) Trademarks. Bank represents and warrants to Company that it has the right and power to cause Parent to license the Bank Marks to 
Company for use as contemplated by this Agreement. 

(l) Cardholder Relations. Bank shall respond to Company promptly, and cooperate with Company, in connection with efforts to resolve 
disputes with Cardholders. 

(m) Financial Covenants. Bank shall at all times throughout the Term of this Agreement, either (i) maintain an "adequately capitalized" 
status under applicable federal banking regulations, and at least $7,000,000,000 in assets determined on the same basis as in Schedule 
RC, line 12 ("Total assets") of Bank's call report, or (ii) provide a guaranty, in form and substance satisfactory to Company, of all of 
Bank' s obligations hereunder by one or more Affiliates of Bank which each meet the "adequately capitalized" criterion, and which 
together meet the Total assets criterion, set out in clause (i) above. 

ARTICLE VII 
CHARGEBACKS 

7.1. Chargebacks. Bank's chargeback rights and procedures to be followed shall be as set forth in Exhibit 7.1. 

ARTICLE VIII 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT 

8.1. Events of Default. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute an "Event of Default" hereunder: 

(a) If Bank fails to make any settlement payment (or estimated settlement payment) when due and payable pursuant to this Agreement 
and the Settlement Procedures with respect to the daily settlement payments set forth in Exhibit 4.2 and, such settlement payment or 
estimated settlement payment is not paid, within one (1) Business Day following notice of such failure to pay in the case of an 
estimated settlement payment, and within five (5) Business Days following notice of such failure to pay in the case of a settlement 
payment, other than in each case as the result of a Force Majeure Event. 
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(b) Either party shall fail to make any payment (other than a daily settlement payment pursuant to the Settlement Procedures) of any 
amount due pursuant to this Agreement when due and payable and the same shall remain unpaid for a period of thirty (30) days after 
the other party has given written notice of such failure to pay. 

(c) Either party shall breach in any material respect any covenant or other provision contained herein (other than a covenant or other 
provision that is subject to a specific Event of Default or termination provision), and the same shall remain unremedied for a period of 
30 days after written notice thereof to the breaching party. 

(d) Any representation or warranty of either party in this Agreement shall not be true and correct in any material respect as of the date 
when made or reaffirmed, and such untrue or incorrect representation or warranty shall remain unremedied for a period of 30 days after 
written notice thereof to the breaching party. 

(e) Either party (i) shall not be Solvent; (ii) shall have any proceeding instituted by or against it seeking to adjudicate it as bankrupt or 
insolvent or seeking liquidation, reorganization or any similar alternative under any law relating to bankruptcy or relief of debtors, or 
seeking the entry of an order for relief or the appointment of a receiver or other similar official for it or for any substantial part of its 
property, and, in the case of any proceeding instituted against it (but not instituted by it), either such proceeding shall remain 
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undismissed or unstayed for a period of thirty (30) days, or any of the actions sought in such proceeding (including the entry of an 
order for relief against, or the appointment of a receiver or other similar official for, it or any substantial part of its property) shall occur; 
or (iii) shall take any corporate action to authorize any of the actions set forth in clauses (i) or (ii) of this paragraph (e). 

(f) [Reserved] 

(g) If Company is no longer able to accept Visa (or, in the event of a change in the Card Association, such other Card Association's) 
credit card payments for Company Goods and/or Services, and such disability is not cured within 5 days. 

(h) If Bank changes Credit Terms (other than changes made on a case by case basis for particular Accounts or Risk-Based Repricing) 
that Company reasonably expects would have a material adverse effect on the Program, and Bank fails to provide the notice required 
pursuant to Section 3.3. 

(i) If Bank breaches or fails to meet any of the Performance Standards described in Exhibit 2.1(b), any of the Targeted Approval 
Rates/Credit Limits described in Exhibit 2.1(d)(iii), or any of the Cardholder Terms Trigger Events described in Exhibit 2.3(e). 

8.2. Remedies. Upon an Event of Default, the nondefaulting party may terminate this Agreement by giving the other party notice of 
termination, which right shall be in addition to any other rights or remedies available to the non-defaulting party under this Agreement; 
provided however, termination of the Agreement and exercise of Company's rights pursuant to Article IX, and/or exercise by Company 
of its rights with respect to an Alternate Primary Program pursuant to Exhibit 2.3(e), and/or the right to require performance by Bank of 
any obligations under Article X with respect to third party claims, shall be Company's sole and exclusive remedies for breaches by 
Bank consisting only of Events of Default under Section 8.1 (i). In the event the nondefaulting party gives notice of termination under 
this Section 8.2, this 
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Agreement shall terminate (A) on the termination date specified in the nondefaulting party's termination notice, which must be at least 
30 days after the date on which the nondefaulting party gave the termination notice, provided that such termination shall not occur 
until the waiver in writing or expiration of Company's right to provide notice of its election to purchase the Portfolio Assets, or (B) if 
Company timely gives notice that it exercises its right under 
Section 9.2 to purchase the Portfolio Assets, upon the date on which the closing of the purchase by Company of the Portfolio Assets 
pursuant to Section 9.2 shall take place. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default by Company under Section 
8.1, Bank, if it shall give notice of termination pursuant to this Section 8.2, shall thereafter have the right to suspend its obligation 
hereunder to pay any Account Contingent Payments pursuant to Section 2.6(a) and Exhibit 2.6(a) so long as such Event of Default 
remains uncured. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default by Company under Section 8.1(g), Bank, if it shall give notice of 
termination pursuant to this Section 8.2, shall thereafter have the right to suspend its obligation hereunder to open new Co-Branded 
Bankcard Accounts and new Rewards Accounts so long as such Event of Default remains uncured. 

ARTICLE IX 
TERM/TERMINATION 

9.1. Initial and Renewal Term; Change in Control of Company. 

(a) Initial and Renewal Term. Except as expressly set forth in 
Section 2.3(d) with regard to preliminary work on the arrangements to allow secondary offers of credit and as expressly set forth in 
Section 2.6(d) with regard to preliminary work on establishing the Rewards program, which provisions shall be effective as of the date 
of execution of this Agreement, and except for the provisions of Article X and Sections 11.2, 11.3, 11.4, 11.6, 11.7, 11.8, 11.9, 11.10, 11.11, 
11.12, 11.13, 11.14, 11.16, 11.17, 11.19, 11.20, 11.21, 11.24, 11.25, 11.26, 11.27, which, only to the extent they may apply to the 
aforementioned provisions within Section 2.3(d) and 2.6(d), shall be effective as of the date of execution of this Agreement, this 
Agreement shall be effective as of the Effective Date and shall remain in effect until the seventh anniversary of the Closing Date 
("Initial Term"), and shall thereafter be automatically renewed for successive three year terms (the "Renewal Term(s)") unless either 
party notifies the other of its intent not to renew at least one year prior to the end of the Initial Term or then current Renewal Term. If 
such notice is given, termination of this Agreement shall occur (A) at the expiration of the Initial Term or then current Renewal Term, 
provided that such termination shall not occur until the waiver in writing or expiration of Company's right to provide notice of its 
election to purchase the Portfolio Assets, or (B) if Company timely gives notice that it exercises its right under Section 9.2 to purchase 
the Portfolio Assets, upon the date on which the closing of the purchase by Company of the Portfolio Assets pursuant to Section 9.2 
shall take place. 

(b) Change in Control. In the event of a Change in Control of Company, which results in Company being controlled by a Person who is 
either (i) a major competitor of Bank or (ii) a domestic U.S. retailer with an existing competing private label or co-brand (other than a 
Visa or MasterCard program including a rewards component with a consumer earned 
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value equivalent to at least 1% of card purchases) credit card program with at least $500 million in outstanding receivables provided by 
a competitor of Bank identified in Exhibit 9.1(b) , or (iii) a domestic U.S. retailer with an existing competing private label or co-brand 
(other than a Visa or MasterCard program including a rewards component with a consumer earned value equivalent to at least 1% of 
card purchases) credit card program provided by such company or an Affiliate of such company, which retailer ceases utilizing the 
Company Marks in a material number of Company Locations, then Company or Bank shall have the right to terminate this Agreement. 
Company shall, as soon as legally permitted to do so, advise Bank of any event that it reasonably believes to be a Change in Control, 
which results in Company being controlled by such a Person. Furthermore, Bank may give notice to Company if based on information 
known to Bank, Bank reasonably believes that there has occurred such a Change in Control of Company and if not refuted by 
Company within 15 days of such notice, such a Change in Control of Company will be deemed to have occurred. In order to be 
effective, the notice of termination must be delivered within 180 days of (A) the date on which Company gives Bank notice that a 
Change in Control of Company has occurred, or, if earlier, (B) the date on which such a Change in Control of Company was deemed to 
have occurred due to Company's failure to refute Bank's notice to Company as hereinabove set forth. If such notice is given, 
termination of this Agreement shall occur (A) 180 days after delivery of the notice of termination, provided that such termination shall 
not occur until the waiver in writing or expiration of Company's right to provide notice of its election to purchase the Portfolio Assets, 
or (B) if Company timely gives notice that it exercises its right under Section 9.2 to purchase the Portfolio Assets, upon the date on 
which the closing of the purchase by Company of the Portfolio Assets pursuant to Section 9.2 shall take place. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, Company shall have the right to offer in writing to disclose to Bank, under a nondisclosure agreement requiring Bank to 
hold such disclosure strictly confidential, the identity of such a Person who is referred to in (i) or (ii) or 
(iii) above and who may obtain control of the Company, and Bank shall have 14 days from execution of the nondisclosure agreement to 
respond by specifying in writing whether Bank would or would not exercise its right hereunder to terminate this Agreement. Bank shall 
be bound by its response in the event there follows a Change in Control of Company in which such Person referred to in (i) or (ii) or 
(iii) above shall obtain control of Company, and Bank shall be deemed to have waived its right hereunder to proceed other than in 
accord with such response. If Bank fails, within such 14 day period, to respond in writing as to whether it would terminate, or if Bank 
fails, for more than 10 days after being requested by Company to execute a commercially reasonable nondisclosure agreement, to 
execute same, Bank shall be deemed to have waived its right hereunder to terminate upon such a Change in Control. 

(c) Termination Upon Divestiture. Bank shall have the right to terminate the Agreement if a Divestiture shall occur, provided Bank 
gives notice of termination within 60 days following the occurrence of the Divestiture. In such event, termination of this Agreement 
shall occur (A) 180 days after delivery of the notice of termination, provided that such termination shall not occur until the waiver in 
writing or expiration of Company's right to provide notice of its election to purchase the Portfolio Assets, or (B) if Company timely 
gives notice that it exercises its right under Section 9.2 to purchase the Portfolio Assets, upon the date on which the closing of the 
purchase by Company of the Portfolio Assets pursuant to Section 9.2 shall take place. 
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(d) Company's Right to Terminate and/or Introduce Alternate Primary Programs. In the event there shall occur any of the triggering 
events specified in Exhibit 2.3(e), Company may terminate this Agreement, or may exercise its rights with respect to Alternate Primary 
Programs, or may do both, at the times and on the basis set forth in Exhibit 2.3(e). Whenever Company has the right to terminate 
pursuant to Exhibit 2.3(e), Company may terminate this Agreement by giving written notice of termination to Bank. In the event 
Company gives such notice, termination of this Agreement shall occur (A) 180 days after delivery of the notice of termination, 
provided that such termination shall not occur until the waiver in writing or expiration of Company's right to provide notice of its 
election to purchase the Portfolio Assets, or (B) if Company timely gives notice that it exercises its right under Section 9.2 to purchase 
the Portfolio Assets, upon the date on which the closing of the purchase by Company of the Portfolio Assets pursuant to Section 9.2 
shall take place. 
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(e) [Reserved] 

(f) Company may elect to terminate this Agreement by giving written notice of termination within 30 days after the later of (i) the end of 
any Measurement Period for which Net Yield calculated pursuant to Section 2.6(f) was below the Target Net Yield, and (ii) receipt by 
Company from Bank of notification of such Net Yield for such Measurement Period; provided Company repays any shortfall amounts 
owing for such Measurement Period as provided in Exhibit 2.6(f). In the event such notice is given, this Agreement shall terminate (A) 
on the termination date specified in Company's notice, which must be at least 30 days after the date on which Company gave the 
termination notice, provided that such termination shall not occur until the waiver in writing or expiration of Company's right to provide 
notice of its election to purchase the Portfolio Assets, or (B) if Company timely gives notice that it exercises its right under Section 9.2 
to purchase the Portfolio Assets, upon the date on which the closing of the purchase by Company of the Portfolio Assets pursuant to 
Section 9.2 shall take place. 
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(g) Material Change in Law, Etc. In the event that any material change in any Applicable Law makes the continued performance of this 
Agreement under the then current terms and conditions illegal, then Bank shall have the right to terminate this Agreement by giving 
written notice of termination within 30 days of the date of the change in Applicable Law; provided that Bank may terminate under this 
provision only if (i) Bank shall have first communicated in writing to Company a remedial action proposal required to conform with 
Applicable Law and which minimizes any adverse impact to Company, (ii) Company shall have been given the opportunity to propose 
an alternative remedy to comply with Applicable Law, and (iii) the parties have cooperated and operated in good faith in an effort to 
reach a mutually satisfactory implementation plan to conform to Applicable Law. Such written notice shall include a detailed 
explanation and evidence of the illegality imposed as a result of such change. If Bank gives such notice of termination and the parties 
are unable to reach a mutually satisfactory implementation plan in the manner described above, termination of this Agreement shall 
occur (A) 180 days after delivery of the notice of termination, provided that such termination shall not occur until the waiver in writing 
or expiration of Company's right to provide notice of its election to purchase the Portfolio Assets, or (B) if Company timely gives 
notice that it exercises its right under Section 9.2 to purchase the Portfolio Assets, upon the date on which the closing of the purchase 
by Company of the Portfolio Assets pursuant to Section 9.2 shall take place. 

(h) In the event Bank revises, in a manner permitted under Section 
3.6(c), the Bank Privacy Policy or Credit Applications or Credit Card Agreements, other than pursuant to a change in Applicable Law, 
such that the Bank Privacy Policy or Credit Applications or Credit Card Agreements provide less sharing than the then current 
industry standard and results in a material reduction in Company's then existing promotions of Company Goods and/or Services, 
Company may elect to terminate this Agreement by giving written notice of termination to Bank which notice shall include a detailed 
explanation of Company's material reduction in its then existing promotions of Company Goods and/or Services. In the event Company 
gives such notice, termination of this Agreement shall occur (A) 180 days after delivery of the notice of termination, provided that 
such termination shall not occur until the waiver in writing or expiration of Company's right to provide notice of its election to purchase 
the Portfolio Assets, or (B) if Company timely gives notice that it exercises its right under Section 9.2 to purchase the 
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Portfolio Assets, upon the date on which the closing of the purchase by Company of the Portfolio Assets pursuant to Section 9.2 shall 
take place. 

9.2. Purchase Right. 

(a) Upon any termination or expiration of this Agreement (other than by Bank pursuant to Section 8.2 or 9.1(c) or by Company 
pursuant to Section 
9.1(b) or as a result of non-renewal notice given by Company or Bank pursuant to 
Section 9.1(a)), Company may, in its sole discretion, elect to purchase (or cause its designee to purchase) all of the Accounts 
(including all Indebtedness, Account Documentation, Bank Portfolio Information and other rights associated with the Accounts, but 
excluding Written-Off Accounts and other carve-outs as were applicable in connection with the Purchase and Sale Agreement) (the 
"Portfolio Assets"). Upon any termination of this Agreement by Bank pursuant to 
Section 8.2 or 9.1(c) or by Company pursuant to Section 9.1(b) or as a result of non-renewal notice given by Company or Bank 
pursuant to Section 9.1(a), Company may, in its sole discretion, elect to purchase (or cause its designee to purchase) the Portfolio 
Assets, and Bank may, in its sole discretion, elect to cause Company (or, at Company's option, Company's designee) to purchase the 
Portfolio Assets relating to the Private Label Accounts ("Private Label Portfolio Assets"), but Company shall have no obligation to 
effect a purchase of the Private Label Portfolio Assets pursuant to such an election by Bank unless and until Company shall have 
either 

(1) elected (in Company's sole discretion) to cease honoring the Private Label Account Credit Cards in those Company Locations in 
which the Private Label Account Credit Cards were honored prior to the termination hereof and while they remain Company Locations 
(other than Company's election to cease honoring the Private Label Account Credit Cards as a result of Bank's failure to settle for 
transactions effected by use of the Private Label Credit Cards in accordance with the provisions of Article IV hereof or Bank's failure to 
continue to maintain the Performance Standards hereunder in connection with Company's continuing to honor the Private Label Credit 
Cards), or 

(2) elected (in Company's sole discretion) to commence offering another credit card program (other than a Visa or MasterCard program 
with a rewards component with a consumer earned value equivalent to at least 1% of card purchases), 

and provided Bank shall not have itself effected any sale of any of the Private Label Portfolio Assets or exercised any rights under 
Section 9.6(iii) with respect to any Private Label Portfolio Assets or otherwise managed the Private Label Portfolio Assets in a manner 
inconsistent with the management of the Private Label Portfolio Assets during the Term hereof (the occurrence of any of which shall 
terminate any right of Bank to require Company (or its designee) to purchase the Private Label Portfolio Assets). The purchase of the 
Portfolio Assets or Private Label Portfolio Assets shall be for a purchase price determined in accordance with Section 9.2(b), and on 

   2004.  EDGAR Online, Inc.



such representations, warranties and other terms as shall be similar to those 
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provisions of the Purchase and Sale Agreement which were applicable to Purchased Assets of the same kinds as the Portfolio Assets 
(or Private Label Portfolio Assets, as applicable). 

In the event of notice of non-renewal pursuant to Section 
9.1(a) by either party, Company shall notify Bank within 180 days after delivery of the notice of termination, if Company elects to 
exercise its purchase right, and Bank shall notify Company within 180 days after delivery of the notice of termination if Bank elects to 
cause Company (or Company's designee) to purchase the Private Label Portfolio Assets (upon the satisfaction of the conditions set 
out above in the second sentence of this Section 9.2(a)). In the event Bank gives notice of early termination pursuant to Section 8.2 
hereof, Company shall notify Bank within 120 days after initial receipt of the Valuation Masterfile from Bank as set forth below in this 
Section, if Company elects to exercise its right to purchase (or have its designee purchase) the Portfolio Assets, and Bank shall notify 
Company within said 120 days if Bank elects to exercise its right to require Company (or Company's designee) to purchase the Private 
Label Portfolio Assets. In the event of the early termination of this Agreement prior to the end of the Initial Term or a Renewal Term by 
Company pursuant to Section 
9.1(b), or by Bank pursuant to Section 9.1(c), Company shall notify Bank within 150 days after initial receipt of the Valuation Masterfile 
from Bank as set forth below in this Section if Company elects to exercise its right to purchase (or have its designee purchase) the 
Portfolio Assets, and Bank shall notify Company within said 150 days if Bank elects to exercise its right to require Company (or 
Company's designee) to purchase the Private Label Portfolio Assets. In the event of the early termination of this Agreement prior to 
the end of the Initial Term or a Renewal Term by Company pursuant to Section 8.2, 9.1(d), 
9.1(f), 9.1(h) or 9.5(c), or by Bank pursuant to Section 9.1(b), 9.5(d) or 
9.1(g), Company shall notify Bank within 150 days after initial receipt of the Valuation Masterfile from Bank as set forth below in this 
Section if Company elects to exercise its right to purchase (or have its designee purchase) the Portfolio Assets. (If Company gives a 
notice exercising its right to purchase, or to have its designee purchase, the Portfolio Assets and Bank gives a notice exercising its 
right, if any, to require Company (or Company's designee) to purchase the Private Label Portfolio Assets, then the parties shall 
proceed on the basis of Company's notice.) Any purchase and sale of the Portfolio Assets shall close no later than (A) the end of the 
Initial Term or Renewal Term, as applicable (or, if later, upon receipt of any necessary regulatory approvals), if termination of the 
Agreement is pursuant to Section 9.1(a), and (B) in all other cases, within 90 days following the determination of the Purchase Price 
pursuant to the provisions hereinafter set forth (or, if later, upon receipt of any necessary regulatory approvals), except that if the date 
by which the purchase and sale shall close, determined in accordance with the foregoing, would be later than October 31 of any 
calendar year, Company may by written notice to Bank elect to extend such period by an additional 90 days. Any purchase and sale of 
the Private Label Portfolio Assets shall close no later than the latest of (A) within 90 days following the determination of the Purchase 
Price pursuant to the provisions hereinafter set forth, or (B) receipt of any necessary regulatory approvals. Bank will manage the 
Portfolio Assets in the ordinary course of business consistent with the prior practices of Bank with respect to the management of the 
Portfolio Assets and, unless otherwise mutually agreed by Bank and Company, and except as otherwise set forth in Section 8.2, both 
parties shall continue to perform all of their obligations (including the establishing of new Accounts and the payment of all fees and 
other compensation) under this Agreement, until the Termination Date (and, in the case of obligations which survive termination, 
continuing thereafter). Company and Bank agree to use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any necessary regulatory approvals 
relating to the purchase and sale of the 
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Portfolio Assets or the Private Label Portfolio Assets pursuant to this Section 
9.2. If the purchase of the Portfolio Assets or the Private Label Portfolio Assets does not occur (due to failure to obtain regulatory 
approval) within 270 days of the execution of a purchase and sale agreement related to such purchase, then Company's right to 
purchase (or have its designee purchase) the Portfolio Assets and the Bank's right, if any, to cause Company (or Company's designee) 
to purchase the Private Label Portfolio Assets, (and each party's right to give notice of its election to exercise such right) shall 
immediately expire for all purposes of this Agreement and be of no further effect. 

The parties shall cooperate with each other in connection with any sale or possible sale of the Portfolio Assets (or Private Label 
Portfolio Assets), including providing the entire Valuation Masterfile (with data for as long a period as is readily available on Bank's 
system, but in no event less than 12 months; Bank's Valuation Masterfile data retention policies for the Program must be no less than 
for its other programs and its credit card business in general) of portfolio data and other customary information to prospective 
purchasers, participating in due diligence by prospective purchasers and otherwise facilitating the evaluation of the Portfolio Assets 
(or Private Label Portfolio Assets) by prospective purchasers. Bank shall provide the Valuation Masterfile within 30 days following 
delivery of any termination notice, by either party, under any provisions of this Agreement, and shall provide an updated Valuation 
Masterfile every 30 days thereafter. In addition, in the event Bank gives notice of its exercise of its right to require Company (or its 
designee) to purchase the Private Label Portfolio Assets, then, within 30 days of the date on which the conditions set forth in the 
second sentence of 
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Section 9.2(a) shall be satisfied, Bank shall provide another updated Valuation Masterfile (the "Updated Valuation Masterfile"). Bank 
shall have the right to require prospective purchasers to sign a customary form of confidentiality and non-disclosure agreement prior 
to obtaining access to confidential information relating to the Portfolio Assets (or Private Label Portfolio Assets). At the closing, Bank 
shall also enter into an interim servicing agreement relating to the Portfolio Assets (or Private Label Portfolio Assets) on customary 
terms and conditions, including the payment to the Bank by the purchaser of the Bank's reasonable costs for providing the interim 
services. If Company does not exercise its purchase right in the time frame and manner required herein, such right shall expire and this 
Section 9.2 (a) shall be of no further effect, except to the extent Bank may have the right to require Company to purchase the Private 
Label Portfolio Assets, in which case if Bank does not exercise such right in the time frame and manner required herein, such right shall 
expire and this Section 9.2(a) shall be of no further effect. 

(b) If Company elects to purchase or direct the purchase of the Portfolio Assets, or if Bank elects to require Company to purchase the 
Private Label Portfolio Assets in those circumstances in which Bank has such right pursuant to Section 9.2(a), Bank and Company, or 
the designee selected by Company ("New Issuer"), as the case may be (the "Buyer") shall meet in good faith for a period of thirty (30) 
calendar days following the date on which Company provides notice of its intention to purchase the Portfolio Assets, or beginning 30 
days after receipt of the Updated Valuation Masterfile ("Exclusive Negotiation Period"), to reach agreement on the purchase price of 
the Portfolio Assets or of the Private Label Portfolio Assets, as the case may be ("Purchase Price"). 

If Bank and the Buyer are unable to agree upon the Purchase Price, the "Purchase Price" shall be determined in the manner set forth in 
Exhibit 9.2(b). 
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Promptly following agreement upon the Purchase Price or determination of the Purchase Price in the manner set forth in Exhibit 9.2(b), 
Bank shall provide the Buyer a purchase and sale agreement containing provisions similar to those provisions of the Purchase and 
Sale Agreement which were applicable to Purchased Assets of the same kinds as the Portfolio Assets (or Private Label Portfolio 
Assets, as applicable), for accomplishing the sale of the Portfolio Assets (or Private Label Portfolio Assets, as applicable) to the Buyer. 
If all or any portion of the Portfolio Assets (or Private Label Portfolio Assets, as applicable) are held in a loan or asset securitization 
trust or other securitization entity from which the Accounts and the related Indebtedness can be removed, such purchase and sale 
agreement shall establish a closing date that allows Bank sufficient time, consistent with industry practices, to remove such Accounts 
and related Indebtedness. If all or any portion of the Portfolio Assets (or Private Label Portfolio Assets, as applicable) are held in the 
Trust or another securitization entity and Bank cannot effect such removal, then Bank shall, in connection with the closing of the 
purchase of the Portfolio Assets (or Private Label Portfolio Assets, as applicable) by the Buyer, cause appropriate transfers to the 
Buyer (and, if applicable, any related special purpose entity) of the Bank's interests in the Portfolio Assets (or Private Label Portfolio 
Assets, as applicable) held in the Trust or such other securitization entity, including the Bank's rights and obligations as servicer and 
any interests retained by the Bank in such Portfolio Assets (or Private Label Portfolio Assets, as applicable); provided that this 
sentence shall only apply if, at the time of such transfers, the related securitization documents allow the transfer of Bank's rights and 
obligations as servicer and the Trust or such other securitization entity holds only Portfolio Assets (or Private Label Portfolio Assets, 
as applicable). Company understands that any removal of accounts or receivables from a securitization program or any transfer of 
accounts or receivables subject to a securitization program is subject to (i) if the related securitization transaction is rated, the approval 
of each rating agency then rating such securitization transaction (including the receipt by Bank of a confirmation from such rating 
agency that such removal or transfer will not result in a reduction or withdrawal of such rating), (ii) the receipt by Bank of the approval 
or consent of each other party to such securitization transaction who has the right to approve or consent to such removal or transfer 
and (iii) Bank's reasonable determination that such removal or transfer will not have a material negative accounting, legal, regulatory or 
tax effect on Bank, its affiliates or the related securitization trust or other securitization entity. Bank shall use its best efforts to effect 
any such removal or transfer on an expedited basis. In the event Bank becomes aware that Bank is unable to effect such removal or 
transfer, then Bank shall provide written notice of same to Company within 30 days and, notwithstanding Section 9.2(a) of this 
Agreement, unless the parties in their sole discretion shall otherwise mutually agree in writing, the Company's right to purchase (or 
have its designee purchase) the Portfolio Assets, and the Bank's right, if any, to cause Company (or its designee) to purchase the 
Private Label Portfolio Assets, as applicable, (and each party's right to give notice of its election to exercise such right) shall 
immediately expire for all purposes of this Agreement and be of no further effect unless Bank, prior to the Termination Date, notifies 
Company that it can effect such removal or transfer. Unless the inability to effect such removal or transfer is the result of a change in 
Applicable Law, any obligation Company would otherwise have under Section 9.6(vi) shall terminate. 

39 

9.3. Liquidation. 

(a) Following termination of the Agreement, Bank shall have the right to liquidate the Accounts that have not been purchased by 
Company (or its designee), by any lawful manner including without limitation (i) collecting the receivables or (ii) selling or issuing a 
replacement or substitute credit card; provided, however, that (x) Bank shall not sell the Accounts to retailers involved in a 
Competition Program or to institutions which provide such retailers with any payment products nor shall Bank (or any purchaser of 
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any Accounts) issue a replacement or substitute card or account or payment card product that is co-branded with, or in any way 
associated with a Competition Program, and (y) Bank shall insure that any Person to which Bank may sell the Accounts, and any 
successors and assigns, whether direct or indirect, of such Person, are likewise subject to the same restrictions as set forth in (x) above 
and in Section 9.6(ii) and (iii) below. 

(b) Non-Compete. Following termination of the Agreement, with regard to Cardholders whose Accounts shall not have been 
purchased by Company or its designee, Company and any Authorized Entity shall have the right to solicit in Company or Authorized 
Entity stores or at Company or Authorized Entity Internet sites, such Cardholders for a successor program, which may include 
co-branded bankcard and private label credit cards. Company's, Authorized Entity's or designee's communications with such 
Cardholders may not make direct reference to the Bank and the Program for any purpose. With respect to all such Cardholders' 
Accounts established pursuant to this Agreement, Company agrees that neither Company nor its Affiliates shall by itself or in 
conjunction with others, directly or indirectly, for a period of two (2) years following the termination of this Agreement for any reason 
whatsoever (other than due to an Event of Default by Bank), specifically target any offer of a credit card, charge card and/or payment 
card or related products to such Cardholders in their capacity as Cardholders, but the foregoing shall not be construed as limiting in 
any way Company's rights to solicit, or to authorize any Person to solicit, such Cardholders for any product or service of any kind 
including any credit card, charge card and/or payment card or related products, in their capacity as customers or prospective 
customers of Company or Authorized Entities, or in any capacity whatsoever other than that of Cardholders under the Program and, 
accordingly, Company shall be under no obligation to cause any list of Persons used in connection with any solicitation to have 
names of such Cardholders deleted therefrom. 

9.4. Securitization. Notwithstanding any other language contained in this Agreement which might be construed to the contrary, 
Company agrees that Bank may enter into one or more securitization transactions with respect to the Accounts and, in connection with 
such transactions, sell the related Indebtedness; provided that the documents governing any such transaction shall contain 
provisions allowing Bank to reacquire such Indebtedness upon expiration of this Agreement or upon termination of this Agreement by 
Company (subject to the account removal conditions described in Section 9.2(b)) unless the omission of such provisions would be 
consistent with industry standards or Bank's general securitization practices (it being understood that such provisions need not refer 
specifically to this Agreement or Company and that Bank may omit, delete or modify any removal-of-account provision or other 
provision 
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allowing it to reclaim Indebtedness transferred in a securitization transaction to the extent necessary to account for such transfer as a 
sale under applicable accounting guidelines). Company shall sign any documents and consents reasonably requested by Bank, 
underwriters, agents, rating agencies, investors or credit enhancers in connection with any such securitization transaction; provided 
that such documents and consents do not require Company to incur any additional expense or to assume any additional liability. In 
connection with any such securitization transaction, Bank shall obtain from any trustee or other third party to whom the Indebtedness 
is transferred appropriate assurances that the confidentiality of the Account information will be maintained and that the Account 
information will be used only for the purpose of implementing the related securitization program. 

9.5. Force Majeure. 

(a) Definition of Force Majeure. Neither party shall be considered to be in default in the performance of any obligations under this 
Agreement when a failure of performance shall be due to a Force Majeure Event. A "Force Majeure Event" shall mean an unanticipated 
event which is not reasonably within the control of the affected party or its affiliates or permitted subcontractor and which by exercise 
of reasonable due diligence, such affected party or its Affiliates or permitted subcontractors could not reasonably have been expected 
to avoid, overcome or obtain or cause to be obtained a commercially reasonable substitute therefore. Such causes may include, 
without limitation, the following: flood, earthquake, tornado, storm, fire, explosion, public emergency, civil disobedience, labor dispute, 
labor or material shortage, war, terrorism, sabotage, restraint by court order or public authority (whether valid or invalid), and action or 
non-action by or inability to obtain or keep the necessary authorizations or approvals from any governmental agency or authority; 
however, no party shall be relieved of its obligations hereunder, if its failure of performance is due to removable or remediable causes 
which such party fails to remove or remedy using commercially reasonable efforts within a reasonable time period. Either party 
rendered unable to fulfill any of its obligations under this Agreement by reason of a Force Majeure Event shall give twenty-four 
(24) hours notice of such fact to the other and shall exercise due diligence to remove such inability with all reasonable dispatch. The 
affected party shall provide notice to the other party within twenty-four (24) hours of the cessation of such Force Majeure Event. 

(b) Exclusions from Force Majeure. The following events shall not be deemed a Force Majeure Event: (i) Bank's failure to perform its 
obligations because of Bank's failure to comply with, or the failure of Bank's Disaster Recovery Plan; or (ii) Company's failure to 
perform its obligations because of Company's failure to comply with, or the failure of Company's Disaster Recovery Plan. 

(c) This Agreement may be terminated by Company by giving written notice to Bank in the event that a Force Majeure Event shall 
prevent Bank from performing any Critical Functions for a period of at least 10 days, or by Company by giving written notice to Bank in 
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the event that a Force Majeure Event shall prevent Bank from performing any material obligations (other than Critical Functions) under 
this Agreement for a period of at least 60 days (each period as applicable constitutes the Force Majeure Period). 
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(d) This Agreement may be terminated by Bank by giving written notice to Company in the event that a Force Majeure Event shall 
prevent Company from performing point-of-sale operations at Company Locations for a period of at least 10 days, or by Bank by 
giving written notice to Company in the event that a Force Majeure Event shall prevent Company from performing any material 
obligations (other than point-of-sale operations at Company Locations) under this Agreement for a period of at least 60 days (each 
period as applicable constitutes the Force Majeure Period). 

(e) If notice of termination is given by Bank or Company under (c) or 
(d) above, termination of this Agreement shall occur (A) immediately upon delivery of the notice of termination, provided that such 
termination shall not occur until the waiver in writing or expiration of Company's right to provide notice of its election to purchase the 
Portfolio Assets, or (B) if Company timely gives notice that it exercises its right under Section 9.2 to purchase the Portfolio Assets, 
upon the date on which the closing of the purchase by Company of the Portfolio Assets pursuant to Section 9.2 shall take place. 

9.6. Effect of Termination. Upon termination of this Agreement: 

(i) Company shall promptly return to Bank all take-one and other marketing materials that have been supplied to Company by Bank; 

(ii) All Accounts which have been opened pursuant to the terms hereof, together with all Accounts for which applications have been 
received but not yet processed by Bank as of the effective date of such termination, to the extent not purchased by Company (or its 
designee) pursuant to Section 9.2, shall remain the sole and exclusive property of Bank, subject to Section 3.6(b)(i) and 
(iv) and Section 9.3; 

(iii) With regard to Accounts not purchased by Company (or its designee) pursuant to Section 9.2 and the Cardholders thereof, to the 
extent permissible under Applicable Law, Bank shall have the right to: 

(1) reissue as a replacement or in substitution for Credit Card(s) previously issued to such Cardholders pursuant to this Agreement, 
any payment card product offered by Bank or its Affiliates (other than one which is co-branded for or otherwise involves a 
Competition Program) which makes no reference to Company or any Authorized Entity, and 

(2) issue to applicants whose applications are received after the effective date of such termination, any payment card product offered 
by Bank or its Affiliates (other than one which is co-branded for or otherwise involves a Competition Program) which makes no 
reference to Company or any Authorized Entity on such card(s), and 

(3) offer such Cardholders products and services of Persons (other than the retailers involved in a Competition Program or the 
institutions which provide such retailers with any payment products) provided such offers make no reference to Company or any 
Authorized Entity; 

42 

(iv) Bank shall suspend (1) soliciting or opening new Accounts and (2) (except while Company is continuing to honor Private Label 
Account Credit Cards as provided under (vi) below) granting additional credit under Private Label Accounts, and (3) issuing any 
Credit Cards, whether by way of replacement, substitution or otherwise; 

(v) In the event of early termination, the Promotional Fee Credit for the Program Year in which termination occurs will be prorated by 
multiplying the Promotional Fee Credit by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days elapsed in the Program Year prior to 
the Termination Date and the denominator of which is 365; and 

(vi) If the termination was not one in connection with which, pursuant to Section 9.2(a), Bank is afforded the right to require Company 
to purchase the Private Label Portfolio Assets, then, Company shall continue to honor the Private Label Account Credit Cards until the 
earlier of (1) 12 months following the Termination Date or (2) Company's election to cease honoring the Private Label Account Credit 
Cards due to Bank's failure to settle for transactions effected by use of the Private Label Credit Cards in accordance with the 
provisions of Article IV hereof or Bank's failure to continue to maintain the Performance Standards hereunder in connection with 
Company's continuing to honor the Private Label Credit Cards, or (3) Bank's exercise of any of its rights pursuant to (iii) above, or (4) 
Bank's exercise of its right to sell the Private Label Credit Card Accounts pursuant to Section 9.3. 

ARTICLE X 
INDEMNIFICATION 
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10.1. Indemnified Losses. "Indemnified Losses" means any and all losses, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including 
reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses), settlement amounts as, judgments, damages, claims, demands, offsets, defenses, 
counterclaims, actions or proceedings, subpoenas, investigations, and related interest or penalties, including (subject to Section 11.26) 
any incidental, consequential, exemplary or indirect damages, lost profits or other business interruption damages, in tort, contract or 
otherwise, if any. 

10.2. Indemnification by Company. Company agrees to indemnify, defend, protect and hold harmless Bank and its Affiliates, and their 
respective agents, employees, officers and directors, from and against any and all Indemnified Losses arising out of, relating to, or 
resulting from: 

(a) Company Goods and/or Services charged to a Private Label Account or Co-Branded Bankcard Account or Rewards Account, 
including (i) the quality or workmanship of such Company Goods and/or Services, (ii) the compliance of such Company Goods and/or 
Services with Applicable Law, licensing or registration requirements, (iii) product liability or warranty claims relating directly to such 
Company Goods and/or Services; 

(b) Any breach by Company or another Authorized Entity of any of the terms, covenants, representations, warranties, or other 
provisions contained in this Agreement; 
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(b1) Use by Company of advertising, marketing, promotion or solicitation materials not approved by Bank or not consistent with the 
marketing copy specifications manual referred to Section 2.3(b); 

(c) The failure by Company or another Authorized Entity to comply with Applicable Law as provided in Section 2.2(i); 

(d) Any negligent act, willful misconduct, or negligent omission where there was a duty to act by Company or another Authorized 
Entity directly relating to an Account, a Cardholder, a prospective Cardholder, Account Documentation, or any items of Indebtedness; 

(e) Any unlawful use by Company or another Authorized Entity of Company Customer Information or Bank Portfolio Information or 
any allegation that the use by Company or another Authorized Entity of Company Customer Information or Bank Portfolio Information 
was unlawful; 

(f) Any claim that Bank's use of the Company Marks infringes any third party's intellectual property rights, except to the extent caused 
by Bank's failure to use the Company Marks in accordance with the terms of this Agreement or the Company Trademark License 
Agreement; or 

(g) Any third party claim arising out of or in connection with personal injuries suffered at Company Locations. 

10.3. Indemnification by Bank. Bank agrees to indemnify, defend, protect and hold harmless Company, other Authorized Entities and 
their Affiliates, agents, employees, officers and directors, from and against any and all Indemnified Losses arising out of, relating to, or 
resulting from: 

(a) Any acts or omissions of Bank with respect to the extension of credit pursuant to the Program; 

(b) Any breach by Bank of any of the terms, covenants, representations, warranties, or other provisions contained in this Agreement; 

(c) The failure of Bank or its Affiliates, or the failure of Account Documentation, or procedures provided by Bank relating to the 
Program, to comply with Applicable Law; 

(d) Any negligent act, willful misconduct or negligent omission where there was a duty to act by Bank or its Affiliates relating to an 
Account, a Cardholder, a prospective Cardholder, Account Documentation or any items of Indebtedness; 

(e) Any unlawful use by Bank or its Affiliates of Bank Portfolio Information or Company Customer Information or any allegation that 
the use by Bank or its Affiliates of Company Customer Information or Bank Portfolio Information was unlawful; or 
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(f) Any claim that Company's use of the Bank Marks infringes any third party's intellectual property rights, except to the extent caused 
by Company's failure to use the Bank Marks in accordance with the terms of this Agreement or the Bank Trademark License 
Agreement. 
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10.4. Notice. Each party shall provide prompt notice to the other of any third-party claims for which indemnity is sought, provided that 
any failure or delay in providing such notice shall not affect the indemnification obligations of the indemnifying party, except to the 
extent that the indemnifying party shall have been materially prejudiced by such failure. In any event, the indemnifying party and the 
indemnified party shall cooperate (at no cost to the indemnified party) in the settlement or defense of any such claim, as set forth 
below. 

10.5. General Procedure. Provided that notice in accordance with Section 10.4 is given, the indemnifying party, at its own expense and 
using counsel of its own choosing, will promptly defend, contest and otherwise protect against any such claim, suit or proceeding. If 
the indemnifying party fails to timely defend, contest or otherwise protect against any such claim, suit or proceeding, the indemnified 
party may, but will not be obligated to, defend, contest or otherwise protect against the same, and make any compromise or settlement 
thereof and recover the entire cost of the defense, compromise or settlement from the indemnifying party, including reasonable fees 
and disbursements of counsel and amounts paid as a result of the resolution, settlement or compromise of such claim, suit or 
proceeding. 

10.6. Role of Indemnified Party. The indemnified party may, but will not be obligated to, participate in the defense of any third-party 
claim, suit or proceeding, at its own expense and using counsel of its own choosing, but the indemnifying party shall be entitled to 
control the defense thereof unless the indemnified party has relieved the indemnifying party from liability with respect to the particular 
matter. The indemnified party shall cooperate and provide such assistance as the indemnifying party reasonably may request in 
connection with the indemnifying party's defense and shall be entitled to recover from the indemnifying party the reasonable 
out-of-pocket costs of providing such assistance (including reasonable fees of any counsel retained by the indemnified party with the 
consent of the indemnifying party to facilitate such assistance). The indemnifying party shall inform the indemnified party on a regular 
basis of the status of any claim, suit or proceeding and the indemnifying party's defense thereof. Any payments required to be made 
under this Article X shall be made promptly by the party responsible therefor. 

10.7. Limitations on Parties. In any third-party claim, suit or proceeding, the defense of which is controlled by the indemnifying party: 
(i) the indemnifying party shall not, without the indemnified party's prior written consent, compromise or settle such claim, suit or 
proceeding, if (1) such compromise or settlement would impose an injunction or other equitable relief upon the indemnified party or (2) 
such compromise or settlement does not include the third-party's release of the indemnified party from all liability relating to such 
claim, suit or proceeding; and (ii) the indemnified party shall not compromise or settle such claim, suit or proceeding without the prior 
written consent of the indemnifying party, provided that, if the indemnified party desires to compromise or settle such claim, suit or 
proceeding and the indemnifying party refuses to 
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consent to such compromise or settlement, the indemnified party may enter into a compromise or settlement but shall be solely 
responsible for the cost of any compromise or settlement amount. 

ARTICLE XI 
MISCELLANEOUS 

11.1. Assignability. 

(a) This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective legal representatives, 
successors and permitted assigns. 

(b) Except as provided in this Section 11.1, neither Company nor Bank may assign its respective rights and obligations under this 
Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Bank may assign all or a portion of its 
rights and obligations under this Agreement to Parent or any of its other Affiliates, or otherwise use any of them to perform functions 
of Bank hereunder, without the prior written consent of Company, provided that no such assignment shall release Bank from any of its 
obligations hereunder. 

(c) During the Term of this Agreement, Bank shall not sell, transfer or otherwise assign the Accounts or Indebtedness or other 
Portfolio Assets to a third party not affiliated with Bank, whether accomplished via a sale of assets or a sale or merger of Bank or 
otherwise, without the prior written approval of Company except nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to restrict Bank's right, in 
its sole discretion, to: (i) securitize receivables generated on the Accounts in accordance with Section 9.4; (ii) sell, transfer or otherwise 
assign Accounts in accordance with Section 9.3; (iii) sell, transfer or otherwise assign Written-Off-Accounts subject to the use 
restrictions in Section 3.6, and 
(iv) to sell all or substantially all of the credit card assets of Parent. 

(d) Company may assign its rights and obligations hereunder to any entity which is a successor to all or substantially all of Company's 
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assets and business via merger or consolidation, purchase of assets, or otherwise. 

(e) Bank may assign its rights and obligations hereunder to an Affiliate provided that such Affiliate is an Affiliate of Parent and such 
Affiliate satisfies the financial covenant under Section 6.1(m). 

11.2. Entire Agreement; Amendment. This Agreement together with (a) the Exhibits hereto which are expressly incorporated by 
reference herein and made a part hereof and (b) the other Transaction Agreements, constitute the entire agreement of the parties with 
respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all other prior understandings and agreements between the parties with respect to 
the subject matter hereof, whether written or oral. This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by written instrument 
signed by duly authorized representatives of both Bank and Company. 
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11.3. Waiver. The rights, obligations and duties of Bank and Company under this Agreement may be waived only upon the written 
consent of duly authorized representative of Bank and Company. In no event shall a term or provision of this Agreement be deemed to 
have been waived or amended, unless a waiver or amendment is in writing and signed by a person specified in the previous sentence. 

11.4. Delays or Omissions. Except as otherwise provided, Bank and Company agree that no complete or partial delay or omission to 
exercise any right, power or remedy accruing to any party, upon any breach, default or noncompliance by another party under this 
Agreement, shall impair any such right, power or remedy, nor shall it be construed to be a waiver of any such breach, default or 
noncompliance, or any acquiescence therein, or of any similar breach, default or noncompliance thereafter occurring. Except as 
otherwise provided herein, all remedies under this Agreement shall be cumulative and nonexclusive of each other. 

11.5. Insurance. Each of Bank and Company represents, warrants, and covenants for itself and any authorized subcontractor, that it 
shall maintain from the Closing Date and until the Termination Date insurance (or self insurance reserves) of the kinds and in amounts 
as are customarily maintained by businesses similar in size and type, or as are required by Applicable Law, whichever is greater. 

11.6. Rights of Persons Not a Party. Except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Agreement, this Agreement shall not create any 
rights on the part of any person or entity not a party hereto, whether as a third-party beneficiary or otherwise. 

11.7. Headings. The headings, captions and arrangements of the provisions and sections of this Agreement are for convenience and 
reference only, are not a substantive part of this Agreement and are not to be used to affect the validity, construction or interpretation 
of this Agreement or any of its provisions. 

11.8. Governing Law/Severability. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New 
York without regard to such state's principles of conflict of laws (other than Section 5-1401 of the General Obligations Law). Any term 
or provision of this Agreement that is invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the 
extent of such invalidity or unenforceability without rendering invalid or unenforceable the remaining terms and provisions of this 
Agreement in such jurisdiction or in any other jurisdiction. If any provision of this Agreement is deemed to be so broad as to be 
unenforceable, such provision shall be interpreted to be only so broad as is enforceable. If any provision of this Agreement is contrary 
to law, such provision shall, to the extent necessary, be deemed ineffective without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof. 

11.9. Good Faith. The parties agree that, with regard to all of their respective dealings under this Agreement, they will act fairly and in 
good faith. 
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11.10. Drafting. Each party acknowledges that its legal counsel participated in the drafting of this Agreement. The parties hereby agree 
that the rule of construction that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not be employed in the interpretation of 
this Agreement to favor one party over the other. 

11.11. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed by facsimile transmission of original signatures in one or more counterparts, 
each of which counterparts shall be deemed to be original, and all such counterparts shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

11.12. Jurisdiction/Venue. Each party hereby submits to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of competent State of New York state courts or 
federal courts in the Southern District of New York for purposes of all legal proceedings arising out of or relating to the transactions or 
relationships contemplated hereby. Each party irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection which it may 
now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such proceedings brought in such a court and any claim that any such 
proceeding brought in such a court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. 

11.13. Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH PARTY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT 
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OF ANY LITIGATION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF, UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR 
THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY. 

11.14. Notices. All notices, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be sent by nationally recognized 
overnight courier service addressed to the party to whom such notice or other communication is to be given or made at such party's 
address as set forth below, or to such other address as such party may designate in writing to the other party from time to time in 
accordance with the provisions hereof and shall be deemed given one (1) Business Day after being sent, as follows: (i) if to Company 
(or to Circuit City West Coast, Inc.): Circuit City Stores, Inc., 9950 Mayland Drive, Richmond, Virginia 23233, Attention: General 
Counsel, Telecopier No.: (804) 527-4877, with a copy to David E. Melson, Esquire, McGuireWoods LLP, 901 East Cary Street, 
Richmond, VA 23219, Telecopier No.: (804) 698-2118, and (ii) if to Bank (or to Parent): Bank One, Delaware, N.A., 201 North Walnut 
Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801, Attn: Executive Vice President, Relationship Management, Telecopier No.: 
(302) 282-6690, with a copy to General Counsel, at the same street address, Telecopier No.: (302) 282-8361; provided, however, (i) if 
either of the above parties shall have designated a different address by notice to the other, then to the last address so designated. 

11.15. Power of Attorney. 

(a) Company authorizes and empowers Bank to sign and endorse Company's name on all checks, drafts, money orders or other forms 
of payment in respect of Accounts under this Agreement. This limited power of attorney conferred hereby is deemed a power coupled 
with an interest and shall be irrevocable for so long as Bank owns the Accounts. 
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(b) Bank authorizes and empowers Company to sign and endorse Bank's name on all checks, drafts, money orders or other forms of 
payment that are submitted as In-Store Payments pursuant to this Agreement. This limited power of attorney conferred hereby is 
deemed a power coupled with an interest and shall be irrevocable prior to termination. 

11.16. Use of Names and Trademarks. 

(a) Bank may use the Marks identified in the Company Trademark License Agreement, which is attached hereto as Exhibit 11.16(a) and 
incorporated herein by reference (the "Company Marks"), solely in the creation, development, marketing and administration of the 
Program, strictly in accordance with Company's guidelines and pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Company Trademark 
License Agreement. Bank will, and Company will cause Circuit City West Coast, Inc. to, execute and deliver the Company Trademark 
License Agreement on the Closing Date. 

(b) Company and the Authorized Entities may use the Marks identified in the Bank Trademark License Agreement, which is attached 
hereto as Exhibit 11.16(b) and incorporated herein by reference (the "Bank Marks"), solely in the creation, development, marketing and 
administration of the Program, strictly in accordance with Parent's guidelines and pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Bank 
Trademark License Agreement. Company will, and Bank will cause Parent to, execute and deliver the Bank Trademark License 
Agreement on the Closing Date. 

(c) Each party agrees to submit to the other party, for its prior written approval, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed, samples of all uses of each party's Marks, and each party agrees to use the other party's Marks in a manner and only as 
approved by such party. 

11.17. Confidential Information. 

(a) General Confidentiality. The parties acknowledge and agree that the terms of this Agreement and all information provided to or in 
connection with either party's performance under this Agreement shall be considered confidential and proprietary information 
("Confidential Information") and shall not be disclosed to any third party without the prior written consent of the party providing the 
Confidential Information ("Disclosing Party"). Confidential Information shall include, without limitation: (i) Nonpublic Personal 
Information, including names and addresses; (ii) demographic, behavioral, and credit information relating to Cardholders, prospective 
Cardholders or the Lists provided to Bank pursuant to this Agreement; (iii) terms of this Agreement, marketing materials, strategies and 
targeting methods; (iv) business objectives, assets and properties; and (v) programming techniques and technical, developmental, 
cost and processing information. Unless inconsistent with the provisions of subsection (b) below, the obligations with respect to 
Confidential Information shall not apply to Confidential Information that: (i) either party or its personnel already know at the time it is 
disclosed as shown by their written records; (ii) is publicly known without breach of this Agreement; (iii) either party received from a 
third party authorized to disclose it without 
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restriction; (iv) either party, its agents or subcontractors, developed independently without use of Confidential Information; or (v) 
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either party is required by law, regulation or valid court or governmental agency order to disclose, in which case the party receiving 
such an order must give notice to the other party, allowing them to seek a protective order. 

(b) Use of Confidential Information. The Receiving Party shall use Confidential Information only for the purpose of performing the 
terms of this Agreement and shall not accumulate in any way or make use of Confidential Information for any other purpose. The 
Receiving Party shall ensure that only its employees, authorized agents, or subcontractors who need to know Confidential Information 
to perform this Agreement will receive Confidential Information and that such persons agree to be bound by the provisions of this 
Section and maintain the existence of this Agreement and the nature of their obligations hereunder strictly confidential. 

(c) Loss of Confidential Information. In the event of any disclosure or loss of, or inability to account for, any Confidential Information 
of the Disclosing Party, the Receiving Party shall promptly, at its own expense: (i) notify the Disclosing Party in writing; (ii) take such 
actions as may be necessary or reasonably requested by the Disclosing Party to minimize the violation; and (iii) cooperate in all 
reasonable respects with the Disclosing Party to minimize the violation and any damage resulting therefrom. 

(d) Unauthorized Use or Disclosure of Confidential Information. Each party agrees that any unauthorized use or disclosure of 
Confidential Information may cause immediate and irreparable harm to the Disclosing Party for which money damages may not 
constitute an adequate remedy. In that event, each party agrees that injunctive relief may be warranted in addition to any other 
remedies the Disclosing Party may have. In addition, the Receiving Party agrees promptly to advise the Disclosing Party in writing of 
any unauthorized misappropriation, disclosure or use by any person of the Confidential Information which may come to its attention 
and to take all steps at its own expense reasonably requested by the Disclosing Party to limit, stop or otherwise remedy such 
misappropriation, disclosure or use. 

(e) Return or Destruction of Confidential Information. Upon either party's demand, or upon the termination of this Agreement, the 
parties shall comply with each other's reasonable instructions regarding the disposition of Confidential Information which may include 
return of any and all Confidential Information (including any copies or reproductions thereof). Such compliance shall be certified in 
writing, including a statement that no copies of confidential information have been kept. 

(f) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement shall prohibit Company from owning, using, selling, 
renting, transferring, providing, or otherwise utilizing the Company Customer Information as Company, in its sole discretion, so 
chooses. 
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(g) In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of this 
Section 11.17 and the provisions of Section 3.6, the provisions of Section 3.6 shall control to the extent of the inconsistency. 

11.18. Audit Rights. 

(a) Bank shall have the right, subject to existing confidentiality obligations, with or by its duly appointed representative, to review, 
inspect and audit, at Bank's sole expense, the books, records, data files and other information and the facilities, systems and operations 
maintained by or on behalf of Company and the other Authorized Entities (to the extent they are Affiliates or are permitted by their 
contracts), related to the operation of the Program and the performance of Company's obligations and its Authorized Entities' 
obligations (to the extent permitted by their contracts) under this Agreement or any other Transaction Agreement. Bank shall have the 
right to test any audit requirement to ensure compliance with this Agreement. 

(b) Company shall have the right, subject to existing confidentiality obligations, with or by its duly appointed representative, to review, 
inspect and audit, at Company's sole expense, the books, records, data files and other information and the facilities and operations 
maintained by or on behalf of Bank, including TSYS (to the extent contractually permissible, which permission Bank will use its 
reasonable efforts to obtain and maintain), and any other Bank affiliated or other approved outsourcers (to the extent permitted 
pursuant to their contracts) related to the operation of the Program and the performance of its obligations under this Agreement or any 
other Transaction Agreement, including compliance with the Performance Standards, payments between the parties, monitoring 
customer service and collection calls, telephone calls involving alleged Cardholder fraud, and debt collection practices. Promptly 
following their receipt by Bank, Bank shall provide Company, at no cost to Company, copies of all SAS 70 or other third party audit 
reports received by Bank with respect to TSYS or any of the other third parties mentioned above, and of any subsequent reports 
addressing resolution of any issues presented by such third party audit reports. Company shall have the right to test any audit 
requirement and seed lists to ensure compliance with this Agreement. 

(c) Such inspections shall occur at such reasonable times as shall be agreed upon by the parties, and only during normal business 
hours, using reasonable care not to cause damage and not to interrupt the normal business operations of the audited party. Such 
audits (i) shall be subject to such security procedures as the inspected party may reasonably impose, (ii) shall be subject to such 
limitations as may be required by existing confidentiality obligations, or under applicable rules, regulations or statutes governing the 
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conduct of the inspected party's business, and (iii) shall be performed according to a mutually agreed upon audit plan, which shall 
include the scope of the audit and a description of necessary documents. The parties agree to use commercially reasonable efforts to 
obtain audit rights for the other party in future contracts entered into with third parties regarding the Program. 

11.19. Press Releases or Publicity Statements. Neither Bank nor Company (nor any Affiliates of either Bank or Company) shall issue 
any press release or otherwise make any publicity statement about the Program without the other Party's prior written consent, except 
as 
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may be compelled by law, rule or regulation; provided, however, that nothing in this Section 11.19 shall limit Bank's or Company's 
ability to make any disclosures which in its judgment are desirable in filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission and 
communications with shareholders and potential investors. 

11.20. Independent Contractor. In the performance of its duties or obligations under this Agreement or any other contract, commitment, 
undertaking or agreement made pursuant to this Agreement, Company shall not be deemed to be the agent of Bank and Bank shall not 
be deemed to be the agent of Company but rather the status of the parties shall be that of independent contractors operating as 
separate entities. None of any party's employees, agents, or servants is entitled to the benefits that are provided to the employees of 
the other parties. 

11.21. No Joint Venture. Nothing in this Agreement or any collateral agreement shall be deemed to create a partnership or joint venture 
between Company or another Authorized Entity and Bank. Except as expressly set forth herein, no party shall have any authority to 
bind or commit the other party. 

11.22. Tax and Financial Cooperation. During the Term hereof and for a perpetual period following termination as provided in Article 
IX, the parties agree to cooperate with each other in connection with any official tax inquiry, tax audit, determination or related 
proceeding affecting tax liability of either party or, in connection with a determination of any tax liability or treatment, to make available 
to each other party within a reasonable amount of time, at no cost to such party, documents, correspondence, reports, books and 
records of either party and any other materials bearing on such tax inquiry, audit, examination, proceeding or determination of tax 
liability or treatment, provided that each party shall be reimbursed for any out-of-pocket expenses it incurs in assisting another party 
hereunder. 

11.23. [Reserved]. 

11.24. No Violation. Notwithstanding anything else contained in this Agreement (including Section 3.6), neither Bank nor Company 
(nor any of their respective Affiliates) shall, and none of them shall be obligated to, take any action that such entity believes in good 
faith would violate, or would cause any of them to violate, Applicable Law (including causing any of them to become a "consumer 
reporting agency" for purposes of the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act). Nothing contained in this Agreement (including Sections 
5.1(b), (c) and 
(h) hereof) shall be construed as an agreement, representation or warranty by Company that it, or any Authorized Entity, will obtain or 
maintain any license or other regulatory approval, other than as may be required for the purpose of conducting its retail merchandising 
business. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it is understood and agreed that Company does not represent or warrant 
that it has, and does not undertake to seek or obtain, any insurance agent or agency license or approval, any license or approval as 
may purport to be required by any state for credit service organizations, credit repair organizations, loan brokers or finance companies, 
or as may purport to apply to persons involved in the offer or sale of various kinds of Ancillary Products or 
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Balance Builder Products or Incidental Marketing Program products or services. To the extent any such requirement may be 
determined to exist, then, without limitation as to any other rights or remedies it may have with respect to such requirement, Company 
(unless in its sole discretion it desires to do so) shall not be required to seek such license or approval, but rather the particular aspect 
of the Program giving rise to the requirement in a particular jurisdiction shall be eliminated from the Program as offered in that 
jurisdiction. 

11.25 Intellectual Property. All technology, software, trademarks, service marks, logos, works of authorship, inventions, methods, 
know-how or other material developed, invented, created or authored by either party in connection with the Program shall belong 
solely and exclusively to the developing party, and if jointly developed shall be jointly owned, including all intellectual property rights 
relating thereto; provided, however, that each party hereby grants the other party a non-exclusive, perpetual, paid-up royalty-free right 
and license to use, any such exclusively owned items and all intellectual property rights relating thereto solely for purposes of carrying 
out its respective obligations relating to the Program and obtaining its respective benefits under the terms of this Agreement and in 
connection with the conduct by Company and Authorized Entities and their Affiliates, of any private label credit card or co-branded 
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bankcard program during the Term of this Agreement, and thereafter until the first to occur of: 

(i) the Company's right under Section 9.2 to purchase the Portfolio Assets and Bank's right under Section 9.2 to require Company to 
purchase the Private Label Portfolio Assets shall have been waived in writing or shall have expired, and 

(ii) the consummation of a purchase by Company or its designee of the Portfolio Assets or Private Label Portfolio Assets pursuant to 
Section 9.2, 

provided, however, that following the occurrences referred to in clause (i) above the Bank shall continue to have the rights to use the 
Company Marks to the extent, and for the period, specified in the Company Trademark License Agreement; and 

provided further, that (A) Company and such designee shall continue to have the rights to use the Bank Marks to the extent, and for 
the period, specified in Bank Trademark License Agreement, and, (B) as to any other items of intellectual property owned by Bank and 
used in connection with the Program, Company shall receive a non-exclusive, perpetual, royalty-free right and license to use, and to 
sublicense others to use any such items solely for the purposes of continuing to provide private label credit card and/or co-branded 
bankcard programs for the Company and Authorized Entities and their Affiliates only if Company has either previously paid for 
substantially all of the development costs relating to such items or pays Bank a fair market license fee, not to exceed 100% of the 
development costs reasonably incurred and documented by Bank, for the use of such items. Bank agrees to execute such further 
documents as may be necessary to create such license. 

11.26 Damages Limitation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in the absence of gross negligence, bad faith, 
willful misconduct, or intentional breach or repudiation of a party's obligations, Bank and Company shall not be liable to the other 
under or in connection with this Agreement or the Program for any indirect, consequential or other damages relating to prospective 
profits, income, anticipated sales or investments, or 
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goodwill, or for any punitive or exemplary damages (and, with respect to claims for indemnification pursuant to Section 10.2(b) or 
10.3(b), only actual damages will be the subject of such indemnification); provided, however, that the damages limitation set forth in 
this Section 11.26 shall not apply to any damages which result from an obligation of Bank or Company to pay any third party damages 
claims to the extent such third party claims otherwise fall under Bank's or Company's respective indemnity obligations hereunder or 
any damages which result from either party's failure to comply with its obligations under 
Section 3.6 or 11.17. 

11.27 Specific Performance. The parties acknowledges that each party will be irreparably harmed and will have no adequate remedy at 
law if a party fails to perform any of its material obligations under this Agreement other than failures consisting solely of defaults 
under Sections 8.1(i). It is accordingly agreed that, in addition to any other remedies which may be available at law or in equity, each 
party shall have the right to obtain injunctive relief to restrain a breach or threatened breach of, or otherwise obtain specific 
performance of, such obligations of the other party. 

11.28 Survival. The following provisions shall survive the termination of this Agreement: Sections 2.1(e), 2.2(a)(vi)(as it relates to 
Rewards points issued prior to the Termination Date), Exhibit 2.6(c) (as it relates to payments on Flagged Accounts), 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.17, 
5.1(a), 5.1(j), 6.1(b), 6.1(j), 
6.1(k), 6.1(l); Articles VIII, IX, X; Sections 11.1, 11.2, 11.3, 11.4, 11.6, 11.7, 11.8, 11.9, 11.10, 11.12, 11.13, 11.14, 11.16, 11.17, 11.19, 11.18 (so 
long as either party claims there remains an unfulfilled financial obligation on the part of the other party),11.20, 11.21, 11.22, 11.24, 11.25, 
11.26, 11.27, 11.28; as they relate to Co-Branded Bankcard Accounts and Rewards Accounts, while Bank still owns them and the 
Private Label Accounts and Company is continuing to honor the Private Label Credit Cards, the following Sections: 
2.1(d)(vii), 2.1(d)(xiv), 2.6(e) and 4.3; as they relate to Private Label Accounts, while Bank still owns them and Company is continuing to 
honor the Private Label Credit Cards related to those Accounts, the following: Sections 
2.1(b), 2.1(d)(vii), 2.1(d)(viii), 2.1(d)(x), 2.1(d)(xi), 2.1(d)(xiii), 
2.1(d)(xiv), 2.1(d)(xvii), 2.1(d)(xviii), 2.1(d)(xix), 2.1(e), 2.1(f)(i), 
2.2(a)(i), 2.2(a)(iii), 2.2(a)(v), 2.2(b)(as to Charge Slips and Credit Slips), 
2.2(c), 2.2(f), 2.2(h), 2.3(c), 2.6(e), 2.6(g), 3.1(a), 3.13, 4.1, 4.2, 4.3, 5.2 , 6.1(c), 6.1(d), 7.1. 

SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Bank and Company have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective officers or agents 
thereunto duly authorized as of the date first above written. 
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CIRCUIT CITY STORES, INC. 

By: /s/Michael E. Foss 
    ------------------- 
Name:  Michael E. Foss 
Title:   Senior Vice President and Chief Financial   
Officer 

BANK ONE, DELAWARE, N.A. 

By: /s/Hugh Bleemer 
    ---------------- 
Name:    Hugh Bleemer 
Title:    Executive Vice 
President 
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Exhibit 13 

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

                                                                 2004         2003         2002         2001          2000 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

CONSOLIDATED SUMMARY OF NET (LOSS) EARNINGS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 
(Amounts in millions except per share data) 
Net sales and operating revenues............................... $9,745       $ 9,954      $ 9,518      $10,330      $10,503 
Gross profit................................................... $2,227       $ 2,350      $ 2,328      $ 2,466      $ 2,622 
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations before income taxes. $   (1)      $    (5)     $   107      $   137      $   438 
Net (loss) earnings from continuing operations................. $   (1)      $    (5)     $    68      $    83      $   271 
Net (loss) earnings per share from continuing operations: 
   Basic....................................................... $   --       $ (0.03)     $  0.33      $  0.41      $  1.35 
   Diluted..................................................... $   --       $ (0.03)     $  0.33      $  0.41      $  1.33 

CONSOLIDATED SUMMARY OF NET (LOSS) EARNINGS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS PERCENTAGES 
(% of sales except effective tax rate) 
Gross profit...................................................   22.9          23.6         24.5         23.9         25.0 
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations before income taxes.     --          (0.1)         1.1          1.3          4.2 
Effective tax rate.............................................   36.5           3.3         36.7         38.9         38.1 
Net (loss) earnings from continuing operations.................     --          (0.1)         0.7          0.8          2.6 

CONSOLIDATED SUMMARY BALANCE SHEETS 
(Amounts in millions) 
Total current assets........................................... $2,919       $ 3,088      $ 3,653      $ 2,847      $ 2,943 
Property and equipment, net.................................... $  586       $   650      $   733      $   797      $   753 
Long-term deferred income tax assets........................... $   99       $    65      $    26      $     4      $    -- 
Other assets................................................... $   29       $    39      $    11      $     9      $    10 
Long-term assets of discontinued operations.................... $   --       $    --      $   143      $   218      $   250 
Total assets................................................... $3,633       $ 3,841      $ 4,565      $ 3,876      $ 3,955 
Total current liabilities...................................... $1,177       $ 1,275      $ 1,619      $ 1,272      $ 1,406 
Long-term debt, excluding current installments................. $   23       $    11      $    14      $    33      $   128 
Accrued straight-line rent and other liabilities............... $  210       $   181      $   162      $   105      $   123 
Long-term deferred income tax liabilities...................... $   --       $    --      $    --      $    --      $    11 
Long-term liabilities of discontinued operations............... $   --       $    --      $    10      $    92      $   134 
Total liabilities.............................................. $1,409       $ 1,467      $ 1,805      $ 1,502      $ 1,802 
Total stockholders' equity..................................... $2,224       $ 2,374      $ 2,761      $ 2,373      $ 2,153 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity..................... $3,633       $ 3,841      $ 4,565      $ 3,876      $ 3,955 

CONSOLIDATED SUMMARY OF CASH FLOWS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 
(Amounts in millions) 
Depreciation and amortization.................................. $  198       $   157      $   134      $   126      $   133 
Cash flow from operating activities of continuing operations... $ (132)      $  (164)     $   887      $    86      $   609 
Capital expenditures........................................... $  176       $   151      $   173      $   275      $   177 

OTHER DATA 
Cash dividends per share paid.................................. $ 0.07       $  0.07      $  0.07      $  0.07      $  0.07 
Return on average stockholders' equity (%).....................     --          (0.2)         2.6          3.7         13.3 
Number of Associates at year-end............................... 43,211        38,849       45,327       53,302       54,800 
Number of Circuit City retail units at year-end................    604           626          624          629          616 

All earnings per share and dividends per share calculations have been adjusted to reflect a two-for-one stock split effective June 30, 
1999. On June 16, 1999, Digital Video Express announced that it would discontinue operations. On October 1, 2002, the CarMax auto 
superstore business was separated from the Circuit City consumer electronics business. On November 18, 2003, the company 
completed the sale of its bankcard finance operation. Results from continuing operations shown above exclude Digital Video Express, 
CarMax and the bankcard finance operation. All periods reflect the adoption of SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148. 

See consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION 

Management's Discussion and Analysis is designed to provide the reader of financial statements with a narrative on our results of 
operations; financial position, liquidity and capital resources; critical accounting policies and significant estimates; and the impact of 
recently issued accounting standards. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes included in this annual report to shareholders and the section titled "Forward-Looking Statements" on page 24. 
All per share amounts in this discussion are presented on a diluted basis. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
In recent years, we have made several significant changes in Circuit City's operating structure as we focus attention on improving the 
results of our core Circuit City business. These changes have included the following: 
o Effective October 1, 2002, we separated the CarMax auto superstore business from the Circuit City business through a tax-free 
transaction in which CarMax, Inc. became an independent, separately traded public company. 
o In November 2003, we sold our bankcard finance operation to FleetBoston Financial. We will continue to service the bankcard 
accounts for FleetBoston until final conversion to FleetBoston's system. We expect this conversion to occur in our first fiscal quarter 
ending May 31, 2004. 
o In January 2004, we signed an agreement to sell our private-label finance operation to Bank One Corporation and to enter into an 
ongoing arrangement under which Bank One will offer private-label and co-branded credit cards to both new and existing customers. 
We expect that this transaction, which is subject to regulatory approvals and other consents, will close in the second calendar quarter 
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of 2004. Results from both CarMax and the bankcard finance operation are presented as results from discontinued operations on the 
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in this annual report to shareholders. In our core Circuit City 
business, we have faced strong competition over the past several years from other large national retailers. Retail prices on many of the 
products we sell have declined significantly as the rapid development time of digital technology has led to shorter life cycles for 
products or features. These short life cycles have resulted in the early introduction of products into a wide variety of retailers, 
including not only specialty chains but also major discounters, and put pressure on gross profit margins. Our most immediate goals are 
to increase both our total and our comparable store merchandise sales volumes and reduce our costs and expenses so that we are 
competing profitably. Success in these areas would improve our operating margin, an important metric of our financial performance. 
After some improvement in fiscal 2003, we were disappointed by our sales performance in fiscal 2004. From the beginning of fiscal 2001 
through February 29, 2004, we built as new, relocated or fully remodeled 131 stores as part of an overall effort to bring a more 
contemporary shopping experience to Circuit City customers. In addition to new store designs, we have increased inventory levels in 
virtually all stores to help ensure that customers find the industry's most popular products and complete consumer electronics 
solutions, including all the accessories they need. As we build stores, we are committed to selecting superior real estate, and so, the 
mix of new versus relocated stores opened in any one year will depend upon the availability of excellent sites. In fiscal 2004, we 
identified approximately 100 new trade areas and expect to build stores in a number of these areas, depending upon real estate 
availability. We also have built an award-winning e-commerce site, circuitcity.com, that provides extensive product information and the 
ultimate shopping convenience. Despite these changes, our store-level execution was not consistent with our expectations in fiscal 
2004. In fiscal 2005, we will focus significant attention on improving in-store customer service. Although gross profit margins declined 
in fiscal 2004, we achieved progress on expense reductions. We reduced our labor costs in comparable stores by approximately $130 
million in fiscal 2004 primarily by changing, in late fiscal 2003, from a compensation structure that included a mix of commissioned and 
hourly Associates to a single hourly structure. We also started other initiatives to help stabilize the gross profit margin and reduce 
expenses in fiscal 2004 and will continue to aggressively pursue additional improvements. We believe that our available cash resources 
are sufficient to fund our fiscal 2005 activities, which may include 
o purchases of merchandise inventory; 
o capital expenditures, primarily for new and relocating stores; 
o funding of the private-label credit card receivables until completion of the sale; 
o payment of dividends; 
o expansion of our Web business; 
o repurchases of common stock; and 
o acquisitions that would support the initiatives underway in our core business. We also have the ability to utilize sale-leaseback 
transactions and tenant improvement allowances to fund store construction and to utilize our revolving credit facility for short-term 
borrowing needs. On March 31, 2004, we announced that we signed a definitive agreement to acquire InterTAN, Inc. InterTAN is a 
leading consumer electronics retailer of both private-label and internationally branded products with headquarters in Barrie, 
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Ontario. On April 13, 2004, we commenced a cash tender offer of $14 per InterTAN common share. If successful, the tender offer would 
be followed by a merger that would result in InterTAN becoming a subsidiary of Circuit City. We expect the cost of the acquisition, 
including estimated transaction costs, will be approximately $300 million. We believe that this acquisition would enable us to accelerate 
the offering of private-label merchandise in our U.S. stores. We believe that sales of private-label merchandise can contribute to 
stabilizing our gross profit margin. This acquisition also would give us our first presence in the Canadian market through a company 
that has a proven track record and would create inventory purchasing synergies for both companies. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Preparation of financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions affecting the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We use our historical experience 
and other relevant factors when developing our estimates and assumptions. We continually evaluate these estimates and 
assumptions. Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements includes a discussion of our significant accounting policies. The 
following accounting policies are those we consider critical to an understanding of the consolidated financial statements because their 
application places the most significant demands on our judgment. Our financial results might have been different if other assumptions 
had been used or other conditions had prevailed. 

Calculation of the Value of Retained Interests in Securitization Transactions We securitize the credit card receivables generated by our 
private-label finance operation and retain an interest in the receivables. We securitized the credit card receivables generated by our 
bankcard finance operation prior to the sale of that operation in November 2003. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 140, "Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities," we account for 
the securitizations as sales of the credit card receivables. At February 29, 2004, the fair value of the retained interests in securitized 
private-label receivables was $425.7 million and was determined based on the estimated net proceeds from the planned sale of the 
company's private-label finance operation. At February 28, 2003, the fair value of the retained interests in securitized private-label 
receivables was $239.1 million and was determined based on the present value of expected future cash flows. Note 6 to the 
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consolidated financial statements includes a discussion of our credit card securitizations. 

Calculation of the Liability for Lease Termination Costs We account for lease termination costs in accordance with Emerging Issues 
Task Force No. 88-10, "Costs Associated with Lease Modification or Termination," and SFAS No. 146, "Accounting for Costs 
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities," as applicable. When leased properties are no longer used for operating purposes, we 
recognize a liability for remaining costs related to the properties, reduced by any contractual or estimated sublease income. Inherent in 
the calculation of the liability for lease termination costs are significant management judgments and estimates, including estimates of 
future sublease revenues, vacancy periods, tenant improvement allowances, broker fees, taxes, insurance and maintenance costs, and 
the credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate used to discount the expected net cash payments. With assistance from independent third 
parties, we review these judgments and estimates on a quarterly basis, and the lease termination cost liability is adjusted as 
appropriate. Fluctuations in the economy and in marketplace demand for commercial properties can result in material changes in the 
liability for lease termination costs. 
The liability for lease termination costs was $105.3 million at February 29, 2004, and $74.3 million at February 28, 2003, and is included in 
other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. Notes 2(F) and 2(P) to the consolidated financial statements include a discussion 
of our accounting policies related to leased properties that are no longer used for operating purposes. 

Accounting for Pension Plans 
We account for our defined benefit pension plan and our unfunded nonqualified benefit restoration plan in accordance with SFAS No. 
87, "Employers' Accounting for Pensions," which requires that net pension expense recognized in financial statements be determined 
on an actuarial basis. SFAS No. 87 requires that the effects of both the performance of pension plan assets and changes in pension 
liability discount rates on the computation of net pension expense be amortized over future periods. 
A significant element in determining the net pension expense is the expected return on plan assets. To develop the expected long-term 
rate of return assumption on our pension plan assets, we use historical long-term return experience, the expected investment mix of the 
plan's assets and estimates of future long-term investment returns. The rate of return assumption is reviewed annually and adjusted as 
appropriate. For fiscal 2004, our expected rate of return on plan assets was 8.25 percent compared with 9.00 percent for fiscal 2003. Net 
pension expense for our pension plans was $18.4 million in fiscal 2004, $15.7 million in fiscal 2003 and $14.7 million in fiscal 2002. These 
expenses are included in selling, general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. 
At the end of each fiscal year, we determine the weighted average discount rate used to calculate the present value of plan liabilities. 
The discount rate is an estimate of the interest 
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rate at which the pension liabilities could be effectively settled at the end of the year. When estimating the discount rate, we look to 
rates of return on high-quality, fixed-income investments that receive one of the two highest ratings given by a recognized rating 
agency. The weighted average discount rate was 6.00 percent at February 29, 2004, and 6.60 percent at February 28, 2003. The decline 
in our weighted average discount rate was due to the decline in market interest rates. 
The rate of increase in compensation levels is another assumption used for determining net pension expense. We determine this rate 
based upon annual reviews of plan participants' historical levels of salary increases and expectations regarding potential future salary 
increases. Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements includes a discussion of our pension plans. 

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Expense We account for stock-based compensation expense in accordance with SFAS No. 
123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," as amended by SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation -- 
Transition and Disclosure." We value stock options issued using the Black-Scholes option valuation model and recognize expense 
over the period in which the options vest. This valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options 
that do not have vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. Option valuation models require us to make highly subjective 
assumptions, including the expected future volatility of the stock price, expected dividend yield, risk-free interest rate and expected life 
of the option. Because the stock options granted have characteristics that are significantly different from those of traded options, and 
because changes in the subjective assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, the existing option valuation models, 
including the Black-Scholes model, do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of our employee stock options. 
Note 14(B) to the consolidated financial statements includes a discussion of the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model and the 
estimated fair value of our stock options. 

Accounting for Cash Consideration Received from Vendors We account for cash consideration received from vendors in accordance 
with EITF No. 01-9, "Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor's Products)," 
EITF No. 02-16, "Accounting by a Reseller for Cash Consideration Received from a Vendor," and EITF No. 03-10, "Application of Issue 
No. 02-16 by Resellers to Sales Incentives Offered to Customers by Manufacturers." We receive cash consideration from vendors 
through a variety of programs and arrangements, including cooperative advertising and vendor allowances. Given the promotional 
nature of our business, these vendor allowances are generally intended to offset our costs of promoting, advertising and selling the 
vendors' products in our stores. Inherent in the accounting for cash consideration received from vendors are significant management 
judgments and estimates, including the percentage of vendor allowances to be amortized to cost of sales, buying and warehousing and 
the percentage of vendor allowances that relate to inventory still on hand. We review these judgments and estimates on a monthly 
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basis and make adjustments as appropriate. 
We recognize the majority of vendor allowances as a reduction to cost of sales, buying and warehousing. Cash consideration received 
as part of cooperative advertising programs that represents a reimbursement of specific, incremental, identifiable direct costs incurred 
by us to advertise the vendors' products is reported as a reduction of advertising expense in the period in which the advertising 
occurs. 
In November 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued EITF No. 03-10, which addresses whether consideration received 
by a reseller from a vendor that represents reimbursement by the vendor for honoring the vendor's sales incentives offered directly to 
consumers should be recorded as a reduction of the cost of the reseller's purchases from the vendor, and therefore, characterized as a 
reduction of cost of sales under the guidance in EITF No. 02-16. We adopted EITF No. 03-10 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. 
Because our policies already were consistent with the provisions of EITF No. 03-10, the adoption of this standard did not have an 
impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Note 2(D) to the consolidated financial statements includes a 
discussion of our accounting policies related to vendor allowances. 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 Effective December 1, 2003, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions for 
stock-based compensation in accordance with SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 
148. As a result, we now recognize an expense associated with stock options and the employee stock purchase plan. We restated prior 
periods to reflect the adoption of this standard. The expense associated with stock options and the employee stock purchase plan are 
presented as stock-based compensation expense on the consolidated statements of operations. Stock-based compensation expense 
also includes expenses related to restricted stock, which were previously included in selling, general and administrative expenses. 

Net Sales and Operating Revenues 
For the fiscal year ended February 29, 2004, our total sales decreased 2 percent to $9.75 billion, and comparable store merchandise sales 
decreased 3 percent. In fiscal 2003, total sales increased 5 percent to $9.95 billion from $9.52 billion in fiscal 2002, and comparable store 
merchandise sales increased 4 percent. 
A store's sales are included in comparable store merchandise sales after the store has been open for a full year. All Web-originated 
sales are included in comparable store merchandise 
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sales. Sales from relocated stores are included in comparable store merchandise sales. Sales from closed stores are included in 
comparable store merchandise sales until the month in which the stores are closed. 

PERCENT SALES CHANGE FROM PRIOR YEAR 

Fiscal                                     Total  Comparable 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------

2004.......................................(2)%       (3)% 
2003....................................... 5 %        4 % 
2002.......................................(8)%      (10)% 

The fiscal 2004 total sales decrease reflects the decline in comparable store merchandise sales partly offset by the addition of eight 
Superstores. In February 2004, we closed 19 underperforming Superstores. We also closed one Superstore in advance of the planned 
opening of a replacement Superstore early in fiscal 2005. None of the closings had a material impact on fiscal 2004 total sales. 
The fiscal 2003 total sales increase reflects the increase in comparable store merchandise sales and the addition of eight Superstores. In 
April 2002, we closed one underperforming Superstore. The fiscal 2003 sales results reflect progress towards improving the overall 
shopping experience in our stores, but were also achieved against a 10 percent comparable store merchandise sales decline for fiscal 
2002. 
We were disappointed by the comparable store merchandise sales decline in fiscal 2004, especially given the gains we produced in 
fiscal 2003. Our store Associates worked through major changes in the operating model during fiscal 2004, and we believe that store 
execution suffered as a result. This weak execution was reflected in an overall reduction in customer satisfaction levels. 
Higher-than-normal turnover in store-level management contributed to the reduction. In fiscal 2005, we will refocus on execution and 
the consistent delivery of outstanding customer service in all stores. 
We also believe the lower sales reflect our continued need to upgrade our store base and improve execution of our merchandising and 
marketing programs. In addition, we believe the results reflect our industry's continued intense competition and short product life 
cycles, both of which have reduced average retail prices and thus the average ticket in our stores. 
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During the past two years, we have focused on 

o providing better customer service by updating our store design; 
o relocating older stores, giving them the benefits of both a better location and an updated design; 
o changing our sales strategy, including eliminating our commissioned compensation structure at the end of fiscal 2003; 
o introducing new merchandising strategies, such as better in-stock positions in key categories, placement of more inventory on the 
sales floor and maintaining a "good/better/best" selection; 
o implementing merchandise and product specialist training programs that emphasize the need to sell complete solutions to customers 
and that we expect to help increase the average ticket; 
o driving traffic to our stores through a more focused marketing campaign and attractive promotions, particularly in traffic-driving 
categories such as entertainment software; and 
o utilizing the Web to deliver extensive product information and the convenience of e-commerce to our customers. 

For fiscal 2004, we generated strong comparable store sales growth in digital imaging products and accessories; LCD and plasma 
display devices; digital televisions, including slim-line technologies; notebook computers; and the traffic-driving movies and music 
software categories. Web-originated sales grew strongly throughout fiscal 2004. 
In fiscal 2003, we experienced solid sales growth in the television category, driven by strong sales of big-screen televisions, 
particularly digital televisions, and portable televisions, as well as growing sales of new display technologies, including plasma and 
LCD display devices. We also generated strong sales increases in entertainment software products, driven by sales gains in DVD 
movies and video game software. Sales of mobile electronics increased, reflecting consumer interest in new in-car audio and video 
products. In the second half of fiscal 2003, sales weakened in two higher margin categories, digital satellite systems and wireless 
communications, reflecting, we believe, the slowing in new subscriber growth for these categories. 

PERCENT OF MERCHANDISE SALES BY CATEGORY 

Fiscal                             2004      2003      2002 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Video.............................  41%       40%       39% 
Audio.............................  13        15        15 
Information technology............  32        32        34 
Entertainment.....................  14        13        12 
                                   
--------------------------------------------- 

Total............................. 100%      100%      100% 
                                   
--------------------------------------------- 

From the beginning of fiscal 2001 through February 29, 2004, we built as new, relocated or fully remodeled 131 stores. As of February 
29, 2004, 24 of the relocated stores had been open for more than six months. In their first full six months following grand opening, these 
stores produced an average sales change that was approximately 28 percentage points better than the sales pace of the remainder of 
the store base during the same time periods and an internal rate of return of approximately 16 percent. As we continue to add stores to 
the relocation base, we expect results from relocated stores will vary. 
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STORE MIX 

                                     Retail Units at Year-End 
Fiscal                                2004     2003     2002 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Superstores........................... 599     611       604 
Mall-based stores.....................   5      15        20 
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----------------------------------------- 

Total................................. 604     626       624 
                                       
----------------------------------------- 

SUPERSTORE SALES PER TOTAL SQUARE FOOT 

Fiscal 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

2004................................................... $484 
2003................................................... $491 
2002................................................... $478 

SUPERSTORE SQUARE FOOTAGE SUMMARY 

Fiscal                            Total Sq. Ft  Selling Sq. Ft. 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

2004...............................20,133,411    12,063,551 
2003...............................20,271,427    12,003,045 
2002...............................20,046,725    11,755,124 

EXTENDED WARRANTY REVENUE 
Years Ended February 29 or 28 (Dollar amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002 

Extended warranty revenue.... $325.5 $360.2 $375.6 Percent of total sales....... 3.3% 3.6% 3.9% 

We sell extended warranty programs on behalf of unrelated third parties who are the primary obligors. The gross profit margins on 
products sold with extended warranties are higher than the gross profit margins on products sold without extended warranties. The 
decline in extended warranty sales as a percentage of total sales from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004 primarily reflects 

o the declines in average retails and rapid technological developments, both of which encourage consumers to replace products rather 
than purchase warranties that would cover future repairs and 
o weak in-store execution, resulting, we believe, from a substantial increase in part-time sales Associates prior to our peak selling 
season. 

Extended warranty sales as a percentage of total sales stabilized on a year-over-year basis in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, but we 
remain cautious in our outlook given the overall trends of the past two years. 
The decline in extended warranty sales as a percentage of total sales from fiscal 2002 to fiscal 2003 primarily reflects 

o the higher percentage of our sales mix that was comprised of products, such as entertainment software, for which extended 
warranties typically are not available; 
o the lower percentage of our sales mix represented by personal computers, which typically have high extended warranty penetration 
rates; and 
o the declines in average retails and rapid technological developments. 

Gross Profit 
The gross profit margin was 22.9 percent in fiscal 2004, 23.6 percent in fiscal 2003 and 24.5 percent in fiscal 2002. The lower gross profit 
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margin in fiscal 2004 primarily reflects reductions in extended warranty sales during the first nine months and, in the fourth quarter, 
heavy promotions, particularly in December, on desktop personal computers; aggressive industry pricing on big-screen and advanced 
televisions; and some shifts in the merchandise mix to lower margin products. Reduced service and distribution costs partly offset 
these factors. 
The decline in the gross profit margin during fiscal 2003 reflects a combination of factors, including changes in merchandise mix and a 
more promotional pricing environment. Weaker sales of higher-margin digital satellite systems and wireless communications and 
stronger sales of lower-margin entertainment software and other traffic-driving items contributed to the reduced gross profit margin. 
The gross profit margin decline in fiscal 2003 was offset in part by solid sales growth of fully featured products such as big-screen 
televisions. 
The fiscal 2002 gross profit margin was reduced by lease termination costs of $10 million related to the exit from the appliance business, 
which was completed in late fiscal 2001. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, we increased our liability for lease termination costs related 
to the appliance exit because of the weakening in both the economy and marketplace demand for commercial properties during the 
year. 
We are undertaking a number of initiatives to stabilize the gross profit margin. These initiatives include the introduction of 
private-label brands, increased attachment sales, purchasing via reverse auctions and direct imports, as well as a continued focus on 
improving the efficiency of our service and distribution operations and reducing inventory shrinkage. At the end of fiscal 2004, we also 
changed our return policy to re-introduce a restocking fee for specific product classes. These restocking fees are consistent with those 
charged by many competitors in our industry. 

Finance Income 
Prior to November 2003, both our bankcard finance operation and our private-label finance operation were conducted through our 
wholly owned subsidiary First North American National Bank, which is a limited-purpose credit card bank, 
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and through consolidated special purpose subsidiaries and off-balance-sheet qualifying special purpose entities. As part of a focus on 
strengthening the financial performance of our core business, we sold our bankcard finance operation to FleetBoston Financial in 
November 2003 and, in January 2004, entered into an agreement to sell our private-label finance operation to Bank One Corporation. 
The sale agreement with FleetBoston includes a transition services agreement under which employees of our bankcard operation are 
continuing to service the bankcard accounts until final conversion to FleetBoston's system. We expect this conversion will occur in 
our first fiscal quarter ending May 31, 2004. FleetBoston is reimbursing us for operating costs incurred during the transition period. 
Results from the bankcard finance operation are presented as results from discontinued operations on the consolidated financial 
statements; therefore, its results are not included in the "Components of Finance Income" table. See "Net (Loss) Earnings from 
Discontinued Operations" on page 19. 
Under the terms of the agreement with Bank One, the purchase price for our private-label finance operation will be based on the par 
value of the receivables. We also will enter into an ongoing arrangement under which Bank One will offer private-label and co-branded 
credit cards to both new and existing customers. Bank One will compensate us for each new account opened and provide special 
financing terms for our customers. We anticipate that the ongoing relationship with Bank One, with an initial term of seven years, will 
generate a pretax earnings contribution of approximately $30 million annually, which is similar to the finance income we would have 
generated if we had maintained ownership of the private-label receivables. We expect to incur a pretax loss of approximately $13 
million, primarily driven by transition- and transaction-related expenses, on the sale of the private-label finance operation. We incurred 
$6.1 million of that loss in fiscal 2004 and expect to incur the remainder in the first half of fiscal 2005. We expect the Bank One 
transaction, which is subject to regulatory approvals and other consents, will close in the second calendar quarter of 2004. 
We have accounted for our securitization of bankcard and private-label credit card receivables as sales in accordance with SFAS No. 
140 and have recognized securitization income at the time the receivables were securitized. Gains or losses on the sales of receivables 
primarily reflect the difference between the carrying amount of the credit card receivables sold and the sum of the cash proceeds 
received and the fair value of the retained interests in the securitized receivables. We serviced the securitized bankcard receivables for 
a fee prior to the sale of the bankcard operation in November 2003, and we continue to service the bankcard receivables under a 
transition services agreement until final conversion to FleetBoston's system. We service the securitized private-label credit card 
receivables for a fee and will continue to do so until we complete the sale of our private-label operation. Serviced private-label 
receivables averaged $1.66 billion for fiscal 2004, $1.39 billion for fiscal 2003 and $1.10 billion for fiscal 2002. 

COMPONENTS OF FINANCE INCOME 

                                    Years Ended February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in millions)                2004       2003       2002 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Securitization income..........    $120.9      $107.3     $118.0 
Payroll and fringe benefit expenses  29.5        30.8       30.4 
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Other direct expenses..........      58.7        49.2       47.4 
                                   
--------------------------------------------- 

Finance income.................    $ 32.7      $ 27.3     $ 40.2 
                                   
--------------------------------------------- 

Securitization income primarily is comprised of the gain on the sale of the credit card receivables, income from the retained interests in 
the securitized receivables and income related to servicing the securitized receivables, as well as the impact of increases or decreases in 
the fair value of the retained interests. The fiscal 2004 increase in finance income resulted from the introduction of the co-branded 
feature to the private-label card, allowing cardholders to make additional purchases outside of Circuit City. This feature led to 
increased purchase activity, little of which carried promotional interest rates. It also resulted in interchange income and cash advance 
fees, neither of which were earned before the co-branded feature was introduced. 
The decrease in finance income from fiscal 2002 to fiscal 2003 reflects a $12.3 million increase in charge-offs, which was partly offset by 
reduced securitization costs. The lower securitization costs reflect declines in interest rates in that year. 

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

                                    Years Ended February 29 or 28 
                                    2004         2003         2002 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                    % of             % of            % of 
(Dollar amounts in millions)   $    Sales       $    Sales    $      Sales 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Store expenses............. $1,993.0 20.5%  $2,086.3 20.9%  $2,007.7 21.1% 
General and administrative 
   expenses................    171.4  1.8      195.3  2.0      200.1  2.1 
Remodel and refixturing 
   expenses................     23.9  0.2       28.8  0.3        5.6  0.1 
Relocation expenses........     30.5  0.3       19.1  0.2       13.7  0.1 
Pre-opening expenses.......      8.6  0.1        7.2  0.1        6.8  0.1 

Interest Income............ (6.6)(0.1) (7.9)(0.1) (15.8)(0.2) 

Total...................... $2,220.8 22.8% $2,328.8 23.4% $2,218.1 23.3% 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses Selling, general and administrative expenses were 22.8 percent of sales in fiscal 2004, 
compared with 23.4 percent in fiscal 2003 and 23.3 percent in fiscal 2002. The fiscal 2004 expenses include costs of $38.4 million related 
to the closing of 19 Superstores during the year and a $5.9 million benefit resulting from a reduction in liabilities associated with our 
gift 
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card program. At the end of fiscal 2004, we ceased charging customers a fee on gift cards with unredeemed balances after 24 months. 
We now adjust our liability based on historical usage patterns for gift cards. The fiscal 2003 expenses included $10.0 million related to 
the change in our store compensation structure in February of that year. 
The reduction in the selling, general and administrative expense ratio from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004 largely reflects lower store 
operating costs, resulting primarily from reductions in comparable store payroll, and a reduction of $25.5 million in advertising 
expenses. Store-related payroll savings of approximately $130 million from comparable stores were driven primarily by the change, 
initiated in February 2003, in the store compensation structure. 
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The fiscal 2004 expenses include costs associated with 18 relocations, as well as accelerated depreciation of assets related to planned 
future relocations, and costs associated with fully remodeling four Superstores and refixturing 222 Superstores. Remodel expenses 
incurred in fiscal 2004 include $21.7 million for refixturing. 
The fiscal 2003 expenses include costs associated with remodeling of the video departments in 299 Superstores, full-store lighting 
upgrades in 311 Superstores and relocation of 11 Superstores. During fiscal 2002, we relocated eight Superstores, remodeled 24 
Superstores, including 12 full-store remodels primarily in the Chicago, Ill., market and 12 partial remodels in the Washington, D.C., and 
Baltimore, Md., markets. 
The increase in the expense ratio from fiscal 2002 to fiscal 2003 reflects higher remodel and relocation costs in fiscal 2003 and the net 
cost of the compensation change, offset in part by the leverage from increased comparable store merchandise sales. 
We are aggressively working to build an expense structure that would support reasonable profitability at our most recent sales levels. 
Workload elimination, consolidation of activities, process improvements, purchasing enhancements, outsourcing and a variety of 
other actions are helping us to reduce our expense levels. For example, in fiscal 2004, we consolidated our field organization, going 
from 13 regions to 10 regions and from 66 districts to 58 districts, and consolidated our indirect purchasing organizations and changed 
how we procure non-merchandise products and services. We also have challenged our corporate overhead departments to identify 
ways to reduce spending and have incorporated many of those reductions into operational budgets. 

Income Taxes 
The effective income tax rate applicable to results from continuing operations was 36.5 percent in fiscal 2004, 3.3 percent in fiscal 2003 
and 36.7 percent in fiscal 2002. Income tax expense or benefit results from applying the federal statutory rate to earnings (loss) from 
continuing operations, adjusted for state taxes and items not deductible for tax purposes. The reduction in the effective tax rate in 
fiscal 2003 is a result of the higher level of state income taxes and nondeductible items in relation to the loss from continuing 
operations before income taxes. 

Net (Loss) Earnings from Continuing Operations The net loss from continuing operations was $787,000, or 0 cents per share, for the 
fiscal year ended February 29, 2004, compared with $5.3 million, or 3 cents per share, for the fiscal year ended February, 28, 2003, and 
net earnings from continuing operations of $67.6 million, or 33 cents per share, for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2002. 
The improvement in finance income and the reduction in selling, general and administrative expenses drove the slight improvement in 
performance from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004. In fiscal 2003, the decline in the gross profit margin and reduction in finance income more 
than offset the improvement in sales, resulting in the net loss from continuing operations. 
We are intensely focused on driving our sales volumes, stabilizing our gross profit margin and reducing our expense structure. 
Success with each of these initiatives would generate improvement in the operating margin, a key metric of our financial performance. 

NET (LOSS) EARNINGS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

                                Years Ended February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in millions)             2004      2003       2002 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Bankcard business................ $(90.0)   $25.6     $ 42.9 
CarMax...........................     --     62.0       89.5 
Divx.............................    1.5       --         -- 
                                  --------------------------------------------- 

Net (loss) earnings from discontinued 
operations.................... $(88.5) $87.6 $132.4 

Net (Loss) Earnings from Discontinued Operations On November 18, 2003, we completed the sale of our bankcard operation to 
FleetBoston Financial. Results from the bankcard operation are presented as results from discontinued operations. We expect that final 
conversion to FleetBoston's system will occur in the first fiscal quarter ending May 31, 2004. FleetBoston is reimbursing us for 
operating costs incurred during the transition period. Severance costs are being incurred ratably from the time at which these costs are 
eligible for accrual through the final conversion date. 
We anticipate that the sale of the bankcard operation will result in an after-tax loss of approximately $82 million, including $78 million of 
adjustments to the carrying value of our retained interest in the securitized bankcard receivables and approximately $4 million of other 
costs, including severance. The after-tax loss from the discontinued bankcard operation also includes bankcard-related income 
generated by a subsidiary that provides reinsurance and indemnification related to credit protection products sold by the finance 
operations. 
In fiscal 2000, we ceased marketing the Divx home video system and discontinued that business. Operating results of Divx and the loss 
on the disposal of the business have been presented as results from discontinued operations. In fiscal 2004, we reduced the provision 
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for commitments under licensing agreements, resulting in a $1.5 million after-tax benefit to the net loss from discontinued operations. 
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On October 1, 2002, we completed the separation of the CarMax auto superstore business from the Circuit City consumer electronics 
business. CarMax results are presented as results from discontinued operations. 
Results from discontinued operations reflect the adoption of SFAS No. 123. 

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
Effective in the first quarter of fiscal 2004, we adopted SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations," which requires 
entities to record the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation in the period incurred and recognize accretion expense in 
subsequent periods. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or 
cash flows. 
Effective in the third quarter of fiscal 2004, we adopted EITF Issue No. 00-21, "Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple 
Deliverables," which addresses when and how an arrangement involving multiple deliverables should be divided into separate units of 
accounting, as well as how consideration under the arrangement should be measured and allocated to the separate units of accounting 
in the arrangement. The adoption of EITF No. 00-21 did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or 
cash flows. 
Effective September 1, 2003, we adopted FASB Interpretation No. 46, "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities," which addresses 
how to identify variable interest entities and provides guidance as to how a company may assess its interests in a variable interest 
entity for purposes of deciding whether consolidation of that entity is required. With the adoption of FIN No. 46, we recorded a 
building and long-term debt of $12.6 million on the consolidated balance sheet. In December 2003, the FASB amended FIN No. 46. We 
do not expect the adoption of the amended Interpretation to have an impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash 
flows. 
Effective in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, we adopted SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003), "Employers' Disclosures about Pensions and 
Other Postretirement Benefits," which requires additional disclosures about the assets, obligations, cash flows and net periodic benefit 
cost of defined benefit pension plans and other defined benefit postretirement plans. This Statement does not change the 
measurement or recognition of those plans required by SFAS No. 87, SFAS No. 88, "Employers' Accounting for Settlements and 
Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits," and SFAS No. 106, "Employers' Accounting for 
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions." We have included the disclosures required by SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003) in Note 15 
to the consolidated financial statements. 
Effective in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, we adopted EITF No. 03-10, "Application of Issue No. 02-16 by Resellers to Sales 
Incentives Offered to Consumers by Manufacturers," which addresses whether consideration received by a reseller from a vendor that 
represents reimbursement by the vendor for honoring the vendor's sales incentives offered directly to consumers should be recorded 
as a reduction of the cost of the reseller's purchases from the vendor, and therefore, characterized as a reduction of cost of sales under 
the guidance in EITF No. 02-16. As our policies already were consistent with the provisions of EITF No. 03-10, the adoption of this 
standard did not have an impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 

FINANCIAL CONDITION 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
Operating Activities. We used net cash of $131.7 million in operating activities in fiscal 2004, compared with $164.1 million in fiscal 
2003. Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $886.6 million in fiscal 2002. 
The largest use of cash in fiscal 2004 was a $186.5 million increase in retained interests in securitized private-label credit card 
receivables. This increase was driven by higher subordinated retained interests required for the private-label securitization 
transactions that were completed in early fiscal 2004. We also used cash to help fund a $107.5 million increase in merchandise 
inventory, which reflects our focus on customer service. Our customer service initiatives have included improved merchandise 
availability, exemplified by a broader assortment in selected categories and fully stocked merchandise displays. In fiscal 2004, we 
expanded our selection in two growing categories -- televisions, especially LCD and plasma displays, and notebook computers. 
Accounts payable declined $84.1 million, to 58 percent of inventory at February 29, 2004, as we slowed purchasing activity in the last 
two months of the fiscal year to correct our inventory levels following lower-than-anticipated December sales. 
In fiscal 2003, we used cash to help fund a $175.5 million increase in merchandise inventory to support our customer service initiatives. 
This increase also reflected the impact of higher-than-normal levels of out-of-stocks in selected categories at the end of fiscal 2002. 
Merchandise inventory had decreased $176.3 million at the end of that fiscal year. Accounts payable decreased $55.8 million, to 68 
percent of inventory at February 28, 2003. The reduction in the payables to inventory ratio from the prior year reflects the purchase of 
additional display inventory in early fiscal 2003. Our retained interests in securitized receivables rose $92.9 million in fiscal 2003, 
reflecting a 21 percent increase in private-label receivables during that year and an increase in the required retained interests in 
securitized receivables. In fiscal 2003, we also used cash to make a $43.0 million supplemental contribution to our pension plan. We 
recorded this contribution as an increase in other assets. 
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Investing Activities. Capital expenditures were $175.8 million in fiscal 2004, $150.8 million in fiscal 2003 and $172.6 million in fiscal 2002. 
Net of proceeds from the sales of property and equipment, which include tenant improvement allowances, capital expenditures were 
$129.2 million in fiscal 2004. Net of proceeds from the sales of property and equipment, which include sale-leaseback proceeds and 
tenant improvement allowances, capital expenditures were $89.9 million in fiscal 2003 and $84.1 million in fiscal 2002. Of the fiscal 2004 
total, $43.0 million was related to relocations and full remodels, $32.7 million was related to store refixturings, $28.2 million was related to 
new store construction and $23.2 million was related to information systems, store maintenance, distribution and other items. 
In fiscal 2005, we expect to open 60 to 70 Superstores, with a relatively even split between new stores and relocations. We anticipate 
that the vast majority of the locations will open in the second half, with about a third in the fourth quarter. We anticipate capital 
expenditures, net of tenant improvement allowances and sale-leaseback proceeds, of approximately $165 million in fiscal 2005. We 
expect this total will include approximately $62 million for relocations and one full remodel, approximately $63 million for new store 
construction and approximately $40 million for information systems, store maintenance, distribution and other items. 
Capital expenditures have been funded primarily through internally generated funds, landlord reimbursements and sale-leaseback 
transactions. We expect that these sources will be sufficient to fund capital expenditures for the foreseeable future. 
Financing Activities. In January 2003, the board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $200 million of common stock. The 
repurchases may be made from time to time in the open market, with the price to be paid and the timing of purchases at the discretion of 
management. During fiscal 2004, we repurchased and retired approximately 9.3 million shares at a cost of $84.6 million, which includes 
commission fees. We did not repurchase any common stock in fiscal 2003. Based on the market value of the common stock at February 
29, 2004, the remaining $115.6 million authorized would allow for the repurchase of up to approximately 5 percent of the 203.9 million 
shares then outstanding. 
At February 29, 2004, outstanding debt totaled $23.8 million, compared with $12.7 million at February 28, 2003. We leased a corporate 
office building under an operating lease arrangement with a variable interest entity. The adoption of FASB Interpretation No. 46 
required us to report the building and related debt on the consolidated balance sheet, resulting in the year-over-year increase in 
long-term debt. We used working capital to repay a $100 million outstanding term loan at its scheduled maturity date in fiscal 2003. At 
the payment date, $22.2 million of outstanding debt had been allocated to Circuit City and is included in payments on long-term debt 
on the consolidated statement of cash flows for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2003. The remaining balance had been allocated to 
CarMax and is included in cash used in discontinued operations on the consolidated statement of cash flows for the fiscal year ended 
February 28, 2003. 
On June 27, 2003, we entered into a $500 million, four-year revolving credit facility secured by inventory and certain accounts 
receivable. This facility will be used to support letters of credit and for short-term borrowing needs. Loans primarily will bear interest at 
a spread over LIBOR or at prime. The facility is scheduled to mature in June 2007 and provides for an option to extend the facility by 
one year. The maximum credit extensions, including loans and outstanding letters of credit, permitted under the credit facility on any 
date are determined by calculating a borrowing base that is a percentage of our eligible inventory and accounts receivable as of the 
date of the credit extension. If the remaining borrowing availability under the facility falls below $100 million, cash dividends and stock 
repurchases are limited to an aggregate of $75 million in any fiscal year. In addition, if the remaining borrowing availability under the 
facility falls below $50 million for five consecutive business days, all proceeds from the sale of inventory must be applied on a daily 
basis to payment of amounts owed under the facility. The facility has representations and warranties, covenants and events of default 
that are customary for this type of credit facility. This credit facility replaced $210 million in committed seasonal lines, which we 
terminated on the same date. At February 29, 2004, we had no short-term borrowings under the facility. At February 29, 2004, 
outstanding letters of credit related to this facility were $37.3 million, leaving $462.7 million available for borrowing. We did not renew a 
$150 million unsecured revolving credit facility at its expiration date on August 31, 2002. 
During fiscal 2002, Circuit City Stores, Inc. completed the public offering of 9.5 million shares of CarMax Group common stock. The net 
proceeds of $139.5 million were allocated to Circuit City to be used for general purposes, including remodeling of Superstores. 
Cash and Cash Equivalents. At February 29, 2004, we had cash and cash equivalents of $783.5 million, compared with cash and cash 
equivalents of $884.7 million at February 28, 2003. Cash used in operating, investing and financing activities was partly offset by $282 
million in net cash proceeds received at the closing of the sale of the bankcard operation. We expect that, after severance and other 
post-closing costs, cash proceeds from the sale ultimately will net approximately $279 million after tax. 
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Our finance operation is conducted through our wholly owned subsidiary First North American National Bank, which is chartered, 
regulated and supervised by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency. In fiscal 2003, the OCC approved a reduction in the bank's 
capital requirements that was conditioned upon, among other things, our agreement to provide FNANB with ongoing capital support 
to the extent required for FNANB to be well capitalized under the OCC's capital adequacy regulations and, under certain limited 
circumstances, to pledge cash or marketable securities to FNANB to secure that obligation. At February 29, 2004, FNANB had cash 
and cash equivalents of $58.3 million that was restricted for use by the bank and not available for general corporate purposes. At that 
date, FNANB's equity capital totaled $47.3 million, resulting in capital ratios substantially in excess of the minimum requirements for 
FNANB to be well capitalized under OCC regulations. Based on the OCC's current capital adequacy regulations and the current 
accounting rules applicable to the securitization of FNANB's credit card receivables, we do not expect that the OCC will require us to 
contribute additional capital to FNANB or to collateralize that capital support obligation. 
In connection with the announced sale of the private-label finance operation to Bank One, we plan to relinquish the FNANB national 
bank charter. As part of the statutory liquidation process, we will assume all of FNANB's remaining obligations and our equity 
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investment in FNANB will be returned to us for general corporate purposes through a final liquidating dividend and distribution of the 
remaining assets of FNANB. As a result, our capital support obligations with respect to FNANB will be terminated. We expect to 
complete the liquidation process during the third quarter of fiscal 2005. 
The net cash proceeds from the sale of the private-label finance operation will depend upon our retained interests in the receivables at 
the time of closing. Based on the receivable balances at February 29, 2004, the after-tax net cash proceeds from the sale would be 
approximately $450 million. We expect that by the anticipated date of closing, seasonal receivable declines will reduce our invested 
amount by approximately $80 million and will result in a corresponding reduction in proceeds. 
Subsequent to the end of fiscal 2004, we announced that we have signed a definitive agreement to acquire InterTAN, Inc., a leading 
consumer electronics retailer of both private-label and internationally branded products with headquarters in Barrie, Ontario, in a cash 
tender offer for $14 per InterTAN common share. We commenced the cash tender offer on April 13, 2004. We expect the cost of this 
acquisition, including estimated transaction costs, will be approximately $300 million. We believe that this acquisition would enable us 
to accelerate the offering of private-label merchandise in our U.S. stores, give us our first presence in the Canadian market through a 
company that has a successful record and create inventory purchasing synergies for both companies. The transaction is contingent 
upon customary closing conditions, including regulatory and other standard approvals. We expect completion of the tender offer in 
the second calendar quarter of 2004, after which InterTAN will become a subsidiary. 
Our primary sources of liquidity include available cash resources, borrowing capacity under the credit facility, tenant improvement 
allowances and sale-leaseback transactions. We have utilized asset securitizations to fund the receivables generated by our finance 
operation, but expect to eliminate this funding requirement following completion of the sale of the private-label credit card operation. 
Potential uses of cash include 

o purchases of merchandise inventory; 
o capital expenditures, primarily for new and relocating stores; 
o funding of the private-label credit card receivables until completion of the sale; 
o payment of dividends; 
o expansion of our Web business; 
o repurchases of common stock; and 
o acquisitions that would support the initiatives underway in our core business. 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AT FEBRUARY 29, 2004 

                                                2 to 3  4 to 5   After 5 
(Amounts in millions)           Total   1 Year   Years   Years    Years 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Contractual obligations: 
   Long-term debt...........  $   13.4  $  0.4 $ 13.0  $   --    $     -- 
   Capital leases...........      10.5     0.7    1.7     2.3         5.8 
   Operating leases.........   4,595.0   351.1  703.0   674.3     2,866.6 
   Other contractual 
      obligations...........       5.6     5.6     --      --          -- 
                              ------------------------------------------------- 

Total.......................  $4,624.5  $357.8 $717.7  $676.6    $2,872.4 
                              ------------------------------------------------- 

CarMax currently operates 23 of its sales locations pursuant to leases under which Circuit City Stores, Inc. is the primary obligor. 
Circuit City Stores, Inc., rather than CarMax, entered into these leases so that CarMax could take advantage of the favorable economic 
terms available to us as a large retailer. We have assigned each of these leases to CarMax, but we remain contingently liable under the 
leases. In recognition of our ongoing contingent liability, CarMax paid a $28.4 million special dividend to Circuit City Stores, Inc., at the 
time of the separation in fiscal 2003. At February 29, 2004, the future minimum fixed lease obligations on these 23 leases totaled $451.9 
million. 
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OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
Credit Card Securitizations 
We fund the private-label and co-branded credit card receivables generated by our finance operation through securitization 
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transactions. The finance operation sells its private-label and co-branded credit card receivables to a special purpose subsidiary, 
which, in turn, transfers the receivables to a securitization master trust. The master trust periodically issues asset-backed securities in 
public offerings and private transactions, and the proceeds from the sale of these securities are distributed through the special 
purpose subsidiary to our finance operation. The special purpose subsidiary holds various subordinated asset-backed securities, 
which serve as credit enhancement for the asset-backed securities held by third-party investors. The finance operation will continue to 
service the transferred receivables for a fee until the sale of the private-label finance operation is complete. The master trust agreement 
does not provide recourse to Circuit City or FNANB for credit losses on the securitized receivables. Prior to the sale of the bankcard 
finance operation to FleetBoston in November 2003, we also funded the credit card receivables generated by that operation through 
securitization transactions. At February 29, 2004, the aggregate principal amount of securitized credit card receivables totaled $1.88 
billion. The sale of the private-label finance operation will result in the termination of our private-label securitization program. 
Securitization is the primary source of liquidity for financing our private-label and co-branded credit card receivables. For information 
regarding securitization income and the nature and amounts of interests retained by Circuit City in connection with our securitization 
arrangements, see "Calculation of the Value of Retained Interests in Securitization Transactions" on page 14 and "Finance Income" on 
page 17. 

MARKET RISK 
Receivables Risk 
We manage the market risk associated with the revolving private-label credit card portfolio of our finance operation. Portions of this 
portfolio have been securitized in transactions accounted for as sales in accordance with SFAS No. 140 and, therefore, are not 
presented on the consolidated balance sheets. 
Most of the accounts in the private-label credit card portfolio are charged interest at rates indexed to the prime rate, adjustable on a 
monthly basis subject to certain limitations. The remaining accounts are charged interest at fixed annual percentage rates. The 
following table presents the breakdown by interest rate structure of the gross principal receivables outstanding prior to discounting at 
February 29, 2004, and February 28, 2003. 

(Amounts in millions)                       2004       2003 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Indexed to prime rate..................... $1,749     $1,460 
Fixed APR.................................    129        176 
                                           
------------------------------------ 

Total..................................... $1,878     $1,636 
                                           
------------------------------------ 

We finance the private-label credit card receivables through the issuance of public and private asset-backed securities, principally at 
floating rates based on LIBOR and commercial paper rates. We finance receivables held for sale with working capital. At February 29, 
2004, and February 28, 2003, the total principal amount of receivables securitized or held for sale prior to discounting was as follows: 

(Amounts in millions)                       2004       2003 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Floating-rate securitizations............. $1,812     $1,592 
Held for Sale.............................     66         44 
                                           
------------------------------------- 

Total..................................... $1,878     $1,636 
                                           
------------------------------------- 
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Interest Rate Exposure 
Interest rate exposure relating to the private-label credit card receivable securitizations represents a market risk exposure that we have 
managed primarily with matched funding. We also have the ability to adjust the rate on fixed-APR revolving credit cards and the index 
on floating-rate credit cards, subject to cardholder ratification, but we do not currently anticipate the need to do so prior to completion 
of the sale of the private-label portfolio to Bank One Corporation. Our ability to effect these changes may be limited by competitive 
conditions. 
The majority of our cardholder accounts have interest rates indexed to prime, but the rates we charge our cardholders may not change 
as frequently or to the same extent as our funding costs. The difference is the result of a combination of factors such as interest rate 
floors on the accounts that are above the current level of the prime rate, interest-free promotional financing and variations between 
changes in prime and LIBOR or commercial paper rates. Accordingly, our securitization income could be adversely impacted by 
increases in interest rates. 
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The market and credit risks associated with our interest rate caps are similar to those relating to other types of financial instruments. 
Market risk is the exposure created by potential fluctuations in interest rates and is directly related to the product type, agreement 
terms and transaction volume. We have entered into offsetting interest rate cap positions and, therefore, do not anticipate significant 
market risk arising from our interest rate caps. Credit risk is the exposure to nonperformance of another party to an agreement. We have 
mitigated credit risk by dealing with highly rated bank counterparties. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
The provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provide companies with a "safe harbor" when making 
forward-looking statements. This "safe harbor" encourages companies to provide prospective information about their companies 
without fear of litigation. We wish to take advantage of the "safe harbor" provisions of the Act. Our statements that are not historical 
facts, including statements about management's expectations for fiscal 2005 and beyond, are forward-looking statements and involve 
various risks and uncertainties. 
Forward-looking statements are estimates and projections reflecting our judgment and involve a number of risks and uncertainties that 
could cause actual results to differ materially from those suggested by the forward-looking statements. Although we believe that the 
estimates and projections reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, our expectations may prove to be incorrect. The 
United States retail industry, and the specialty retail industry in particular, are dynamic by nature and have undergone significant 
changes in recent years. Our ability to anticipate and successfully respond to the continuing challenges of our industry is key to 
achieving our expectations. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from estimates or projections 
contained in our forward-looking statements include 

o changes in the amount and degree of promotional intensity exerted by current competitors and potential new competition from 
competitors using either similar or alternative methods or channels of distribution such as online and telephone shopping services and 
mail order; 
o changes in general U.S. or regional U.S. economic conditions including, but not limited to, consumer credit availability, consumer 
credit delinquency and default rates, interest rates, inflation, personal discretionary spending levels, trends in consumer retail 
spending, both in general and in our product categories, and consumer sentiment about the economy in general; 
o the presence or absence of, or consumer acceptance of, new products or product features in the merchandise categories we sell and 
changes in our merchandise sales mix; 
o significant changes in retail prices for products we sell; 
o changes in availability or cost of financing for working capital and capital expenditures, including securitization financing and 
financing to support development of our business; 
o lack of availability or access to sources of inventory; 
o inability to liquidate excess inventory should excess inventory develop; 
o failure to successfully implement sales and profitability improvement programs for our Circuit City Superstores, including our 
remodeling and relocation plan; 
o consumer reaction to new store locations and changes in our store design and merchandise; 
o changes in the performance of the private-label portfolio, including material changes in cardholder default rates or payment rates; 
o the timing and amount of any adjustments affecting the proceeds from the sale of the bankcard operation; 
o the timing and amount of severance costs or post-closing changes to income that relate to the sale of the bankcard operation; 
o when or whether the sale of the private-label finance operation to Bank One will be completed; 
o whether the sale of the private-label finance operation will be completed on the terms announced, including without limitation the 
ultimate sale price for the private-label finance operation and the net cash proceeds from that sale; 
o regulatory approvals and other consents that may be required and the conditions that may be imposed in connection with obtaining 
those approvals or consents related to the private-label sale; 
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o the timing and amount of any adjustments affecting the proceeds from the sale of the private-label operations; transaction costs, 
including the costs associated with securing regulatory approvals and other consents; future levels of bank conduit facility usage; 
and severance costs or post-closing adjustments to income that may be required; 
o our ability and the ability of Bank One to successfully integrate our retail business with the credit card program to be offered by Bank 
One; 
o future levels of sales activity and the acceptance of the Bank One credit program by consumers on an ongoing basis; 
o our ability to attract and retain an effective management team or changes in the costs or availability of a suitable work force to 
manage and support our service-driven operating strategies; 
o changes in production or distribution costs or costs of materials for our advertising; 
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o availability of appropriate real estate locations for relocations and new stores; 
o successful implementation of our customer service initiatives; 
o the imposition of new restrictions or regulations regarding the sale of products and/or services we sell, changes in tax rules and 
regulations applicable to us or our competitors, the imposition of new environmental restrictions, regulations or laws or the discovery 
of environmental conditions at current or future locations, or any failure to comply with such laws or any adverse change in such laws; 
o the timing and ultimate completion of the proposed acquisition of InterTAN; 
o our ability to integrate and operate InterTAN successfully and to realize the anticipated benefits of the transaction, including 
successfully introducing InterTAN's products in our Superstores and realizing inventory purchasing synergies; 
o changes in InterTAN's projected operating results; 
o reduced investment returns in our pension plan; 
o changes in our anticipated cash flow; 
o the outcome and impact on InterTAN of litigation instituted by RadioShack Corporation to terminate InterTAN's right to use the 
RadioShack(R) name in Canada and related rights to purchase merchandise through RadioShack; and 
o adverse results in significant litigation matters. 

For factors that may affect InterTAN's operating results, please refer to InterTAN's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2003, and quarterly reports for the fiscal quarters ended September 30, 2003, and December 31, 2003. 
We believe our forward-looking statements are reasonable; however, undue reliance should not be placed on forward-looking 
statements, which are based on current expectations. 

COMMON STOCK 

The common stock of Circuit City Stores, Inc. is traded on the New York Stock Exchange. 

                                                      Market Price of Common Stock                             Dividends 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

Fiscal                                              2004                       2003                         2004       2003 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

Quarter                                         HIGH      LOW            HIGH         LOW 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

1st............................................ 7.42     3.91           $24.59     $16.99                 $.0175     $.0175 
2nd............................................10.44     6.30           $23.41     $12.65                 $.0175     $.0175 
3rd............................................13.21     9.25           $17.55     $ 7.87                 $.0175     $.0175 
4th............................................13.03     8.69           $10.53     $ 4.11                 $.0175     $.0175 
                                               ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Total..........................................                                                           $.0700     $.0700 
                                                                                                          -------------------------- 
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CONSOLIDATED STATMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

                                                                            Years Ended February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in thousands except per share data)                2004         %          2003         %          2002         % 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

NET SALES AND OPERATING REVENUES.......................  $9,745,445     100.0    $9,953,530     100.0    $9,518,231   100.0 
Cost of sales, buying and warehousing..................   7,518,120      77.1     7,603,205      76.4     7,180,259    75.4 
Appliance exit costs...................................          --        --            --        --        10,000     0.1 
                                                         --------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

GROSS PROFIT...........................................   2,227,325      22.9     2,350,325      23.6     2,327,972    24.5 
Finance income [NOTE 4]................................      32,693       0.3        27,292       0.3        40,242     0.4 
Selling, general and administrative expenses [NOTE 2]..   2,220,796      22.8     2,328,763      23.4     2,218,060    23.3 
Stock-based compensation expense [NOTES 2 and 14]......      38,658       0.4        53,251       0.5        42,629     0.4 
Interest expense.......................................       1,804        --         1,093        --           881      -- 
                                                         --------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations before 
   income taxes........................................      (1,240)       --        (5,490)     (0.1)      106,644     1.1 
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Income tax (benefit) provision [NOTE 10]...............        (453)       --          (181)       --        39,088     0.4 
                                                         -------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

NET (LOSS) EARNINGS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS.........        (787)       --        (5,309)     (0.1)       67,556     0.7 

NET (LOSS) EARNINGS FROM 
   DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS [NOTE 3]....................     (88,482)     (0.9)       87,572       0.9       132,374     1.4 
                                                         --------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

NET (LOSS) EARNINGS....................................  $  (89,269)     (0.9)   $   82,263       0.8    $  199,930     2.1 
                                                         -------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Net (loss) earnings from discontinued operations 
      attributed to: 
      Circuit City common stock........................  $  (88,482)             $   65,264              $  104,853 
                                                         ----------             -----------              ---------- 
      CarMax Group common stock........................  $       --              $   22,308              $   27,521 
                                                         ----------              ----------              ---------- 
Weighted average common shares [NOTE 5]: 
   Circuit City: 
      Basic............................................     205,865                 207,217                 205,501 
                                                         ----------              ----------              ---------- 
      Diluted..........................................     205,865                 207,217                 206,843 
                                                         ----------              ----------              ---------- 
   CarMax Group: 
      Basic............................................          --                  37,023                  32,140 
                                                         ----------              ----------              ---------- 
      Diluted..........................................          --                  38,646                  33,997 
                                                         ---------               ----------              ---------- 
NET (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE [NOTES 1, 2, 3 AND 5]: 
Basic: 
   Continuing operations...............................  $       --              $    (0.03)             $     0.33 
   Discontinued operations attributed to Circuit City 
      common stock.....................................       (0.43)                   0.31                    0.51 
                                                         ----------              ----------              ---------- 
                                                         $    (0.43)             $     0.29              $     0.84 
                                                         ----------              ----------              ---------- 
   Discontinued operation attributed to CarMax Group 
     common stock.....................................   $       --              $     0.60              $     0.86 
                                                         ----------              ----------              ---------- 
Diluted: 
   Continuing operations...............................  $       --              $    (0.03)             $     0.33 
   Discontinued operations attributed to Circuit City 
      common stock.....................................       (0.43)                   0.31                    0.51 
                                                         ----------              ----------              ---------- 
                                                         $    (0.43)             $     0.29              $     0.83 
                                                         ----------              ----------              ---------- 
   Discontinued operations attributed to CarMax Group 
      common stock.....................................  $       --              $     0.58              $     0.81 
                                                         ----------              ----------              ---------- 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

                                                                                                 At February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in thousands except share data)                                                      2004                  2003 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS: 
Cash and cash equivalents [NOTE 2].......................................................  $  783,471            $  884,670 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $547 and $1,075...........     154,039               140,385 
Retained interests in securitized receivables [NOTES 2 and 6]............................     425,678               239,141 
Merchandise inventory [NOTE 2]...........................................................   1,517,256             1,409,736 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets................................................      38,617                18,165 
Assets of discontinued operations [NOTE 3]...............................................          --               395,813 
                                                                                           ----------------------------------------- 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS.....................................................................   2,919,061             3,087,910 
Property and equipment, net [NOTES 2, 8 AND 9]...........................................     585,903               649,593 
Deferred income taxes [NOTES 2 AND 10]...................................................      98,934                64,509 
Other assets [NOTE 15]...................................................................      29,102                39,252 
                                                                                           ----------------------------------------- 

TOTAL ASSETS.............................................................................  $3,633,000            $3,841,264 
                                                                                           ----------------------------------------- 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

CURRENT LIABILITIES: 
Accounts payable [NOTE 2]................................................................  $  879,635            $  963,701 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities [NOTES 3 AND 15]..........................     131,512               113,878 
Accrued income taxes.....................................................................      71,163                44,453 
Deferred income taxes [NOTES 2 AND 10]...................................................      90,210                91,403 
Current installments of long-term debt [NOTES 9 AND 11]..................................       1,115                 1,410 
Liabilities of discontinued operations [NOTE 3]..........................................       3,068                60,180 
                                                                                           ----------------------------------------- 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES................................................................   1,176,703             1,275,025 
Long-term debt, excluding current installments [NOTES 9 AND 11]..........................      22,691                11,254 
Accrued straight-line rent [NOTE 2]......................................................      98,470                97,427 
Other liabilities [NOTE 11]..............................................................     111,175                83,690 
                                                                                           ----------------------------------------- 

TOTAL LIABILITIES........................................................................   1,409,039             1,467,396 
                                                                                           ----------------------------------------- 

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY [NOTES 1, 2, 13 AND 14]: 
Common stock, $0.50 par value; 525,000,000 shares authorized; 
203,899,395 shares issued and outstanding (209,954,840 in 2003)..........................     101,950               104,977 
Capital in excess of par value...........................................................     922,600               965,551 
Retained earnings........................................................................   1,199,411             1,303,340 
                                                                                           ----------------------------------------- 

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY...............................................................   2,223,961             2,373,868 
                                                                                           ----------------------------------------- 
Commitments and contingent liabilities [NOTES 3, 11, 12 AND 15] 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY...............................................  $3,633,000            $3,841,264 
                                                                                           ----------------------------------------- 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
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                                                                                            Years Ended February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in thousands)                                                                     2004        2003        2002 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
   Net (loss) earnings.................................................................  $ (89,269) $   82,263   $  199,930 
   Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) earnings to net cash (used in) provided by 
     operating activities of continuing operations: 
     Net loss (earnings) from discontinued operations [NOTE 3].........................     88,482     (87,572)    (132,374) 
     Depreciation and amortization.....................................................    197,969     157,469      134,371 
     Stock option expense..............................................................     24,184      30,823       25,184 
     Amortization of restricted stock awards...........................................     13,395      20,828       15,678 
     Loss on dispositions of property and equipment....................................      7,500      15,659       13,735 
     Provision for deferred income taxes...............................................    (35,618)    (18,664)      19,558 
     Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
       (Increase) decrease in accounts receivable, net.................................    (13,654)      6,229       41,191 
       Increase in retained interests in securitized receivables.......................   (186,537)    (92,888)     (12,256) 
       (Increase) decrease in merchandise inventory....................................   (107,520)   (175,493)     176,284 
       (Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets................    (20,452)     21,081       16,071 
       Decrease (increase) in other assets.............................................     10,150     (27,898)      (2,359) 
       (Decrease) increase in accounts payable.........................................    (84,066)    (55,818)     202,289 
       Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses and other current 
         liabilities and accrued income taxes..........................................     35,232     (59,485)     118,064 
       Increase in accrued straight-line rent and other liabilities....................     28,528      19,407       71,188 
                                                                                         ------------------------------------------- 
   NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS........   (131,676)   (164,059)     886,554 
                                                                                         ------------------------------------------- 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
   Purchases of property and equipment.................................................   (175,769)   (150,757)    (172,580) 
   Proceeds from sales of property and equipment.......................................     46,590      60,838       88,461 
                                                                                         ------------------------------------------- 
   NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS......................   (129,179)    (89,919)     (84,119) 
                                                                                         ------------------------------------------- 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
   (Payments on) proceeds from short-term debt, net....................................         --        (397)         184 
   Principal payments on long-term debt................................................     (1,458)    (24,865)     (19,788) 
   Repurchase and retirement of common stock [NOTE 13].................................    (84,353)         --           -- 
   Issuances of Circuit City common stock, net.........................................     11,391       8,901       17,920 
   Issuances of CarMax Group common stock, net.........................................         --         298       (1,958) 
   Proceeds from CarMax Group stock offering, net [NOTE 5].............................         --          --      139,546 
   Dividends paid......................................................................    (14,660)    (14,687)     (14,556) 
                                                                                         ------------------------------------------- 
   NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS........    (89,080)    (30,750)     121,348 
                                                                                         ------------------------------------------- 

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS [NOTE 3]: 
   BANKCARD OPERATION..................................................................    248,736     (94,533)     (87,125) 
   CARMAX OPERATION....................................................................         --      26,185       (2,904) 
   DIVX OPERATION......................................................................         --     (10,500)     (22,837) 
                                                                                         ------------------------------------------- 
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents.......................................   (101,199)   (363,576)     810,917 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year.........................................    884,670   1,248,246      437,329 
                                                                                         ------------------------------------------- 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year...............................................  $ 783,471  $  884,670   $1,248,246 
                                                                                         ------------------------------------------- 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
Cash paid (received) during the year for: 
     Interest..........................................................................  $   2,999  $    1,824   $    2,340 
     Income taxes......................................................................  $  36,324  $  107,946   $  (44,926) 
   Non-cash operating, investing and financing activities: 
     Asset acquired from variable interest entity......................................  $  12,600  $       --   $       -- 
     Liability assumed from variable interest entity...................................  $  12,600  $       --   $       -- 
     Reduction of liability related to the discontinued Divx operation.................  $   2,315  $       --   $       -- 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

                                                Shares Outstanding       Common Stock 
                                                ------------------   -------------------   Capital In 
                                                Circuit   CarMax     Circuit    CarMax     Excess of    Retained 
(Amounts in thousands except per share data)     City      Group      City       Group     Par Value    Earnings       Total 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

BALANCE AT FEBRUARY 28, 2001 
   (as previously reported) [NOTES 2, 5 and 14] 207,020   25,639    $103,510   $ 12,820    $642,838    $1,597,315    $2,356,483 
Adjustment for the cumulative effect on 
   prior years of the adoption of 
   SFAS No. 123...........................           --       --          --         --      55,440       (38,560)       16,880 
Net earnings..............................           --       --          --         --          --       199,930       199,930 
Sale of CarMax Group common stock.........           --    9,517          --      4,758     134,788            --       139,546 
Compensation for stock options............           --       --          --         --      27,417            --        27,417 
Exercise of common stock options..........          541    1,941         270        971       9,669            --        10,910 
Shares issued under employee stock 
   purchase plans.........................          867       --         434         --      13,494            --        13,928 
Shares issued under stock incentive plans.        1,068        2         534          1      13,605            --        14,140 
Tax effect from stock issued..............           --       --          --         --       1,296            --         1,296 
Cancellation of restricted stock..........         (673)    (248)       (337)      (124)    (17,995)           --       (18,456) 
Unearned compensation-- restricted stock..           --       --          --         --      12,985            --        12,985 
Cash dividends-- common 
   stock ($0.07 per share)................           --       --          --         --          --       (14,556)      (14,556) 
                                             -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

BALANCE AT FEBRUARY 28, 2002 
   [NOTES 2, 3 and 14]....................      208,823   36,851     104,411     18,426     893,537     1,744,129     2,760,503 
Net earnings..............................           --       --          --         --          --        82,263        82,263 
Compensation for stock options............           --       --          --         --      34,637            --        34,637 
Exercise of common stock options..........          311      246         156        123       5,035            --         5,314 
Shares issued under employee stock 
   purchase plans.........................          457       --         229         --       7,400            --         7,629 
Shares issued under stock incentive plans.          843       --         421         --      17,207            --        17,628 
Tax effect from stock issued..............           --       --          --         --       5,986            --         5,986 
Cancellation of restricted stock..........         (479)      (8)       (240)        (4)     (8,081)           --        (8,325) 
Unearned compensation-- restricted stock..           --       --          --         --       9,830            --         9,830 
Cash dividends-- common 
   stock ($0.07 per share)................           --       --          --         --          --       (14,687)      (14,687) 
Distribution of CarMax, Inc. common 
   stock to shareholders..................           --  (37,089)         --    (18,545)         --      (536,765)     (555,310) 
Special dividend from CarMax..............           --       --          --         --          --        28,400        28,400 
                                            ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

BALANCE AT FEBRUARY 28, 2003 
   [NOTES 2 and 14].......................      209,955       --     104,977         --     965,551     1,303,340     2,373,868 
Net loss..................................           --       --          --         --          --       (89,269)      (89,269) 
Repurchases of common stock...............       (9,266)      --      (4,633)        --     (79,720)           --       (84,353) 
Compensation for stock options............           --       --          --         --      24,184            --        24,184 
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Exercise of common stock options..........        1,369       --         685         --      11,843            --        12,528 
Shares issued under stock incentive plans.        2,546       --       1,273         --      19,312            --        20,585 
Tax effect from stock issued..............           --       --          --         --     (10,595)           --       (10,595) 
Cancellation of restricted stock..........         (705)      --        (352)        --     (10,074)           --       (10,426) 
Unearned compensation-- restricted stock..           --       --          --         --       2,099            --         2,099 
Cash dividends-- common 
   stock ($0.07 per share)................           --       --          --         --          --       (14,660)      (14,660) 
                                            ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

BALANCE AT FEBRUARY 29, 2004..............      203,899       --    $101,950  $      --    $922,600    $1,199,411    $2,223,961 
                                            ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION From February 7, 1997, to October 1, 2002, the common stock of Circuit City Stores, Inc. consisted of 
two common stock series that were intended to reflect the performance of the company's two businesses. The Circuit City Group 
common stock was intended to reflect the performance of the Circuit City consumer electronics stores and related operations and the 
shares of CarMax Group common stock reserved for the Circuit City Group or for issuance to holders of Circuit City Group common 
stock. The CarMax Group common stock was intended to reflect the performance of the CarMax auto superstores and related 
operations. Effective October 1, 2002, the CarMax auto superstore business was separated from the Circuit City consumer electronics 
business through a tax-free transaction in which CarMax, Inc., formerly a wholly owned subsidiary of Circuit City Stores, Inc., became 
an independent, separately traded public company. Following the separation, the Circuit City Group common stock was renamed 
Circuit City common stock. CarMax results are presented as results from discontinued operations. See Note 3 for additional discussion 
of the separation. On November 18, 2003, the company completed the sale of its bankcard finance operation, which included Visa and 
MasterCard credit card receivables and related cash reserves. Results from the bankcard finance operation are presented as results 
from discontinued operations. See Note 3 for additional discussion concerning the sale of the bankcard finance operation. Certain prior 
year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (A) Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements 
include the accounts of the company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have 
been eliminated in consolidation. (B) Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results 
may differ from those estimates. 
(C) Revenue Recognition: The company recognizes revenue when the earnings process is complete, generally at either the time of sale 
to a customer or upon delivery to a customer. The company sells extended warranty contracts on behalf of unrelated third parties. The 
contracts extend beyond the normal manufacturer's warranty period, usually with terms, including the manufacturer's warranty period, 
from 12 to 60 months. Because the third parties are the primary obligors under these contracts, commission revenue for the 
unrelated-third-party extended warranty plans is recognized at the time of sale. The company also sells gift cards and records related 
deferred revenue at the time of sale. The liability associated with the sale of gift cards was $49.5 million at February 29, 2004, and $46.0 
million at February 28, 2003, and is included in accounts payable on the consolidated balance sheets. Prior to the fourth quarter of 
fiscal 2004, a monthly service fee was assessed on gift cards with unredeemed balances after 24 months. Service fee revenue recorded 
as a reduction to selling, general and administrative expenses was $2.5 million in fiscal 2004, $2.3 million in fiscal 2003 and $1.3 million in 
fiscal 2002. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the company ceased charging customers the service fee. Upon eliminating the 
service fee, the company began adjusting its liability based on historical usage patterns for gift cards. In fiscal 2004, the company 
recorded a benefit of $5.9 million resulting from a reduction in liabilities related to the customer gift card program. (D) Vendor 
Allowances: The company receives cash consideration from vendors through a variety of programs and arrangements, including 
cooperative advertising and vendor allowances. The majority of vendor allowances are recognized as a reduction to cost of sales, 
buying and warehousing. Cash consideration received as part of cooperative advertising programs that represents a reimbursement of 
specific, incremental, identifiable direct costs incurred by the company to advertise the vendors' products is reported as a reduction to 
advertising expense in the period in which the advertising occurs. (E) Interest Income: Interest income recorded as a reduction to 
selling, general and administrative expenses was $6.6 million for the year ended February 29, 2004, $7.9 million for the year ended 
February 28, 2003, and $15.8 million for the year ended February 28, 2002. (F) Store Opening and Location Closing Expenses: 
Non-capital expenditures relating to store openings, including organization and pre-opening costs, are expensed as incurred. When the 
company commits to a plan to close or relocate a store, estimates of the depreciable lives of fixtures, equipment and leasehold 
improvements to be abandoned are revised to reflect the use of the assets over their shortened useful lives. At a location's cease-use 
date, estimated unrecoverable costs are charged to selling, general and administrative expenses. Such costs include the estimated loss 
on the sale of land and building and a provision for the present value of future lease obligations, less contractual or estimated sublease 
income. (G) Advertising Expenses: Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and are included in selling, general and administrative 
expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. Advertising expense was $319.6 million in fiscal 2004, $345.1 million in fiscal 
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2003 and $362.0 million in fiscal 2002. (H) Stock-Based Compensation: Prior to December 1, 2003, the company accounted for 
stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, 
"Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," and related interpretations. Accordingly, no stock-based compensation cost for stock 
options was reflected in previously reported results, as all options granted had an exercise price equal to the market value of the 
underlying common stock on the grant date. 
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Effective December 1, 2003, the company adopted the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based compensation in 
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation." The adoption of 
this standard was applied using the retroactive restatement method as defined in SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation -- Transition and Disclosure." All periods have been retroactively restated to reflect the compensation cost that would 
have been recognized had the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 been applied to all awards granted to employees in fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 1994. The table below sets forth the effect of retroactive restatement of prior periods. 

                                                 Years Ended February 28 
(Amounts in thousands except per share data)          2003      2002 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations: 
   Previously reported..........................    $41,565   $127,993 
   Restated for bankcard operation sale.........    $15,892   $ 85,037 
   Restated for bankcard operation sale and 
      adoption of SFAS No. 123..................    $(5,309)  $ 67,556 
Net earnings (loss) per share from 
   continuing operations: 
   Basic: 
      Previously reported.......................    $  0.20   $   0.62 
      Restated for bankcard operation sale......    $  0.08   $   0.41 
      Restated for bankcard operation sale and 
         adoption of SFAS No. 123...............    $ (0.03)  $   0.33 
   Diluted: 
      Previously reported.......................    $  0.20   $   0.62 
      Restated for bankcard operation sale......    $  0.08   $   0.41 
      Restated for bankcard operation sale and 
         adoption of SFAS No. 123...............    $ (0.03)  $   0.33 

(I) Net Earnings Per Share: Basic net earnings per share from continuing operations is computed by dividing net earnings from 
continuing operations by the weighted average number of shares of Circuit City common stock outstanding. Diluted net earnings per 
share from continuing operations is computed by dividing net earnings from continuing operations by the sum of the weighted 
average number of shares of Circuit City common stock outstanding and the potentially dilutive Circuit City common stock. Basic net 
earnings per share from discontinued operations attributed to Circuit City common stock is computed by dividing net earnings from 
discontinued operations attributed to Circuit City common stock by the weighted average number of shares of Circuit City common 
stock outstanding. Diluted net earnings per share from discontinued operations attributed to Circuit City common stock is computed 
by dividing net earnings from discontinued operations attributed to Circuit City common stock by the sum of the weighted average 
number of shares of Circuit City common stock outstanding and the potentially dilutive Circuit City common stock. Basic net earnings 
per share from discontinued operations attributed to CarMax Group common stock is computed by dividing net earnings from 
discontinued operations attributed to CarMax Group common stock by the weighted average number of shares of CarMax Group 
common stock outstanding. Diluted net earnings per share from discontinued operations attributed to CarMax Group common stock is 
computed by dividing net earnings from discontinued operations attributed to CarMax Group common stock by the sum of the 
weighted average number of shares of CarMax Group common stock outstanding and the potentially dilutive CarMax Group common 
stock. For fiscal 2003, the shares of CarMax Group common stock have been weighted over the months that CarMax was a wholly 
owned subsidiary of the company. CarMax became an independent, separately traded public company on October 1, 2002. (J) Fair 
Value of Financial Instruments: The carrying value of the company's cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts 
payable and long-term debt approximates fair value. Retained interests in securitized receivables and derivative financial instruments 
are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. (K) Cash and Cash Equivalents: Investments in highly liquid debt 
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securities with original maturities of three months or less totaled $699.6 million at February 29, 2004, and $844.7 million at February 28, 
2003, and are included in cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets. Cash and cash equivalents held by the 
company's regulated subsidiaries and not available for general corporate purposes were $61.6 million at February 29, 2004, and $48.8 
million at February 28, 2003. 
(L) Securitizations: The company enters into securitization transactions to finance private-label credit card receivables originated by its 
finance operation. These transactions are accounted for as sales in accordance with SFAS No. 140, "Accounting for Transfers and 
Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities." At February 29, 2004, retained interests in securitized receivables were 
carried at fair value as determined by the estimated net proceeds from the planned sale of the company's private-label finance 
operation. At February 28, 2003, retained interests in securitized receivables were carried at fair value as determined by the present 
value of expected future cash flows. The changes in fair value of retained interests are included in finance income on the consolidated 
statements of operations. See Note 6 for additional discussion of securitizations. (M) Derivative Financial Instruments: The company 
enters into interest rate cap agreements in connection with its private-label receivable securitization transactions. The company 
recognizes all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. Fair value estimates 
of the company's derivative instruments are based on quoted market prices. (N) Merchandise Inventory: Inventory is comprised of 
finished goods held for sale and is stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined by the average cost method. The company 
estimates the realizable value of inventory based on assumptions about forecasted consumer demand, market conditions and 
obsolescence expectations. If the estimated realizable value is less than cost, the inventory value is reduced to its estimated realizable 
value. If estimates regarding consumer demand and market conditions are inaccurate or unexpected changes in technology affect 
demand, the company could be exposed to losses in excess of amounts recorded. 
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(O) Property and Equipment: Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation 
and amortization are calculated using the straight-line method over the assets' estimated useful lives. Property held under capital lease 
is stated at the lower of the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease or market value and is 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset, whichever is shorter. 
(P) Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets: The company reviews long-lived assets for impairment when circumstances indicate 
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Impairment is recognized when the sum of undiscounted estimated future 
cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset is less than the asset's carrying value. The impairment loss recognized 
represents the difference between the asset's carrying value and fair value. 
(Q) Deferred Income Taxes: Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of temporary differences between the amounts of assets and 
liabilities recognized for financial reporting purposes and the amounts recognized for income tax purposes, measured by applying 
currently enacted tax laws. The company recognizes a deferred tax asset if it is more likely than not that a benefit will be realized. 
(R) Accrued Straight-Line Rent: Most of the company's leases include fixed-dollar rental commitments, with many containing rent 
escalations based on the lesser of a fixed amount or a multiple of the change in the Consumer Price Index. In accordance with SFAS 
No. 13, "Accounting for Leases," as amended by SFAS No. 29, "Determining Contingent Rentals," and FASB Technical Bulletin 85-3, 
"Accounting for Operating Leases with Scheduled Rent Increases," the company recognizes rental expense for minimum lease 
payments from operating leases on a straight-line basis. Accrued straight-line rent is presented separately on the consolidated balance 
sheets and was $98.5 million at February 29, 2004, and $97.4 million at February 28, 2003. 
(S) Risks and Uncertainties: The company is a leading national retailer of brand-name consumer electronics, personal computers and 
entertainment software. The diversity of the company's products, customers, suppliers and geographic operations reduces the risk that 
a severe impact will occur in the near term as a result of changes in its customer base, competition, sources of supply or markets. 

3. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS Cash flows related to discontinued operations have been segregated on the consolidated 
statements of cash flows. (A) Bankcard Operation: On November 18, 2003, the company completed the sale of its bankcard finance 
operation to FleetBoston Financial. Bankcard results are presented as results from discontinued operations. The sale agreement 
includes a transition services agreement under which the company's finance operation will continue to service the bankcard accounts 
until final conversion to FleetBoston's system, which is expected to occur in the company's first fiscal quarter ending May 31, 2004. 
FleetBoston is reimbursing the company for operating costs incurred during the transition period. Severance costs are being incurred 
ratably from the time at which these costs are eligible for accrual through the final conversion date. For fiscal 2004, the after-tax loss 
from the discontinued bankcard operation totaled $90.0 million, compared with after-tax earnings of $25.6 million for fiscal 2003 and 
$42.9 million for fiscal 2002. These results include bankcard-related income generated by a subsidiary that provides reinsurance and 
indemnification related to credit protection products sold by the finance operation. The assets and liabilities of the discontinued 
bankcard operation reflected on the consolidated balance sheets at February 29, 2004, and February 28, 2003, were comprised of the 
following: 

                                                     At February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in millions)                                    2004     2003 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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Accounts receivable....................................  $ --    $ 74.7 
Retained interests in securitized receivables..........    --     321.1 
                                                         
----------------------- 
Total assets of discontinued bankcard operation........  $ --    $395.8 
                                                         
----------------------- 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities           $3.1    $   -- 
Deferred income taxes..................................    --      60.2 
                                                         
----------------------- 

Total liabilities of discontinued bankcard operation...  $3.1    $ 60.2 
                                                         
----------------------- 

(B) CarMax: On September 10, 2002, the company's shareholders approved the separation of the CarMax Group from Circuit City 
Stores, Inc. and the company's board of directors authorized the redemption of the company's CarMax Group common stock and the 
distribution of CarMax, Inc. common stock to effect the separation. On October 1, 2002, the separation was effective and CarMax, Inc. 
became an independent, separately traded public company. Each outstanding share of CarMax Group common stock was redeemed in 
exchange for one share of CarMax, Inc. common stock. In addition, each holder of Circuit City Group common stock received as a 
tax-free distribution 0.313879 of a share of CarMax, Inc. common stock for each share of Circuit City Group common stock owned as of 
September 16, 2002, the record date for the distribution. CarMax results are presented as results from discontinued operations. The 
company recorded no gain or loss as a result of the separation. 
With the separation, CarMax paid a special dividend of $28.4 million to Circuit City Stores, Inc. in recognition of the company's 
continuing contingent liability on leases related to 23 CarMax locations. At February 29, 2004, the future minimum fixed lease 
obligations on these 23 leases totaled $451.9 million. 
In connection with the separation, the company and CarMax entered into a transition services agreement, under which the company 
provides CarMax services that currently include administrative services, special technical services, benefits administration, computer 
center support and telecommunication services, with initial terms ranging from six to 24 months and varying renewal options. Under 
the agreement, CarMax pays the company the allocable portion of all direct and indirect costs of providing these services plus 10 
percent. Including the 10 percent markup, the company billed CarMax $7.0 million during fiscal 2004 and $6.7 million 
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during fiscal 2003 for services provided under the agreement. The company records amounts related to the 10 percent markup in net 
sales and operating revenues on the consolidated statements of operations. A tax allocation agreement, which generally provides that 
pre-separation taxes attributable to the business of each party will be borne solely by that party, also was executed upon the 
separation. 
The discontinued CarMax operations had no impact on the net earnings of the company for fiscal 2004. Net earnings from the 
discontinued CarMax operations were $62.0 million for fiscal 2003, representing CarMax results for the seven months prior to the 
separation date. Net earnings from the discontinued CarMax operations were $89.5 million for fiscal 2002. CarMax results have been 
restated to reflect the adoption of SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148. Prior to the separation date, CarMax earnings were 
allocated to the company's Circuit City Group and CarMax Group common stocks. Circuit City Group earnings included earnings 
attributed to the CarMax Group shares reserved for the Circuit City Group or for issuance to Circuit City Group shareholders. The 
CarMax Group earnings reflected the remainder of the earnings of the CarMax business. 
(C) Divx: On June 16, 1999, Digital Video Express announced that it would cease marketing the Divx home video system and 
discontinue operations. Divx results are presented as results from discontinued operations. The provision for commitments under 
licensing agreements was reduced $2.3 million in fiscal 2004, reducing accrued expenses and other current liabilities related to the 
former Divx operations to $5.6 million on the consolidated balance sheet at February 29, 2004. This reduction benefited the fiscal 2004 
net loss from discontinued operations by $1.5 million. Payments of $10.5 million were made during fiscal 2003, reducing accrued 
expenses and other current liabilities related to the former Divx operations to $8.0 million on the consolidated balance sheet at February 
28, 2003. The discontinued Divx operations had no impact on the net earnings of the company for fiscal 2003 or fiscal 2002. 

4. FINANCE INCOME Components of pretax finance income were as follows: 
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                                   Years Ended February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in millions)                  2004    2003    2002 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Securitization income................$120.9   $107.3  $118.0 
Payroll and fringe benefit expenses..  29.5     30.8    30.4 
Other direct expenses................  58.7     49.2    47.4 
                                     
------------------------------------------- 

Finance income.......................$ 32.7   $ 27.3  $ 40.2 
                                     
------------------------------------------- 

Securitization income primarily is comprised of the gain on the sale of receivables generated by the company's private-label finance 
operation, income from the retained interests in the credit card receivables and income related to servicing the receivables, as well as 
the impact of increases or decreases in the fair value of the retained interests. Finance income does not include any allocation of 
indirect costs or income. The company presents information on the performance of its finance operation on a direct basis to avoid 
making arbitrary decisions regarding the periodic indirect benefits or costs that could be attributed to this operation. Examples of 
indirect costs not included are corporate expenses such as human resources, administrative services, marketing, information systems, 
accounting, legal, treasury and executive payroll, as well as retail store expenses. 

5. NET (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE Reconciliations of the numerator and denominator of basic and diluted net (loss) earnings per 
share calculations are presented below. 

(Amounts in thousands                  Years Ended February 29 or 28 
except per share data)                   2004       2003       2002 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Circuit City: 
Weighted average common shares.......   205,865    207,217    205,501 
Dilutive potential common shares: 
   Options...........................        --         --        521 
   Restricted stock..................        --         --        821 
                                        
---------------------------------------- 
Weighted average common shares and 
   dilutive potential common shares..   205,865    207,217    206,843 
                                        
---------------------------------------- 

Net (loss) earnings available to 
   common shareholders from: 
   Continuing operations.............  $   (787)  $ (5,309)  $ 67,556 
                                       
----------------------------------------- 
   Discontinued operations...........  $(88,482)  $ 65,264   $104,853 

Basic net (loss) earnings per share from: 
   Continuing operations.............  $     --   $  (0.03)  $   0.33 
   Discontinued operations...........     (0.43)      0.31       0.51 
                                       
----------------------------------------- 
                                       $  (0.43)  $   0.29   $   0.84 
                                       
----------------------------------------- 
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Diluted net (loss) earnings per share from: 
   Continuing operations.............  $     --   $  (0.03)  $   0.33 
   Discontinued operations...........     (0.43)      0.31       0.51 
                                       
----------------------------------------- 
                                       $  (0.43)  $   0.29   $   0.83 
                                       
----------------------------------------- 

CarMax Group: 
Weighted average common shares.......        --     37,023     32,140 
Dilutive potential common shares: 
   Options...........................        --      1,613      1,824 
   Restricted stock..................        --         10         33 
                                       
----------------------------------------- 
Weighted average common shares and 
   dilutive potential common shares..        --     38,646     33,997 
                                       
----------------------------------------- 
Net earnings available to 
   common shareholders...............  $     --   $ 22,308   $ 27,521 
                                       
----------------------------------------- 

   Basic net earnings per share......  $     --   $   0.60   $   0.86 
                                       
----------------------------------------- 

   Diluted net earnings per share....  $     --   $   0.58   $   0.81 
                                       
----------------------------------------- 

For fiscal 2003, the shares of CarMax Group common stock were weighted over the months during which CarMax was a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Circuit City Stores, Inc. 
For fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, no options or restricted stock were included in the calculation of Circuit City's diluted net loss per share 
because the company reported a loss from continuing operations. Options to purchase 17.8 million shares of Circuit City common 
stock with exercise prices ranging from 
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$5.61 to $27.21 and restricted stock amounting to 1.6 million shares were outstanding at February 29, 2004. Options to purchase 17.6 
million shares of Circuit City common stock with exercise prices ranging from $6.33 to $27.21 and restricted stock amounting to 2.8 
million shares were outstanding at February 28, 2003. For fiscal 2002, certain options were outstanding and not included in the 
calculation of diluted net earnings per share because the options' exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the 
common shares. Options to purchase 5.3 million shares of Circuit City common stock with exercise prices ranging from $26.15 to $43.03 
per share were outstanding and not included in the calculation at the end of fiscal 2002. 
Options to purchase 1.0 million shares of CarMax Group common stock at prices ranging from $20.00 to $26.83 per share were 
outstanding at the separation date and not included in the calculation of diluted net earnings per share at the end of fiscal 2003. All 3.6 
million options to purchase shares of CarMax Group common stock were included in the calculation at the end of fiscal 2002. 
In a public offering completed during fiscal 2002, Circuit City Stores, Inc. sold 9.5 million CarMax Group shares that previously had 
been reserved for the Circuit City Group. With the impact of the offering, 64.0 percent of the CarMax Group's fiscal 2003 earnings prior 
to the separation date were attributed to Circuit City. In fiscal 2002, 64.1 percent of the CarMax Group's earnings were attributed to 
Circuit City. 

6. SECURITIZATIONS The company enters into securitization transactions to finance its private-label and co-branded Visa credit card 
receivables, collectively referred to as private-label receivables, originated by its finance operation. The company uses a special 
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purpose subsidiary to facilitate these securitization transactions in accordance with the isolation provisions of SFAS No. 140. The 
finance operation sells the private-label receivables to the special purpose subsidiary, which, in turn, transfers these receivables to a 
securitization master trust. At the time of these sales, the company recognizes gains or losses as a component of finance income. See 
Note 4 for discussion of finance income. On January 20, 2004, the company announced plans to sell its private-label finance operation 
to Bank One Corporation. The sale is expected to close in the second calendar quarter of 2004. The company funded its Mastercard 
and non-co-branded Visa credit card receivables, collectively referred to as bankcard receivables, through a similar master trust 
program prior to the sale of its bankcard operation to FleetBoston Financial in November 2003. See Note 3 for discussion of the 
discontinued bankcard operation. The master trust periodically issues securities backed by the private-label receivables. The master 
trust has issued multiple series of term asset-backed securities each having a fixed initial principal amount and multiple series of 
variable funding asset-backed securities each having a variable principal amount. Investors in the variable funding asset-backed 
securities are generally entitled to receive monthly interest payments and have committed to acquire additional variable funding 
interests up to a stated amount until a stated commitment termination date. The securitization agreements do not provide for recourse 
to the company for credit losses on the securitized receivables. The private-label finance operation continues to service the securitized 
receivables for a fee. Circuit City retains the rights to receive the excess of the finance charges and fees generated by the securitized 
private-label receivables over the interest paid to investors, servicing costs and credit losses. The company also holds various 
subordinated asset-backed securities that serve as credit enhancement for the asset-backed securities held by third-party investors. 
The private-label securitization agreements require that the aggregate outstanding principal balance of the securitized receivables 
exceeds a specified amount and that the yield on the securitized receivables exceeds specified rates. In addition, the variable funding 
securitization agreements require that the securitized receivables meet specified performance levels relating to delinquency rates, 
default rates and principal payment rates. If these performance levels are not met, or if certain other events occur, it would constitute 
an early amortization event, in which case the principal payment dates for the term series would be accelerated, the variable funding 
commitments would terminate and the variable funding investors would begin to receive monthly principal payments until paid in full. 
The securitized receivables were in compliance with these performance levels at February 29, 2004, and February 28, 2003. The finance 
operation receives annual servicing fees approximating 2 percent of the outstanding principal balance of the securitized receivables. 
The servicing fees specified in the securitization agreements adequately compensate the finance operation for servicing the securitized 
receivables. Accordingly, no servicing asset or liability has been recorded. 

                                               Years Ended February 29 or 28 
(Dollar amounts in millions)                          2004        2003 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Total principal amount of credit 
   card receivables managed......................... $1,878.1   $1,636.1 
Principal amount of receivables securitized ........ $1,812.1   $1,592.2 
Principal amount of receivables held for sale....... $   66.0   $   43.9 
Unused capacity of the private-label 
   variable funding program......................... $   42.4   $   29.5 
Aggregate receivables 31 days or more delinquent.... $  107.6   $    2.1 
Aggregate receivables 31 days or more delinquent.... 
   as a percent of total principal amount of 
   credit card receivables managed..................      5.7%       4.4% 

The principal amount of defaults net of recoveries was $109.8 million for fiscal 2004, $73.1 million for fiscal 2003 and $65.1 million for 
fiscal 2002. Serviced private-label receivables averaged $1.66 billion for the year ended February 29, 2004, $1.39 billion for the year 
ended February 28, 2003, and $1.10 billion for the year ended February 28, 2002. The principal amount of defaults net of recoveries as 
an annualized percent of average serviced receivables was 
6.6 percent for the year ended February 29, 2004, 5.3 percent for the year ended February 28, 2003, and 5.9 percent for the year ended 
February 28, 2002. 
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During fiscal 2004, the company replaced a maturing term securitization with a variable funding program and completed a $500 million 
private-label credit card receivable securitization transaction to replace a maturing term securitization. Also during fiscal 2004, the 
company increased the capacity of its private-label variable funding program by $484 million and extended the commitment termination 
date for this program to June 30, 2004. The company completed a $300 million private-label credit card receivable securitization 
transaction during fiscal 2003 to replace a maturing term securitization. 
The following table summarizes certain cash flows received from and paid to the securitization trusts. 
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                                             Years Ended February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in millions)                          2004       2003     2002 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Proceeds from new securitizations..........  $  500.6  $  901.0  $  454.8 
Proceeds from collections reinvested in 
   previous credit card securitizations....  $1,785.9  $1,157.3  $1,124.6 
Servicing fees received....................  $   30.3  $   24.7  $   20.9 
Other cash flows received on 
   retained interests*.....................  $  131.9  $   73.7  $   88.0 

*This amount represents cash flows received from retained interests other than servicing fees. 

In accordance with the allocated carrying value method as prescribed by SFAS No. 140, gains on sales of receivables sold to the 
securitization trusts were $47.7 million for fiscal 2004, $67.8 million for fiscal 2003 and $64.2 million for fiscal 2002. 
At February 29, 2004, the fair value of the retained interests in securitized private-label receivables was $425.7 million and was 
determined based on the estimated net proceeds from the planned sale of the company's private-label finance operation. At February 
28, 2003, the fair value of the retained interests in securitized private-label receivables was $239.1 million and was determined based on 
the present value of expected future cash flows. 

7. FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES The company enters into interest rate cap agreements in connection with its private-label receivable 
securitization transactions. During fiscal 2004, the company did not purchase or sell any interest rate caps. The total notional amount 
of interest rate caps outstanding was $280.5 million at February 29, 2004, and $512.9 million at February 28, 2003. Interest rate caps 
purchased by the company are included in net accounts receivable on the consolidated balance sheets and had a fair value of $2.7 
million at February 29, 2004, and $4.2 million at February 28, 2003. Interest rate caps written by the company are included in accounts 
payable on the consolidated balance sheets and had a fair value of $2.7 million at February 29, 2004, and $4.2 million at February 28, 
2003. Fair value is determined from quoted market prices. The market and credit risks associated with the company's interest rate caps 
are similar to those relating to other types of financial instruments. Market risk is the exposure created by potential fluctuations in 
interest rates and is directly related to the product type, agreement terms and transaction volume. The company has entered into 
offsetting interest rate cap positions and, therefore, does not anticipate significant market risk arising from its interest rate caps. Credit 
risk is the exposure to nonperformance of another party to an agreement. The company mitigates credit risk by dealing with highly 
rated bank counterparties. 

8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT Property and equipment, stated at cost, is summarized as follows: 

                                                    At February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in thousands)                                2004       2003 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Land............................................... $   14,974  $  13,320 
Buildings (20 to 25 years).........................    192,941    183,554 
Land held for sale.................................        940      2,759 
Construction in progress...........................     15,276     23,092 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment (3 to 8 years)...    815,127    827,504 
Leasehold improvements (10 to 15 years)............    563,629    538,176 
Capital leases, primarily buildings (20 years).....      3,712     12,406 
                                                     
--------------------------- 
                                                     1,606,599  1,600,811 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization.....  1,020,696    951,218 
                                                    
---------------------------- 
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Property and equipment, net........................ $  585,903 $  649,593 
                                                    
---------------------------- 

SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets," requires the revision of depreciation estimates 
when an entity commits to a plan to abandon a long-lived asset before the end of its previously estimated useful life. For fiscal 2004, 
accumulated depreciation and amortization includes $1.5 million of accelerated depreciation for assets expected to be disposed in fiscal 
2005. For fiscal 2003, accumulated depreciation and amortization includes $6.3 million of accelerated depreciation for assets then 
expected to be disposed in fiscal 2004. Also included in fiscal 2003 accumulated depreciation and amortization is $4.3 million related to 
additional depreciation expense incurred due to a change in the estimate of the depreciable lives for certain fixtures from 8 years to 5 
years. 

9. DEBT Long-term debt is summarized as follows: 

                                                       At February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in thousands)                                   2004     2003 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Industrial Development Revenue Bonds due 
   through 2006 at various prime-based rates 
   of interest ranging from 2.6% to 3.3% in 
   fiscal 2004 (2.8% to 3.7% in fiscal 2003).......     $   725  $ 1,576 
Obligations under capital leases [NOTE 11].........      10,481   11,088 
Other..............................................      12,600       -- 
                                                    
---------------------------- 
Total long-term debt...............................      23,806   12,664 
Less current installments..........................       1,115    1,410 
                                                    
---------------------------- 
Long-term debt, excluding current installments          $22,691  $11,254 
                                                    
---------------------------- 

On June 27, 2003, the company entered into a $500 million, four-year revolving credit facility secured by inventory and certain accounts 
receivable. This facility will be used to support letters of credit and for short-term borrowing needs. 
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Loans primarily will bear interest at a spread over LIBOR or at prime. The facility is scheduled to mature in June 2007 and provides for 
an option to extend the facility by one year. The maximum credit extensions, including loans and outstanding letters of credit, permitted 
under the credit facility on any date are determined by calculating a borrowing base that is a percentage of the company's eligible 
inventory and accounts receivable as of the date of the credit extension. If the remaining borrowing availability under the facility falls 
below $100 million, cash dividends and stock repurchases are limited to an aggregate of $75 million in any fiscal year. In addition, if the 
remaining borrowing availability under the facility falls below $50 million for five consecutive business days, all proceeds from the sale 
of inventory must be applied on a daily basis to payment of amounts owed under the facility. The facility has representations and 
warranties, covenants and events of default that are customary for this type of credit facility. This credit facility replaced $210 million in 
committed seasonal lines, which were terminated on the same date. At February 29, 2004, the company had no short-term borrowings 
on this facility. At February 29, 2004, outstanding letters of credit related to this facility were $37.3 million, leaving $462.7 million 
available for borrowing. 
A $100 million outstanding term loan matured in July 2002 and was repaid using existing working capital. At the payment date, $22.2 
million had been allocated to Circuit City and is included in payments on long-term debt on the consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2003. The remaining balance had been allocated to CarMax and is included in cash used in 
discontinued operations on the consolidated statement of cash flows for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2003. 
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The Industrial Development Revenue Bonds are collateralized by land, buildings and equipment with an aggregate carrying value of 
$1.8 million at February 29, 2004, and $2.3 million at February 28, 2003. In connection with these bonds, the company must meet 
financial covenants relating to minimum tangible net worth, current ratio and minimum working capital. The company was in 
compliance with all such covenants at February 29, 2004, and February 28, 2003. 
Other debt represents the liability assumed from a variable interest entity with an aggregate principal amount totaling $12.6 million. The 
company leased a corporate office building under a synthetic operating lease arrangement with a variable interest entity. Effective 
September 1, 2003, the company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 46, "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities," that requires it to 
report the building and related debt on its consolidated balance sheet. Payments of interest are due every six months and are primarily 
at a rate of 8.2 percent. Repayment of principal is due on the maturity date of August 10, 2005. The building serves as collateral for this 
debt. 
The scheduled aggregate annual principal payments on long-term obligations for the next five fiscal years are as follows: 2005 -- $1.1 
million; 2006 -- $13.7 million; 2007 -- $1.0 million; 2008 -- $1.0 million; and 2009 -- $1.2 million. 
For fiscal 2003, short-term debt was funded through committed lines of credit and informal credit arrangements. Other information 
regarding short-term debt financing is as follows: 

                                           Years Ended February 29 or 28 
(Dollar amounts in thousands)                   2004        2003 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Average short-term financing outstanding......  $--     $ 1,466 
Maximum short-term financing outstanding......  $--     $60,100 
Weighted average interest rate on outstanding 
   short-term debt............................   --%        2.9% 

10. INCOME TAXES Total income taxes on (loss) earnings were allocated as follows: 

                                        Years Ended February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in thousands)                     2004        2003     2002 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Income tax (benefit) provision from 
   continuing operations............... $   (453)   $  (181) $ 39,088 
Income tax (benefit) provision from 
   discontinued operations.............  (49,760)    55,034    84,594 
                                        
---------------------------------------- 

Total income tax (benefit) provision... $(50,213)   $54,853  $123,682 
                                        
---------------------------------------- 

The company files a consolidated federal income tax return. The components of the income tax (benefit) provision on (loss) earnings 
from continuing operations were as follows: 

                                  Years Ended February 29 or 
28 
(Amounts in thousands)               2004     2003     2002 
-------------------------------------------------------------- 
Current: 
   Federal.........................$ 33,923  $ 16,549  $11,041 
   State...........................   1,242     1,934    8,489 
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                                   --------------------------- 
                                     35,165    18,483   19,530 
                                   --------------------------- 
Deferred: 
   Federal......................... (34,398)  (18,240)  18,971 
   State...........................  (1,220)     (424)     587 
                                   --------------------------- 
                                    (35,618)  (18,664)  19,558 
                                   --------------------------- 
Income tax (benefit) provision.....$   (453) $   (181) $39,088 
                                   --------------------------- 

The effective income tax rate applicable to results from continuing operations differed from the federal statutory income tax rate as 
follows: 

                                                  Years Ended February 29 or 28 
                                                      2004    2003    2002 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Federal statutory income tax rate...................  35.0%   35.0%    35.0% 
State and local income taxes, 
   net of federal benefit...........................  (1.1)  (17.9)     5.5 
Non-deductible meals and entertainment.............. (28.5)  (15.5)     2.2 
Non-deductible contributions........................  (3.3)   (0.8)     0.2 
Resolution of prior year taxes......................  10.3      --       -- 
Change in value of deferred tax asset (liability)...   2.8    (0.9)    (5.1) 
Federal and state tax credits.......................  21.3     3.4       -- 
Other...............................................    --      --     (1.1) 
                                                     
--------------------------- 

Effective income tax rate...........................  36.5%    3.3%    36.7% 
                                                     
--------------------------- 
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In accordance with SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes," the tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to a 
significant portion of the deferred tax assets and liabilities from continuing operations were as follows: 

                                         At February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in thousands)                      2004     2003 
--------------------------------------------------------------

Deferred tax assets: 
   Accrued liabilities....................$ 63,435 $ 41,266 
   Stock-based compensation expense.......  38,062   44,373 
   Accrued straight-line rent.............  34,489   34,285 
   Other..................................   2,031    2,694 
                                          
-------------------- 
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      Total gross deferred tax assets..... 138,017  122,618 
                                          
-------------------- 

Deferred tax liabilities: 
   Deferred revenue.......................  53,018   47,729 
   Depreciation and amortization..........  21,369   36,168 
   Securitized receivables................  22,994   25,529 
   Merchandise inventory..................  16,493   14,173 
   Prepaid expenses.......................  15,419   23,361 
   Other..................................      --    2,552 
                                          
-------------------- 

Total gross deferred tax liabilities 129,293 149,512 

Net deferred tax asset (liability)........$ 8,724 $(26,894) 

Based on the company's historical and current pretax earnings, management believes the amount of gross deferred tax assets will more 
likely than not be realized through future taxable income; therefore, no valuation allowance is necessary. 

11. LEASE COMMITMENTS The company conducts a substantial portion of its business in leased premises. The company's lease 
obligations are based upon contractual minimum rates. Rental expense and sublease income for all operating leases are summarized as 
follows: 

                                Years Ended February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in thousands)             2004     2003     2002 
--------------------------------------------------------------

Minimum rentals.................$330,026  $342,385 $322,891 
Rentals based on sales volume...      71       177      292 
Sublease income................. (22,149)  (18,819) (17,842) 
                                 
----------------------------- 
Net rental expense..............$307,948  $323,743 $305,341 
                                
------------------------------ 

Most of the company's leases include fixed-dollar rental commitments, with many containing rent escalations based on the lesser of a 
fixed amount or a multiple of the change in the Consumer Price Index. Several store leases include rental commitments based on a 
percentage of sales volumes in excess of defined amounts. Most leases provide that the company pay taxes, maintenance, insurance 
and operating expenses applicable to the premises. 
The initial term of most real property leases will expire within the next 20 years; however, most of the leases have options providing for 
additional lease terms of five to 25 years at terms similar to the initial terms. 
Future minimum fixed lease obligations, excluding taxes, insurance and other costs payable directly by the company, as of February 29, 
2004, were: 

                                                Operating   Operating 
(Amounts in thousands)                 Capital    Lease     Sublease 
Fiscal                                  Leases  Commitments  Income 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

2005................................   $ 1,798 $  351,064  $ (48,974) 
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2006................................     1,807    353,812    (46,805) 
2007................................     1,853    349,154    (42,725) 
2008................................     1,853    342,799    (40,678) 
2009................................     1,907    331,512    (37,481) 
After 2009..........................     7,246  2,866,567   (348,156) 
                                         
--------------------------------------- 
Total minimum lease payments..........  16,464 $4,594,908  $(564,819) 
                                               
--------------------------------- 
Less amounts representing interest....  (5,983) 
                                       ------- 

Present value of net minimum 
   capital lease payments [NOTE 9].... $10,481 
                                       ------- 

CarMax currently operates 23 of its sales locations pursuant to leases under which the company is the primary obligor. In conjunction 
with the separation, the company assigned each of these operating leases to CarMax. CarMax paid a special dividend of $28.4 million 
to Circuit City Stores, Inc. in recognition of the company's continuing contingent liability on the leases related to these CarMax 
locations. At February 29, 2004, the future minimum fixed lease obligations on these 23 leases totaled $451.9 million. Amounts 
presented within the above table reflect the company's lease commitments on these leases and the corresponding sublease income 
associated with these CarMax locations. 
In fiscal 2004, the company did not enter into any sale-leaseback transactions. The company entered into sale-leaseback transactions 
with unrelated third parties at an aggregate selling price of $25.1 million in fiscal 2003 and $48.5 million in fiscal 2002. Gains or losses on 
sale-leaseback transactions are deferred and amortized over the term of the leases. The company does not have continuing 
involvement under sale-leaseback transactions. 
The liability for lease termination costs was $105.3 million at February 29, 2004, and $74.3 million at February 28, 2003, and is included in 
other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. 

12. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES In the normal course of business, the company is involved in various legal proceedings. Based upon 
the company's evaluation of the information presently available, management believes that the ultimate resolution of any such 
proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the company's financial position, liquidity or results of operations. 
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13. CAPITAL STOCK (A) Shareholder Rights Plan: In conjunction with the company's Shareholder Rights Plan as amended and 
restated, preferred stock purchase rights were distributed as a dividend at the rate of one right for each share of common stock. The 
rights are exercisable only upon the attainment of, or the commencement of a tender offer to attain, a specified ownership interest in the 
company by a person or group. When exercisable, each right would entitle the holder to buy one eight-hundredth of a share of 
Cumulative Participating Preferred Stock, Series E, $20 par value, at an exercise price of $125 per share, subject to adjustment. A total of 
500,000 shares of such preferred stock, which have preferential dividend and liquidation rights, have been designated. No such shares 
are outstanding. In the event that an acquiring person or group acquires 15 percent or more of the company's common stock, except 
pursuant to a cash tender offer for all outstanding shares determined to be fair by the board of directors, or engages in certain 
transactions with the company after the rights become exercisable, each right would be converted into a right to purchase, for half the 
current market price at that time, shares of stock valued at two times the exercise price. In February 2004, the company's board of 
directors voted to terminate the company's shareholder rights plan effective May 1, 2005. (B) Preferred Stock: The company has 1.0 
million shares of undesignated preferred stock authorized of which no shares are outstanding. 
(C) Common Stock Repurchased: In January 2003, the company's board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $200 million of 
the company's common stock. As of February 29, 2004, the company had repurchased and retired approximately 9.3 million shares of 
common stock at a cost of $84.6 million, which includes commission fees. Based on the market value of the common stock at February 
29, 2004, the remaining $115.6 million authorized would allow the company to repurchase up to approximately 5 percent of the 203.9 
million shares then outstanding. The company did not repurchase any shares during fiscal 2003. 

14. STOCK-BASED INCENTIVE PLANS (A) Stock Incentive Plans: Under the company's stock incentive plans, nonqualified stock 
options and other equity-based awards may be granted to management, key employees and outside directors to purchase shares of 
common stock. The exercise price for nonqualified options is equal to, or greater than, the market value at the date of grant. Options 
generally are exercisable over a period of from one year to 10 years from the date of grant. The company has authorized 44.1 million 
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shares of common stock to be issued as either options, restricted stock or restricted stock units. At February 29, 2004, 11.6 million 
shares of common stock were available for issuance of options, restricted stock or restricted stock units. The number of shares 
available for granting at February 28, 2003, was 10.2 million shares of common stock. In the CarMax separation, the company adjusted 
the exercise price and the number of shares of each unexercised option to purchase Circuit City Group common stock, other than those 
options held by CarMax associates. In order to reflect the distribution of the company's interest in the CarMax Group as a dividend to 
holders of Circuit City Group common stock and to maintain both the intrinsic value of the option and the ratio of exercise price to 
market value, each option was adjusted by decreasing the exercise price and increasing the number of shares covered by the option. 
As a result of the separation, the number of shares covered by options to purchase the company's common stock increased by 6.0 
million shares. Pursuant to the company's stock incentive plans, the number of shares available for issuance under the company's 
stock plans were adjusted in the same manner, increasing the number of shares available by 3.4 million shares. Also in the separation, 
each unexercised option to purchase Circuit City Group common stock that was held by a CarMax associate was converted into an 
option to purchase CarMax, Inc. common stock, and the Circuit City option was cancelled. The exercise price and number of shares 
covered by the option were adjusted to maintain both the intrinsic value of the option and the ratio of exercise price to market value per 
share. As a result of the separation, options to purchase approximately 30,000 shares of company stock were cancelled. Also in the 
separation, each holder of Circuit City Group restricted stock received as a tax-free distribution 0.313879 of a share of CarMax, Inc. 
restricted stock for each outstanding share of Circuit City Group restricted stock. These restricted shares of CarMax, Inc. common 
stock are subject to the same terms and conditions as are applicable to the restricted shares of Circuit City common stock. (B) Stock 
Options: Beginning December 1, 2003, the company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, as amended by 
SFAS No. 148, which requires that the company value stock options issued based upon an option pricing model and recognize this 
value as an expense over the period in which the options vest. The company has elected to recognize stock-based compensation 
expense using the retroactive restatement method. Under this change in accounting method, the company has restated its 
consolidated financial statements to reflect stock-based compensation expense under the fair value based accounting method for all 
options granted in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1994. The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in 
estimating the fair value of traded options that do not have vesting restrictions and that are fully transferable. Option valuation models 
require the company to make highly subjective assumptions, including the expected future volatility of the stock price, expected 
dividend yield, risk-free interest rate and expected life of the option. Because the stock options granted by the company have 
characteristics that are significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective assumptions can 
materially affect the fair value estimate, the existing option valuation models, including the Black-Scholes model, do not necessarily 
provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of the company's employee stock options. 
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The fair value of each option granted is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following 
weighted average assumptions. 

                                   Years Ended February 29 or 28 
                                      2004     2003     2002 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Expected dividend yield..............   1.1%    0.3%     0.6% 
Expected stock volatility............  76%     70%      62% 
Risk-free interest rates.............   3%      5%       5% 
Expected lives (in years)............   5       5        5 

Using these assumptions in the Black-Scholes model, the weighted average fair value of options granted was $4 per share in fiscal 
2004, $13 per share in fiscal 2003 and $7 per share in fiscal 2002. 
Compensation expense from continuing operations arising from stock option grants as determined using the Black-Scholes fair value 
option model was $24.2 million in fiscal 2004, $30.8 million in fiscal 2003 and $25.2 million in fiscal 2002 and included in stock-based 
compensation expense on the consolidated statements of operations. Prior periods have been restated to reflect the compensation 
costs that would have been recognized had the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 been applied to all options. As a result, 
transition adjustments consisting of a $38.6 million decrease in retained earnings and a $55.4 million increase in capital excess of par 
value have been reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of stockholders' equity as of February 28, 2001, to reflect the 
effect on these accounts for periods from March 1, 1995, through February 28, 2001. 
The company's stock option activity is summarized in Table 1. Table 2 summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of 
February 29, 2004. 
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TABLE 1                                        2004                           2003                           2002 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
                                                Weighted Average               Weighted Average              Weighted Average 
(Shares in thousands)                   Shares   Exercise Price       Shares    Exercise Price       Shares   Exercise Price 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

Outstanding at beginning of year........17,622       $15.44           11,991       $23.60            8,720        $28.59 
Granted................................. 4,426         6.43            1,520        21.30            4,423         12.80 
Adjustments due to CarMax separation: 
   Granted..............................    --           --           17,865        15.42               --            -- 
   Cancelled............................    --           --          (11,911)       23.14               --            -- 
Exercised...............................(1,369)        9.15             (311)       13.06             (541)        15.45 
Cancelled...............................(2,850)       11.54           (1,532)       25.60             (611)        23.96 
                                        -------                       -------                       ------- 
Outstanding at end of year..............17,829       $14.31           17,622       $15.44           11,991        $23.60 
                                        -------                       -------                       ------- 
Options exercisable at end of year......10,351       $17.36            9,092       $16.97            4,346        $25.33 
                                        -------                       -------                       ------- 

TABLE 2                                       Options Outstanding                                   Options Exercisable 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
                                               Weighted Average 
(Shares in thousands)              Number          Remaining     Weighted Average                 Number     Weighted Average 
Range of Exercise Prices         Outstanding   Contractual Life   Exercise Price                Exercisable   Exercise Price 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

$ 5.61 to 7.83..................... 3,704             7.8             $ 6.42                         134          $ 7.26 
  8.30 to 9.68..................... 4,296             4.9               8.39                       2,394            8.36 
  9.83 to12.29..................... 1,409             1.9              10.67                       1,260           10.69 
 12.82 to19.15..................... 2,536             4.3              14.43                       1,571           14.38 
 19.29 to27.21..................... 5,884             3.9              24.41                       4,992           24.57 
                                   -------                                                        ------ 
Total..............................17,829             4.9             $14.31                      10,351          $17.36 
                                   -------                                                        ------ 

(C) Restricted Stock: Under the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, management and key employees are granted restricted stock awards and 
restricted stock unit awards of common stock. Restricted stock is granted in the name of the employee, who has all the rights of a 
shareholder, subject to certain restrictions and forfeitures. Restrictions on the stock awards generally expire three years to seven years 
from the date of grant. In fiscal 2004, the company issued performance-based shares, which are considered restricted stock awards. 
The vesting of these shares is based on the company achieving operating profit margin targets for fiscal 2006. If the company's 
performance exceeds the targets, the employee is eligible to receive additional shares up to 100 percent of the reserved shares. Total 
restricted stock awards of 2.5 million shares of common stock were granted to eligible employees in fiscal 2004. Total restricted stock 
awards of 
0.8 million shares were granted to eligible employees in fiscal 2003. The market value, at the grant date, of all restricted shares granted 
has been recorded as unearned compensation and is a component of stockholders' equity. Unearned compensation is expensed over 
the restriction periods and included in stock-based compensation expense on the consolidated statements of operations. Unearned 
compensation expense was $11.4 million in fiscal 2004, $20.0 million in fiscal 2003 and $15.6 million in fiscal 2002. As of February 29, 
2004, 2.8 million restricted shares of common stock were outstanding. In fiscal 2003, the company began issuing restricted stock units. 
Restricted stock units are granted in the name of the employee, who is entitled to receive dividends, but has no voting rights for any 
restricted stock units held. These restricted stock units are redeemed for company stock once the deferral restriction period has been 
satisfied. If these restricted stock units are forfeited or cancelled, the shares reserved for the 
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restricted stock units are available for granting. Total restricted stock units of 0.1 million were granted to eligible employees in fiscal 
2004. Total restricted stock units of 0.5 million were granted to eligible employees in fiscal 2003. The cost of grants, as determined by 
the market prices of the common stock at the grant dates, are recognized over the vesting period, generally three years, and are 
included in stock-based compensation expense on the consolidated statements of operations. Compensation expense related to 
restricted stock units was $2.0 million in fiscal 2004 and $0.8 million in fiscal 2003. 
(D) Employee Stock Purchase Plan: The company has an employee stock purchase plan for all employees meeting certain eligibility 
criteria. Under the plan, eligible employees may, subject to certain limitations, purchase shares of common stock. The company 
matches $0.15 for each $1.00 contributed by employees. Purchases are limited to 10 percent of an employee's eligible compensation, up 
to a maximum of $7,500 per year. The company has authorized 18.5 million shares of common stock for purchase under the plan. At 
February 29, 2004, a total of 
2.5 million shares remained available under the plan. During fiscal 2004, 1.0 million shares of common stock were issued to or purchased 
on the open market on behalf of employees (1.2 million shares in fiscal 2003 and 0.9 million shares in fiscal 2002). The average price per 
share of common stock purchased under the plan was $9.31 in fiscal 2004, $13.32 in fiscal 2003 and $17.59 in fiscal 2002. The company 
match totaled $1.1 million in fiscal 2004, $1.6 million in fiscal 2003 and $1.9 million in fiscal 2002 and is included in stock-based 
compensation expense on the consolidated statements of operations. (E) 401(k) Plan: The company sponsors a 401(k) plan for all 
employees meeting certain eligibility criteria. Under the plan, eligible employees can contribute up to 40 percent of their salaries up to 
the annual limit as designated by the Internal Revenue Service. The company matches $0.25 for each $1.00 contributed by employees 
up to 5 percent of the employee's salary. The company's expense for this plan was $2.7 million in fiscal 2004, $3.6 million in fiscal 2003 
and $3.5 million in fiscal 2002 and is included in selling, general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of 
operations. 
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15. PENSION PLANS The company has a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering the majority of full-time employees 
who are at least 21 years of age and have completed one year of service. The cost of the program is being funded currently. Plan 
benefits generally are based on years of service and average compensation. The company also has an unfunded nonqualified benefit 
restoration plan. The company uses the last day of its fiscal year as a measurement date for determining pension plan assets and 
obligations. The change in projected benefit obligation, change in plan assets and reconciliation of funded status for the plans were as 
follows: 

                                                Years Ended February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in thousands)                              2004          2003 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Change in projected benefit obligation: 
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year.. $203,631  $185,524 
Service cost.......................................   15,873    14,895 
Interest cost......................................   13,263    13,384 
Plan amendments....................................       --       260 
Actuarial loss or (gain) (a).......................   36,538      (377) 
Benefits paid......................................   (6,091)   (5,176) 
Curtailments.......................................       --    (4,879) 
Participant transfers to CarMax....... ............   (1,308)       -- 
                                                    
---------------------------- 
Projected benefit obligation at end of year........ $261,906  $203,631 
                                                    
---------------------------- 

Change in plan assets: 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year..... $148,317  $125,031 
Actual return on plan assets.......................   47,417   (24,980) 
Employer contributions.............................    5,294    52,965 
Adjustment for CarMax separation (b)...............     (606)      477 
Benefits paid......................................   (6,091)   (5,176) 
                                                    
---------------------------- 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year........... $194,331  $148,317 
                                                    
---------------------------- 

Reconciliation of funded status: 
Funded status...................................... $(67,575) $(55,314) 
Unrecognized actuarial loss........................   77,397    73,124 
Unrecognized prior service benefit.................    2,735     3,209 
Unrecognized loss adjustment.......................       --     4,440 
                                                    
---------------------------- 

Net prepaid asset recognized (c)................... $ 12,557  $ 25,459 
                                                    
---------------------------- 

(a) Actuarial loss for fiscal 2004 results primarily from the change in the discount rate from 6.60 percent to 6.00 percent. 

(b) Adjustment reflects separation of CarMax from the Circuit City pension plan. 

(c) At February 29, 2004, amount includes an asset for the defined benefit pension plan of $23.7 million, which is included in other 
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assets, and a liability for the benefit restoration plan of $11.1 million, which is included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities 
on the consolidated balance sheet. At February 28, 2003, amount includes an asset for the defined benefit pension plan of $35.1 million, 
which is included in other assets, and a liability for the benefit restoration plan of $9.7 million, which is included in accrued expenses 
and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. 

The components of net pension expense for the plans were as follows: 

                                     Years Ended February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in thousands)                  2004     2003     2002 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Service cost......................... $ 15,873 $ 14,895 $ 14,994 
Interest cost........................   13,263   13,384   11,977 
Expected return on plan assets.......  (14,518) (13,389) (12,527) 
Amortization of prior service cost...      474      335      328 
Amortization of transitional asset...       --       --      (30) 
Recognized actuarial loss (gain).....    3,272      501       (1) 
                                      
------------------------------------------ 

Net pension expense.................. $ 18,364 $ 15,726 $ 14,741 
                                      
------------------------------------------ 
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The weighted average assumptions used in computing the benefit obligations for the plans were as follows: 

                                           Years Ended February 29 or 28 
                                              2004    2003    2002 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Weighted average discount rate..............  6.00%   6.60%  7.25% 
Rate of increase in compensation levels.....  5.00%   5.00%  6.00% 

The weighted average assumptions used in computing net pension expense for the plans were as follows: 

                                            Years Ended February 29 or 28 
                                              2004    2003    2002 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Weighted average discount rate..............   6.60%   7.25%  7.50% 
Rate of increase in compensation levels.....   5.00%   6.00%  6.00% 
Expected rate of return on plan assets......   8.25%   9.00%  9.00% 

Benefit obligations are determined using assumptions at the end of each fiscal year and are not impacted by the expected rate of return 
on plan assets. Net pension expense is determined using assumptions at the beginning of each fiscal year. 
The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plan was $189.1 million at February 29, 2004, and $147.5 million at 
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February 28, 2003. 
The plan's overall investment objective is to provide a long-term return that, along with company contributions, is expected to meet 
future benefit payment requirements. The company engages a third party to advise the company on both asset allocations and 
individual fund managers. 
The percentage composition of assets held by the pension plan were as follows: 

                                           At February 29 or 
28 
                                             2004       2003 
---------------------------------------------------------------

Domestic equity.............................. 73%       52% 
International equity......................... 18        11 
Cash equivalents.............................  6        34 
Other........................................  3         3 
                                             
------------------ 
Total........................................100%      100% 
                                             ----------------- 

Plan assets did not include any shares of the company's common stock at February 29, 2004. Plan assets included 1.3 million shares of 
the company's common stock at February 28, 2003. 
At February 29, 2004, the plan's target asset allocation was 75 percent domestic equity, 20 percent international equity and 5 percent 
other. The plan's target allocation is determined taking into consideration the amounts and timing of projected liabilities, the company's 
funding policies and expected returns on various asset classes. To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets, the 
company considered the historical returns and the future expectations for returns for each asset class, as well as the target asset 
allocations. 
Company contributions to the defined benefit pension plan were $5.0 million in fiscal 2004, $52.9 million in fiscal 2003 and $7.6 million in 
fiscal 2002. No contributions are required during fiscal 2005 under applicable law for this pension plan. The company intends to make 
any contributions necessary to meet ERISA minimum funding standards and will make additional contributions as needed to ensure 
that the fair value of plan assets at February 28, 2005, exceeds the accumulated benefit obligation. 
The company's unfunded nonqualified benefit restoration plan restores retirement benefits for senior executives who are affected by 
Internal Revenue Code limitations on benefits provided under the company's pension plan. The accumulated benefit obligation under 
this plan was $11.5 million at February 29, 2004, and $10.1 million at February 28, 2003. Company contributions to the benefit restoration 
plan were $294,000 in fiscal 2004, $73,000 in fiscal 2003 and $5,000 in fiscal 2002. A contribution of $463,000, which is equal to the 
expected benefit payments, is expected to be made to this plan during fiscal 2005. 

16. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS Effective in the first quarter of fiscal 2004, the company adopted SFAS No. 143, 
"Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations," which requires entities to record the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement 
obligation in the period incurred and recognize accretion expense in subsequent periods. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 did not have a 
material impact on the company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Effective in the third quarter of fiscal 2004, the 
company adopted Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-21, "Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables," 
which addresses when and how an arrangement involving multiple deliverables should be divided into separate units of accounting, as 
well as how consideration under the arrangement should be measured and allocated to the separate units of accounting in the 
arrangement. The adoption of EITF No. 00-21 did not have a material impact on the company's financial position, results of operations 
or cash flows. Effective September 1, 2003, the company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 46, "Consolidation of Variable Interest 
Entities," which addresses how to identify variable interest entities and provides guidance as to how a company may assess its 
interests in a variable interest entity for purposes of deciding whether consolidation of that entity is required. With the adoption of 
FIN No. 46, the company recorded a building and long-term debt of $12.6 million on the consolidated balance sheet. In December 2003, 
the FASB amended FIN No. 46. The company does not expect the adoption of the amended Interpretation to have an impact on its 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Effective in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the company adopted SFAS No. 132 
(revised 2003), "Employers' Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits," which 
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requires additional disclosures about the assets, obligations, cash flows and net periodic benefit cost of defined benefit pension plans 
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and other defined benefit postretirement plans. This Statement does not change the measurement or recognition of those plans 
required by SFAS No. 87, "Employers' Accounting for Pensions;" SFAS No. 88, "Employers' Accounting for Settlements and 
Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits;" and SFAS No. 106, "Employers' Accounting for 
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions." The company has included the disclosures required by SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003) in 
Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements. 
Effective in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the company adopted EITF No. 03-10, "Application of Issue No. 02-16 by Resellers to 
Sales Incentives Offered to Consumers by Manufacturers," which addresses whether consideration received by a reseller from a 
vendor that represents reimbursement by the vendor for honoring the vendor's sales incentives offered directly to consumers should 
be recorded as a reduction of the cost of the reseller's purchases from the vendor, and therefore, characterized as a reduction of cost of 
sales under the guidance in EITF No. 02-16. As the company's policies already were consistent with the provisions of EITF No. 03-10, 
the adoption of this standard did not have an impact on the company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 

17. SEGMENT INFORMATION Due to changes in the company's management reporting structure that occurred during the first 
quarter of fiscal 2004, the company identified its retail operation and its finance operation as reportable segments in accordance with 
the provisions of SFAS No. 131, "Segment Reporting." These segments are identified and managed by the company based on the 
company's management reporting structure and on the nature of the products and services offered by each segment. The retail 
operation segment is primarily engaged in the business of selling brand-name consumer electronics, personal computers and 
entertainment software. The finance operation issues and services private-label credit cards, including a co-branded Visa credit card. 
The finance operation is conducted through the company's wholly owned subsidiary First North American National Bank, which is a 
limited-purpose credit card bank. FNANB sells its credit card receivables to a consolidated special purpose subsidiary, which, in turn, 
transfers these receivables to a securitization master trust that is an off-balance-sheet qualifying special purpose entity. On January 20, 
2004, the company announced plans to sell its private-label finance operation to Bank One Corporation. The sale is expected to close in 
the second calendar quarter of 2004. See Note 4 and Note 6 for additional discussion of finance income and the finance operation. The 
company's finance operation segment is evaluated by management on a pretax basis. The company includes substantially all 
depreciation and amortization and interest expense within the retail operation segment. The accounting policies of the segments are the 
same as those set forth in Note 2. Revenue by reportable segment and the reconciliation to the consolidated statements of operations 
were as follows: 

                                            Years Ended February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in millions)                          2004      2003    2002 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Retail operation............................ $9,745.4 $ 9,953.5 $9,518.2 
Finance operation...........................    120.9     107.3    118.0 
                                             
----------------------------------- 
Total revenue...............................  9,866.3  10,060.8  9,636.2 
Less: finance operation revenue not included 
   in net sales and operating revenues*.....    120.9     107.3    118.0 
                                             
----------------------------------- 
Net sales and operating revenues............ $9,745.4 $ 9,953.5 $9,518.2 
                                             
----------------------------------- 

*Finance operation revenue is included in finance income, which is reported separately from net sales and operating revenues on the 
statements of operations. 

(Loss) earnings from continuing operations before income taxes by reportable segment and the reconciliation to the consolidated 
statements of operations were as follows: 

                                   Years Ended February 29 or 
28 
(Amounts in millions)                 2004     2003    2002 
----------------------------------------------------------------
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Retail operation*....................  $(33.9) $(32.8)$ 66.4 
Finance operation....................    32.7    27.3   40.2 
                                       
------------------------- 

(Loss) earnings from continuing operations before income taxes............... $ (1.2) $ (5.5)$106.6 

*All corporate expenses are included in the retail operation. 

Total assets by reportable segment and the reconciliation to the consolidated balance sheets were as follows: 

                                          At February 29 or 28 
(Amounts in millions)                        2004     2003 
----------------------------------------------------------------

Retail operation...........................$3,031.7 $3,022.4 
Finance operation..........................   601.3    423.1 
Discontinued operations....................      --    395.8 
                                           
--------------------- 

Total assets...............................$3,633.0 $3,841.3 
                                           
--------------------- 

18. SUBSEQUENT EVENT On April 13, 2004, the company commenced a tender offer to acquire all outstanding common shares of 
InterTAN, Inc., a leading consumer electronics retailer of both private-label and internationally branded products. The tender offer will 
be conditioned upon at least a majority of the fully diluted shares being tendered. If successful, the tender offer will be followed by a 
merger in which the holders of the remaining outstanding shares of InterTAN common stock will receive $14 per share in cash. The 
transaction is contingent upon customary closing conditions, including regulatory and other standard approvals. The company 
expects the cost of this acquisition, including estimated transaction costs, will be approximately $300 million. Upon completion of the 
tender offer, which is expected in the second calendar quarter of 2004, InterTAN will become a subsidiary of the company. 
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19. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) 

(Amounts in thousands       First Quarter        Second Quarter       Third Quarter         Fourth Quarter             Year 
except per share data)     2004      2003        2004      2003       2004      2003        2004       2003       2004       2003 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

Net sales and 
operating revenues.... $1,933,320 $2,118,243 $2,155,700 $2,221,204 $2,407,424 $2,421,687 $3,249,001 $3,192,396 $9,745,445 $9,953,530 
                       ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Gross profit.......... $  448,310 $  513,350 $  487,375 $  525,888 $  534,824 $  548,114 $  756,816 $  762,973 $2,227,325 $2,350,325 
                       ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Net (loss) earnings from: 
  Continuing operations$  (28,089)$  (13,244)$  (39,311)$  (25,500)$  (28,055)$  (33,011)$   94,668 $   66,446 $     (787)$  (5,309) 
  Discontinued operations attributed to: 
   Circuit City 
      common stock....    (18,607)    25,103    (90,314)    28,864     25,546      6,809     (5,107)     4,488    (88,482)    65,264 
   CarMax Group 
      common stock....         --     10,116         --     11,038         --      1,154         --         --         --     22,308 
                       ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Net (loss) earnings... $  (46,696)$   21,975 $ (129,625)$   14,402     (2,509)$  (25,048)$   89,561 $   70,934 $  (89,269)$   82,263 
                       ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Net (loss) earnings per share: 
Basic: 
  Continuing operations$    (0.14)$    (0.06)$    (0.19)$    (0.12)$    (0.14)$    (0.16)$     0.46 $     0.32 $       --$   (0.03) 
  Discontinued operations attributed to: 
   Circuit City 
      common stock....      (0.09)      0.12      (0.44)      0.14       0.12       0.03      (0.02)      0.02      (0.43)     0.31 
                       ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

                       $    (0.23)$     0.06 $    (0.63)$     0.02 $    (0.01)$    (0.13)$     0.44 $     0.34 $    (0.43)$     0.29 
                       ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   CarMax Group 
       common stock... $       -- $     0.27 $       -- $     0.30 $       -- $     0.03 $       -- $       -- $       --$      0.60 
                       ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Diluted: 
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  Continuing operations$    (0.14)$    (0.06)$    (0.19)$    (0.12)$    (0.14)$    (0.16)$     0.46 $     0.32 $       --$    (0.03) 
  Discontinued operations attributed to: 
   Circuit City 
     common stock....       (0.09)      0.12      (0.44)      0.14 $     0.12       0.03      (0.02)      0.02      (0.43)      0.31 
                       ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

                       $    (0.23)$     0.06 $    (0.63)$     0.02 $    (0.01)$    (0.13)$     0.43 $     0.34 $    (0.43)$     0.29 
                       ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   CarMax Group 
      common stock.... $       -- $      0.26$       -- $     0.29 $       -- $     0.03 $       -- $       -- $       -- $     0.58 
                       ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Net earnings from continuing operations for the fiscal 2004 fourth quarter include the following items: after-tax costs of $24.4 million 
related to lease terminations, asset write-offs and severance for 19 stores closed during February; after-tax costs of $3.9 million related 
to the planned sale of the private-label finance operation; and an after-tax benefit of $3.7 million resulting from a reduction in liabilities 
related to the company's customer gift card program. 

Year-to-date earnings per share are calculated by dividing year-to-date earnings by the weighted average shares outstanding for the 
full year. Therefore, year-to-date earnings per share do not equal the sum of the quarterly earnings per share. 

Independent Auditors' Report 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Circuit City Stores, Inc.: 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Circuit City Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries as of February 29, 2004 
and February 28, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the fiscal 
years in the three-year period ended February 29, 2004. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the company's 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Circuit City Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries as of February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003, and the results of their operations and their 
cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the three-year period ended February 29, 2004, in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 
The Company's consolidated financial statements for fiscal years 2003 and 2002 were previously prepared using Accounting Principles 
Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," to record stock-based compensation. As more fully described in 
Notes 2 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 
No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," to record stock-based compensation in fiscal 2004. Consequently, the 
Company's consolidated financial statements for fiscal years 2003 and 2002 have been restated in accordance with the retroactive 
restatement method under SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation -- Transition and Disclosure," an amendment of 
SFAS No. 123. 

/s/KPMG LLP 
Richmond, 
Virginia 
March 30, 2004 
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Exhibit 21 

CIRCUIT CITY STORES, INC. 
Subsidiaries of the Company 

                                                       Jurisdiction of 
                                                       Incorporation 
          Subsidiary                                   or Organization 
          ----------                                   --------------- 

CC Distribution Company of Virginia, Inc.              Virginia 

Circuit City Properties, Inc.                          Virginia 

Circuit City Stores West Coast, Inc.                   California 

First North American National Bank                     National Bank - 
Georgia 

Northern National Insurance Ltd.                       Bermuda 

Patapsco Designs, Inc.                                 Maryland 

Tyler International Funding, Inc.                      Delaware 
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Exhibit 23 

Consent of Independent Auditors 

The Board of Directors 
Circuit City Stores, Inc.: 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 33-56697, 33-36650, 33-64757, 333-02971, 333-20303, 
333-25451, 333-27933, 333-34539, 333-86439, 333-52935, 333-43052, 333-56662, 333-109071 and 333-105736) on Form S-8 of Circuit City 
Stores, Inc. of our reports dated March 30, 2004, relating to the consolidated balance sheets of Circuit City Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries 
(the Company) as of February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' 
equity and cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the three-year period ended February 29, 2004, and the related financial statement 
schedule, which reports are included, or incorporated by reference from the annual report to shareholders, in the February 29, 2004 
annual report on Form 10-K of Circuit City Stores, Inc. 

Our report on the Company's consolidated financial statements refers to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
(SFAS) No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, in fiscal year 2004 which resulted in the restatement of the Company's 
consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years 2003 and 2002 in accordance with the retroactive restatement method under SFAS 
No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of SFAS No. 123. 

/s/KPMG 
Richmond, 
Virginia 
May 6, 2004 
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Exhibit 24 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 

I hereby appoint W. Stephen Cannon or W. Alan McCollough my true and lawful attorney-in-fact to sign on my behalf, as an 
individual and in the capacity stated below, the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Circuit City Stores, Inc. for its fiscal year ended 
February 29, 2004 and any amendment which such attorney-in-fact may deem appropriate or necessary. 

Signature:    /s/Ronald M. 
Brill 
Print Name:  Ronald M. Brill 
Title:         Director 

Exhibit 24 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 

I hereby appoint W. Stephen Cannon or W. Alan McCollough my true and lawful attorney-in-fact to sign on my behalf, as an 
individual and in the capacity stated below, the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Circuit City Stores, Inc. for its fiscal year ended 
February 29, 2004 and any amendment which such attorney-in-fact may deem appropriate or necessary. 

Signature:  /s/Carolyn H. 
Byrd 
Print Name:  Carolyn H. Byrd 
Title:       Director 
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POWER OF ATTORNEY 

I hereby appoint W. Stephen Cannon or W. Alan McCollough my true and lawful attorney-in-fact to sign on my behalf, as an 
individual and in the capacity stated below, the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Circuit City Stores, Inc. for its fiscal year ended 
February 29, 2004 and any amendment which such attorney-in-fact may deem appropriate or necessary. 

Signature:  /s/Alan 
Kane 
Print Name:  Alan Kane 
Title:       Director 
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POWER OF ATTORNEY 

I hereby appoint W. Stephen Cannon or W. Alan McCollough my true and lawful attorney-in-fact to sign on my behalf, as an 
individual and in the capacity stated below, the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Circuit City Stores, Inc. for its fiscal year ended 
February 29, 2004 and any amendment which such attorney-in-fact may deem appropriate or necessary. 

Signature:  /s/Richard N. 
Cooper 
Print Name:  Richard N. Cooper 
Title:       Director 
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POWER OF ATTORNEY 

I hereby appoint W. Stephen Cannon or W. Alan McCollough my true and lawful attorney-in-fact to sign on my behalf, as an 
individual and in the capacity stated below, the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Circuit City Stores, Inc. for its fiscal year ended 
February 29, 2004 and any amendment which such attorney-in-fact may deem appropriate or necessary. 

Signature:  /s/Barbara S. 
Feigin 
Print Name:  Barbara S. Feigin 
Title:       Director 
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POWER OF ATTORNEY 

I hereby appoint W. Stephen Cannon or W. Alan McCollough my true and lawful attorney-in-fact to sign on my behalf, as an 
individual and in the capacity stated below, the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Circuit City Stores, Inc. for its fiscal year ended 
February 29, 2004 and any amendment which such attorney-in-fact may deem appropriate or necessary. 

Signature:  /s/James F. 
Hardymon 
Print Name:  James F. Hardymon 
Title:       Director 
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I hereby appoint W. Stephen Cannon or W. Alan McCollough my true and lawful attorney-in-fact to sign on my behalf, as an 
individual and in the capacity stated below, the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Circuit City Stores, Inc. for its fiscal year ended 
February 29, 2004 and any amendment which such attorney-in-fact may deem appropriate or necessary. 

Signature:  /s/Allen B. 
King 
Print Name:  Allen B. King 
Title:       Director 

Exhibit 24 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 

I hereby appoint W. Stephen Cannon my true and lawful attorney-in-fact to sign on my behalf, as an individual and in the capacity 
stated below, the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Circuit City Stores, Inc. for its fiscal year ended February 29, 2004 and any 
amendment which such attorney-in-fact may deem appropriate or necessary. 

Signature:  /s/W. Alan McCollough 
Print Name:  W. Alan McCollough 
Title:       Chairman, President 
and 
             Chief Executive 
Officer 

Exhibit 24 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 

I hereby appoint W. Stephen Cannon or W. Alan McCollough my true and lawful attorney-in-fact to sign on my behalf, as an 
individual and in the capacity stated below, the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Circuit City Stores, Inc. for its fiscal year ended 
February 29, 2004 and any amendment which such attorney-in-fact may deem appropriate or necessary. 

Signature:  /s/E. V. 
Goings 
Print Name:  E. V. Goings 
Title:       Director 
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I hereby appoint W. Stephen Cannon or W. Alan McCollough my true and lawful attorney-in-fact to sign on my behalf, as an 
individual and in the capacity stated below, the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Circuit City Stores, Inc. for its fiscal year ended 
February 29, 2004 and any amendment which such attorney-in-fact may deem appropriate or necessary. 

Signature:  /s/Mikael 
Salovaara 
Print Name:  Mikael Salovaara 
Title:       Director 

Exhibit 24 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 

I hereby appoint W. Stephen Cannon or W. Alan McCollough my true and lawful attorney-in-fact to sign on my behalf, as an 
individual and in the capacity stated below, the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Circuit City Stores, Inc. for its fiscal year ended 
February 29, 2004 and any amendment which such attorney-in-fact may deem appropriate or necessary. 

Signature:  /s/Carolyn Y. 
Woo 
Print Name:  Carolyn Y. Woo 
Title:       Director 
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Exhibit 31(i) 

Certification 

I, W. Alan McCollough, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Circuit City Stores, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this annual report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared; 

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this annual 
report based on such evaluation; and 

c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of this annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions): 

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report information; and 

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: May 10, 2004 

/s/W. Alan McCollough 
--------------------- 
W. Alan McCollough 
Chairman, President 
and 
Chief Executive 
Officer 

Exhibit 31(ii) 

Certification 
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I, Michael E. Foss, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Circuit City Stores, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this annual report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared; 

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this annual 
report based on such evaluation; and 

c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of this annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions): 

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report information; and 

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: May 10, 2004 

/s/Michael E. Foss 
------------------- 
Michael E. Foss 
Senior Vice President 
and 
Chief Financial Officer 
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Exhibit 32(i) 

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Circuit City Stores, Inc. (the "Company") Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended February 29, 2004, as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, W. Alan McCollough, Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge: 

(1). The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 

(2). The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
the Company. 

Date:    May 10, 2004                    By:      /s/W. Alan McCollough 
                                                 
-------------------------- 
                                                 W. Alan McCollough 
                                                 Chairman, President and 
                                                 Chief Executive Officer 

Exhibit 32(ii) 

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Circuit City Stores, Inc. (the "Company") Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended February 29, 2004, as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Michael E. Foss, Senior Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge: 

(1). The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 

(2). The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
the Company. 

Date:    May 10, 2004                         By:      /s/Michael E. Foss 
                                                      
-------------------------- 
                                                      Michael E. Foss 
                                                      Senior Vice President and 
                                                      Chief Financial Officer 
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